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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present. their Annual Report and the audited financial statements .of Bank of America’ Europe
Designated Activity Company ("BofA Europe”, "the Company") for the year’ ended 31 December 2022.

The. Company is a registered bank in the Republic of ireland whlch is authorised and regulated by the Central Bank
* of Ireland ("CBI") and supervised under the Single Supervisory Mechanism (“SSM") by the European Central Bank
(*ECB"). The Comipany is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank of America, National Association (‘BANA") and the
ultimate parent of the Company is Bank of America Corporation (NYSE: BAC) ("BAC"). Hereatter, “affiliate” means
BAC or any of its subSIdlanes BAC together with its consolidated subsidiaries, form the "BAC Group (or
"Enterprise”).

The Company is a designated -activity company and is incorporated and .domiciled in the Repubhc of Ireland, with
branches operating in the United Kingdom (*UK"), Belgium; France, Germany, Greeca, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain,
Swedenand Swnzerland in.addition to its lrish Head Office. N

/

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMEN_T

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financial statements in accordarnce with irish
law and regulatlons

Irish company law requlres the directors fo prepare the financial statements for each financial year. Under the law,
the directors have prepared the. financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act. 2014 and Financial
Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disc!o_sure Framework®,

Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless satisfied that they give a true
and fair view.of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company :as at the financial end date, the profit or
- loss for that financial year and otherwise: oomply with the Compames Act 2014.

In prepa_nng these financial statements, the directors are required to.

»  select suitable accounting policies;and then apply them consistently;

*  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

* sfate whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting
standards, identify those standards, and note the effect and. the reasons for any material departure from those
-standards; and '

*  prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it Is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors. are responsnble for ensuring that the Company keeps-adequate accounting records which -correctly
explain and record the transactions of the Company. enable at any time the.assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit or loss of the Company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable thern to ensure that the financial
statements and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be
audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the -assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other Irregulantles

Legislatlon in the Republic of Ireland govemmg the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
_from legislation in other jurisdictions. -

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company’ prowdes a range of financial services and forms part of BAC Groups Global Banking and Global
Markets operations in the Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") region. Clients principally include large
multinational groups, financial institutions, governments and goverriment entities. The Company has the -ability to
conduct business with international clients and to: trade throughout the European Economic Area (“EEA”) and other
key rarkets within the EMEA region. ,

As well as provndmg financial services, during the year the Company also provided Support services 'io other
companies in the BAC Group in the. EMEA region. Seivices provided include information techriclogy ("IT") and
operations support, administration and human resources ("HR") support and real estate services.

~
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

As dt 31 December 2022, the Company was rated by Fitch (AA/F1+) and Standard & Poor's (A+/A-1).
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The directors expect the. principal. activities of the Company. to continue. The Company intends to commence.
business activities'through a branch in Luxembourg in the coming year. . .

MARKET ENVIRONMENT
Geopolitical: .

Global market conditions in 2022 were markedly different from the prior year - volatility dominated (both in markets
and in politics) amidst growing concern over geopolitics, record inflation, and rising rates. In EMEA, ltaly held a snap
general election as a result of a parliamentary impasse. Volatility was particularly pronounced in the UK where three
different. Prime Ministers held office, and a mini budget announcement in September led to turmoil in the UK
pension sector as gilt yields rose to the highest level sincé 2022. The political events caused: significant market

volatility and forced intervention by the Bank of England to prevent broader financial instability:

Geopolitical risks were heightened in 2022, driven by conflict betieén Russia and Ukraine, tensions between China
and Horig Kong/Taiwan, and tenslons between the United States of America ("US") and.China.

Meanwhile, consumer prices continued to accelerate driven by elevated food and energy prices, with the UK
Consumer Price Index at a 40 year high and Euro Area inflation hitting a double-digit record. The majority of central
banks have responded by tightening monetary conditions, raising rates to fight inflation and increasing the cost of
borrowing wh‘ich‘wa‘s:further elevatéd due to wider credit spreads. : '

Activity in primary markets is down across the board. Following a record 2021, for the BAC Group, EMEA Equity
Capital Markets (*ECM") volumes ‘are down 69%, Mergers & Acquisitions (‘M&A") activity is down 36%, EMEA Debt
Capital Markets activity has' also slowed, with investment grade issuance. down 12% year on year :and leveraged
finance- activity down 45% year on year. Looking ahead, economists are -forecasting slower economic growth
beyond.2022, with the possibility of recession. : :

Russia/Ukraine Conflict

Due to the on-going conflict between Russia and Ukraine there was significant volatility in financial and commodities
markets and muiltiple jurisdictions implemented various economic sanctions,

Russia responded to Western/Global sanctions by restricting oil flows to Europe. This, coupled with oil supply’cuts
by Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), has increasingly threatened Europe’s energy supply with
many:European governments and firms planning for the possibility of gas shortages in the winter period.

The Company’s direct exposure to Russia remains immaterial.

Cybersecurity

The Company has adopted the comprehensive Global Information Security ("GIS") Program and Information
Security Enterprise Policy that establishes a risk-based security framework designed to protect the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information assets and resources. The program is designed to provide the necessary
requirements to enable the BAC Group to prepare, prevent, detect, respond, and recover from increasing changes
in the threat landscape. The Information Security policy, baselines, and standards are applicable across the
Enterprise and third-party- suppliers and. is supported by a sustained investment program acrass human and
technical resources. . ’

Cybersecurity risk and exposure remain heightened because of, among other things, the evolving nature. and

pervasiveness of cyber threats, the BAC Group's prominent size and scale, high profile brand, geographic footprint

and intemational presence and role in the financial services industry and the.broader economy. The financial

services: industry is particularly at risk because of the use of, and reliance on, digital banking and other digital

services, including mobile banking products, such as mobile payments, and other web-end cloud-based products
(
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- DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

and applications and the development-of additional remote connectivity solutions, which increase'cybersecurity risks

* . and expdsure. Acceptance and use-of such digital banking products and:services have substantially increased since

the onset of the pandemic. Additionally, the proliferation: of third-party financial data aggregators and emerging
technologies, including the use of automation, artificial intelligence ("Al") and robotics, increases cybersecurity risks
-and exposure. . ‘ '

A cyberattack, information or security breach of the BAC Group or of a third party could adversely affect the ability to
conduct business; manage exposure to risk, result in the disclosure and/or.misuse of information and/or fraudulent
activity and increase its operational-and security systems and critical infrastructure costs.

In 2022, the Company did- not experience any losses or other consequences relating to cyberattacks or other
information or security breaches, whether directed at'the Company or third parties.

Transition from London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") and other benchmark rates

After 31 December 2021, ICE-Benchmark Administration. ("IBA") ceased publishing British Pound Sterling ("GBP"),
Euro, Swiss Franc, and Japanese Yen ("JPY") LIBOR seftings and one week and two-month U.S. dollar ("USD")
LIBOR settings. However, certain LIBOR settings that became no ionger representative are being published using a
modified calcufation (i.e., on a “synthetic” basis). The remaining USD LIBOR ‘settings (i.e., overnight, one-month,
three-month, six-month and twelve-month) will cease or become non-representative immediately after 30 June
2023. '

The Company continues to be part of the BAC-wide transition program with. respeéct to LIBOR and other impacted
benchmark rates. BAC also continues to monitor a variety of market scenarios as part of its transition efforts,
including risks associated with insufficient preparation by individual market participants or the overall market
ecosystem, ability of market participanis to transition away from impacted benchmarks, and access and demand by
clients and market participants to liquidity in certain products, in¢luding LIBOR products.

The Company has remediated a significant majority of its notional contraciual exposure to LIBOR products
referencing USD LIBOR settings that will cease or become non-representative immediately after 30 June, 2023 (i.e.,
updated to include fallback provisions to- alternative reference rates ("ARRs"), such as the Secured Ovemight
Financing Rate for USD LIBOR, that are based on market-driven protocols, regulatory guidance, and industry
recommended fallback provisions and related mechanisims). The remaining.non-remediated USD LIBOR -exposures, .
a miajority of which is made up of guarantees and commitments, represents. a small minority. of outstanding USD
LIBOR notional contractual exposures of the Company. and_ will require active dialogue with clients to modify the
contracts. For any residual exposures after 30 June 2023 that continue to. have no fallback provisions, the Company
is assessing and planning to leverage relevant contractual and statutory. solutions, including the Adjustable Interest
Rate (LIBOR) Act, enacted in March 2022 at the federal level in the U.S.,:and other relevant legislation, to transition
such exposure to ARRs. ' n

For further information on the-status of the Company’s IBOR transition, see note 43.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE |

The Company is subject to the CBI Corporate Governance Requirements for Credit Institutions 201 S5 arid additional
requirements- outlined for high impact designated institutions. The. Company is also subject to the corporate
governance requirement for institutions deemed “significant” for the purposes of the European Capital Requirements
Directive IV ("CRD V") as amended by Capital Requirements Directive V ("CRD V") and European Banking
Authority Guidelines on internal govemance under Directive 2013/36/EU. The Company's Board (“the Board")
formally reviews the corporate governance structure of the Company, including its branches, on an annual basis to
ensure that it meets regulatory and legal requirements and industry best practice.

PRINCIPAL RISKS-AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company's risk management objectives and policies, as well as exposures in relation to the seven key risk
types (market, credit, operational, liquidity; reputational, strategic and compliance risks) are described in the notes to.
the financial statements.

For details of the Company's risk- management policies, see note 42.
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DIRECTORS® REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

RISK GOVERNANCE

The Board ensures. suitable risk management and controls through the Board Risk- Committee (“BRC”), Audit
Committee, Nomiinations Committee, Remuneration Committee and Mahagement Risk Committee (‘MRC").

The BRC assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to senior management’s respon5|bilmes
regarding the identification of, management of,.and planning for key risks of the Company.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the Company's intemal
financial controls; the preparation and integrity of the. Company's -financial statements; the Company's relationship
with its Independent Auditors, including pre-approval of any non-audit services; and the performance and
independence of the Company's Internal Audit and Compliance functions.

The Nommatlons Committee assists the Board in fulfiliing its oversight responsibilities in relation to the governance
of the Board of Directors of the Comipany relating to nominations to the Board and reviewing -and reporting to the:
Board on senior management talent planning and succession planning

The Remuneration Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to compllance with
remuneration policies and related regulatory requirements.

"The MRC reports to the: BRC:and is responsible for providing management oversight and approval of (or reviewing
and recommending to tie BRC) market risk, credit risk, (in conjunction with the Credit Risk Committee), operational
risk (in conjunction with the Operational Risk Committee), balance sheet, capital ‘and liquidity management (in
conjunction with the Asset and Liability Committee ("ALCO"), country risk, stress testing and concentration risk
management activities of the Company (including any branches)

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND RELATED ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Audit Committee discharges its responsibiility for theé monitoring and integrity of the financial statements through:

* review of the financial statements for completeness and compliance with relevarit accounting standards and
other regulatory and legal requirements; .

* reporting to the Board on the consistency and appropriateness of critical accounting pohcues and any changes
thereto, taking into account the views of the Independent Auditors;

* ‘review of any correspondence from regulators in relation to financial reporting;

* review of the going concern statement; and :

"= review and challenge of significant financial reporting judgements, estimates and the.actions and. judgements

of management including those in respect of valuation of financial instruments. -

For further detail on the critical accounting estimates and judgements, see note 2.
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company's profit on. ordlnary activities after taxation was $539 million (2021: $611 million). as set out in the
income statement.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 De"cember'2022 (2021: $nil).
BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company's profit on.ordinary activities before taxation was $714 m|II|on _a decrease of $35 million compared
with the year ended 31 December 2021.

Total operating income was $2,028. million, an increase of $36 miillion compared with the year ended 31 December
2021. This reflects higher net interest Income and lower nettrading income:
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
'FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

*  netinterest income was $168 million higher wheri compared with the year ended 31 December 2021

*  nettrading income was $96 million lower compared with the year ended 31 December 2021

* the'movement in net experise from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL")
reduced operating income by $58 million compared with the year ended 31 December 2021 - :

*  other operating income was.$22 million higher when-compared with the year ended 31 December 2021

Total operating expenses were $1,314 million, an increase of $71 million compared with the. year ended 31
December2021. This reflects impairment charges resulting fiom increases in the provisions for credit lossés. in 2022

partially offset by reductions in.other expenses:

*  expected credit loss provisions increased by $258 million comparéd with the year ended 31 December 2021
*  other expense drivers reduced by $187 million compared with the year ended 31 December 2021

Divisional performance

Results are derived from the Comipany’s core Global Banking and Global Markets activities and its Support Services
activities, which represent reportable segments. For information on the results of these activities, see note 3.

Global Baﬁking and Global Markets contributed $1,850 million (2021: $1,772 million) of total operating income
before expenses and impairment. The Support Services segment contributed $178 million (2021: $220 ‘million) to
total operating income before ' expenses and impairment. :

Summary income statement

2022 2021 Change

$M ‘$M ™

'Net interest, fee-and commission income . 1,030 862 ’ 168
Net trading and fair value income - 162 316 © o (154)
Other operating income T 836 814 22
Total operating income. . . - 72,028 1,992 36
Administrative expenses ' (717) (808) 91
Depreciation and other operating expenses (491) (587) . ‘96
Impairment (charge)/release for credif losses (106) 152 (258)
Profit before taxation 714. 749 {35) .

Net interest, fee and commission income

This income reflects the performance of the Company’s lending businesses, consisting primarily of corporate and
institutional lendirig and investment-banking fees in addition to certaln asset backed lending, secured lending and
leasing activity.

Net trading and fair value income

This income reflects the profits on the Company's trading asset portfolio as well as certain lending transactions
which the Company has measured at FVPL. .

s
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Other operating income '
This income is 'generated through. the Company’s services to other affiliates in the. BAC Group. Seivice fee income
is computed under arm's length principles in accordance with BAC Group'’s Global Transfer Pricing Policy. The

Company's service fee income relates to both its Support Services activity and income-generated by Global Banking
and Global Markets activities. ’ '

Administrative expenses

Expenses are driven by compensation, overhead costs and direct trading-related costs.
Depreciation and other operating expenses

Depreéiaﬁon expenses are incurred by the Company on property, plant and equipment and right of use assets used
as part of its ongoing activities. Other operating expenses primarily relate to service fee expenses resulting from the
purchase of services from other affiliates in the BAC Group. The charges are computed urider arm's length
principles- reflecting the economic contribution of the affiliate- in ‘accordance with BAC Group's Global Transfer
Pricing policy. ’ -

Impairment (charge) / release for credit losses:

This represents the charge or release’ arising from the provision for expected credit losses on the Company's
lending businesses, including charge-oﬂ’s.

Taxation

The Company's effective tax rate for the year is 24.6% (2021: 18.6%) driven mainly by the foreign tax liability arising
in the London, Paris.and Frankfurt branches of the Company. For details of the factors affecting the tax charge for
the"year,’ see note 14. ' _
‘Capital

Total eligible regulatory capital (exclusive of audited profits) increased from $1'-3.846 million as at 31 December 2021

to $14,221 ‘million as-at 31 Décember 2022, which consisted of $12,221 miiflion Tier 1 capital (2021: $11,846 million)
and $2,000 million Tier 2 capital (2021: $2,000 million)_. .

The Company’s total capital ratio at 31 December 2022 as estimiated ‘was 26.2% (2021: 26.2%), significantly-
exceeding the minimum capital requirement. :

Further information on the Company’s capital requirements under the CRD V will be available in the Company's
Pillar 3 disclosure document. ‘ ' :

Liquidity ’
The Company is subject to the Basel Il liquidity requirements legislated by the- European -Commission’s Capital.
Requirement Regulations ("CRR") and CRD IV as amended by CRD-V including rules implementing the requirement
for credit institutions to comply with the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio. '

The Company was in excess of its regulatory liquidity requirements in both 2022 and 2021.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The directors have satisfied themselves that there were no political contributions -during the year (2021: $nil) that
require disclosure under the Electoral Act 1997. -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Independent Audltors ‘Mazars, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, have indicated their willingness
to continue in office in accordance with section 383(2), of the Companies Act 2014 and a resolution that they be
reappointed will be proposed at the Company's Annual General Mesting.

NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Overview of ('.‘ompahy and policies

As detailed earlier in this report, the Company’s business model creates value for its stakeholders by providing a
rangeé of financial services to customers-across EMEA. These operations expose the Company to a number-of risks,

including those of an environmental or social nature. BAC: Group's Environmental and Social Risk Policy Framework
("ESRPF") aligns with the Company's Risk Framework and provides additional clarity and transparency regarding
the Company’s approach to environmental and social risks, inclusive of climate-related financial risk ("climate risk").

Recognising that certain sectors are more sensitive to these types of risk, the Company evaluates the associated
risks as appropriate. Refer to the environmental matters section below for-additional information.

Set out below is a summary of the Company’s approach to each of the main Environmental, Social and Governance
(‘ESG") components. Further information about BAC Group's approach to ESG matters can be accessed via the
ESRPF at www.bankofamerica.com/ESRPF arid Bank of America's Task Force on Chmate-related Financial
Disclosures Report (the "TCFD Report") available at www. bankofamerica com/TCFD.

Environmental matters

Climateé-related risks are divided into two major categories: (1) risks.related to the transition to a low-carbon
economy, which may entail extensive policy, legal, technology .and market changes, and (2) risks related to the
physical impacts of climate change, driven by extreme weather events, such as huricanes and floods, as well as
chronic longer-term shifts, such as rising average global temperatures and sea levels. These changes and events
“can have broad impacts on operations, supply chains, ‘distribution networks, customers, and markets and are
otherwise referred to, respectively, as transition risk and physical risk. These risks can impact both financial and
non-financial risk types:

The Company embeds climate risk considerations into its. existing risk management programmes, mciudlng credit
risk. For financial assets held at amortised cost, there has been no material impact of climate related risks on the
Company'’s loss allowances.for expected credit losses. For financial instruments held at fair value, there have not
been ariy adjustments to fair value specifically for climate related risks.

No material climate-related risk vanables impacting the financial position of the Company as at 31. December 2022
" have been identified.

The following sections proVid‘e .more details on strategy, governance,.and risk management.
Strategy

¥ s
BAGC Group's three-pronged climate sirategy is part of the Company overall focus on Responsible Growth and
centres on close partnership with internal and external parties:

* minimising the BAC Group's impact- on the environment with a commitment to achieve Net Zero before
2050; '

* inspiring and enabling clients to achieve Net Zero before 2050; and . '

* _assessing and managing-climate-related risks, including those: risks associated with not achieving Net Zero.

As part of its. strategy to address climate change and drive sustainable use of natural resouices, BAC Group is
committed to mobilising and deploying $1.5 trillion to sustainable finance by 2030; $1 trillion to accelerate the
transition. toward a low-carbon economy; and $500 billion for inclusive soclal development. BAC Group is also
committed to achieving Net Zero before 2050.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

.

To help ensure a harmonised -approach across the: Enterprise, BAC Group has established an Enterprise’ Climate
Programme. The programme brings. together executives across lines: of business ("LOBs"), ESG, Public Policy,
Global Risk Management (‘GRM"), Global Sustainable Finance, and Enterprise Credit to drive.climate action across
.its LOBs and seven risk types. Under this enterprise-wide programme, climate strategy is being integrated across all
aspects of BAC Group's business, from client onboarding and underwriting to deal selection and risk management.

The Company participates on the EMEA ESG Strategic Council. The objéctive of the Council is to facilitate dialogue
and raise awareness across. LOBs_to accelerate. the. mobilisation of capital deployment towards BAC's :$1.5tn
Sustainable finance commitment, through lending, capital raising, advisory, and investment services, and by
developing innovative financial-solutions aligned with recognised industry standards.. : :

A key part of the Enterprise-wide climate strategy is developing risk assessment capabilities such as through the
use of scenario dnalyses. The Company incorporates climate risks into scenario analyses, which leverage scenarios
designed by the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System ("NGFS™), to assess
how these risks could affect the-Company and its clients across a range of physical and transition risk scenarios.
Through the application of scenario analysis, potential pathways in the transition to a net zero economy are
assessed. This includes assessing the impact of changes .across both physical and transition related risks. and.
events and providing deeper insight into how climate-related risks and opportunities may evolve.

In 2022 the Company-participated in the Single Supervisory Mechanism ("SSM") Climate Stress Test exercise; the
results of which were  submitted to the ECB. This exercise furthér accelerated BAC Group's climate scenario
analysis efforts and helped guide work-going forward.

Govemance

BAC Group's Risk Framework (as adopted by the Company) establishes clear ownership and accountability for
‘managing risk across the three lines of defence: LOBs, independent risk management and Corporate Audit. The
same approach to ownership-and accountability is followed for climate risk as for other risks facing BAC Group.

As part of the Enterprise.Climate Program, which BofA Europe is integrated into; BAC has establiskied an Enterprise
Climate Steering Council which i$ responsible for overseeing execution of climate-related priorities.

The Board of the Cornpany- ensures suitable risk management, governance and controls for the Company through
appropriate committees and alignment to BAC Group policies where appropriate. This' in¢ludes ‘consideration of
-climate-related risks and opportunities. The BRC assists the Board in fuffilling its oversight responsibility relating to,
management of climate -and environmental risk. The BRC has received a number of briefings at their -quarterly
meetings on the topic of climate risk and the progress being made to further embed climate risk management into
the Risk Framework and to meet regulatory expectations on managing climate-related financial risk. :

The MRC is responsible for providing management .review and assessment of exposure to climate and
environmental risk and overseeing the approach implemented to manage climate and environmental risk. The MRC.
receives: updates on the progress being made to further embed climats into the risk management framework and to:
meet regulatory expectations. To support the Board and committees in overseeing the management of climate risk,
the Company developed and continues to.enhance reporting capabilities, including regular reporting to the MRC and
quarterly reporting to the BRC. This reporting includes a climate risk dashboard that consolidates information on
how climate risk manifests across the key risk types.

Within the EMEA region, the EMEA ESG Risk and Regulatory Steering Group ("Steering Group") is responsible for
providing management oversight of activities related to the financial risks from' climate change and other ESG- -
related regulatory requirements impacting BAC Group's EMEA. legal entities. The Steering Group is attended by -
senior leaders from across the three lines of defence including the: ESG team and is connected to the Enterprise
ESG and Climate Risk governance framework and to the Company govemnance framework. The Steering Group
generally meets monthly and is co-chaired by the Chief Risk Officer of the Company. [n addition, the ESG Risk and
Regulatory Steerinng Group provides oversight, challenge and review of the Company risk activities  related to the
management of climate and ‘environmental risk. ' '

Page 8



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
'FOR THE.YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 -

AN

Management of climate change.risk -

As climate risk spans across multiple risk types, the Company has developed and continues to enhance processes
to embed climate risk considerations intd risk management programmes established for strategic, credit, market,
liquidity, compliance, operational and reputational risks.

Effective management of climate risk requires coordinated governance, clearly defined roles and responsibilities,
and well-developed processes to identify, measure, monitor and control risks. ,

Risk Identification - A key elemerit of how the Company manages climate risk is the risk identification. process
through. which climate and other fisks are identified across all LOBs and control functions, prioritised in its risk-
inventory and evaluated to determine estimated severity: and likelihood .of occurrence. Once identified, climate.
risks are assessed for potentlal impacts.

Risk Measurement - Measurement of climate risk is conducted using a range of methods with key examples
including scenario analysis and stress testing and industry:and country level assessments. Industry and country
level asSessmgrits are conducted by Credit Risk and leveraged across a broad spectrum of climate-related
functions. '

Risk Monitoring - the Company has developed climate-refated risk. metrics to enable monitoring of exposure to.
climate risk as part of ongoing risk management routines. The monitoring of these metrics is carried out ont an

.ongoing basis and reported to the Company MRC and BRC.

Risk Controls — the Company establishes and communicates climate-related risk controls through policies;
standards, procedures and processes. The Company has incorporated climate considerations into its Risk-
Appetite Statement ("RAS").-Qualitative statements have been supplemented by monitoring metrics such as the,
Company’s credit exposure to “High™ and “Moderate” climate sensitive industries and countries, and non-legal
operational losses from physical climate-related risks.

The Company continues to build out -and enhance its climate. risk management capabilities in line with the
expectations set out in ECB Guide on Climate-related and Environmental Risks and in a way that is proportionate to
the nature, scale, complexity and risk profile of the Company: -

Climate risk management is being embedded into the credit risk framework Credit and risk officers are being
trained on climate change and its impact on credit risk. High, moderate, or low climate risk designations have
been assigned to industry segments and countries in BAC Group’s coverage universe. Climate risk supplements
have been developed for high and moderate risk industries’ and incorporated into Enterprise Industry Risk
Guidarnce documents. These provide credit underwriters and risk officers with guidance for clients in the relevant
industries and countries. The climate risk designations are supplemented by borrower level assessments of
climate and environmental risk Climate & Environmental Risk Assessment ("CERA") process since two
companies in the same sector/country may be impacted differently by climate. change based on their unique
business model, management awareness, strategy-and preparedness to deal with the risks.

The existing market risk management framework has been expanded to incorporate consideration of climate
risks.The Company has created daily risk reporting and monthly dashboards that track climate Key Risk
Indicators (KRI's) and climate stress scenario(s) to analyse the impact of “stidden transition” risks on trading
portfolios with a particular focus on identifying concentrations of risk within the portfolio.

Climate risk assessments of the key drivers of !iqmdity risk for the Company have been performed. Reporting
has been enhanced. to include monitoring. metrics that track concentrations in funding: .sources and uses by
climate sensitive industries./ sectors,
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Climate risk considerations. have been integrated into key elements of the Compliance and Operational Risk:
programme, including conducting tisk assessments; assessing monitoring and testing opportunities; analysing
issues for broader themes; managing regulatory change; developing metrics and reporting; and incorporating
climate topics in training and awareness messaging. in addition, through the operational risk Scenario Analysis
programme, risk management and frontdine unit and control function teams consider a number of .climate-
related scenarios to further understand the impact of transition risk, in addition to acute and chroric climate-
related physical risk, on the Company’s operations.

The EMEA Reputational Risk Committee is responsible for revie‘wihg all business activities which may irmipact
reputational risk in the region including those related to climate risk.

Employee matters S -

The Company's HR function deals with talent acquisition, dlver3|ty and inclusion, leaming and development, -
compensation and benefits and employee relations issues.

Talent dcquisition - The Talent Acquisition team manages talent fulfilment needs through both intemal movement
and through the. identification .and selection of external talent. All hiring activity is supported by the Talent
Operations team which provides the infrastructure and control environment to ensure hiring activity is consistent,

comphant with applicable laws and internal policies, guidelines: and procedures and appropriately monitored.

2022 saw a retum to a hybrid approach to talent acquisition events and programmes, with the. Summer
intemship and core Campus attraction activities retumlng to in-person, while other smaller events and candidate
outreéach continued to be délivered virtually.

Diversity and inclusion - The Company is committed to creating an Inclusive workplace where everyone has the
same opportunities regardless of their gender, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, race, colour;
nationality, ethnic or national origins, age; religion, sexual orientation, responsibility for dependants or physical
or mental disability. This is reflected in its HR policies, guidelines and procedures. The Company also has
numerous employee networks which: provide engagement, development and networking opportunities for the
diverse employee population. The Company complies with the applicable gender pay reporting legislation and is
cormmitted to promoting gender equality:in financial services at a senior level. .

Leaming and developmient .- The Company maintains a mandatory training programme, underpinned by.a
standard operating procedure and process, which is owned and monitored by the Compliance team.. This
includes training on, 'amongst other things, the Company's Code of Conduct, whistleblowing, ‘anti-money
laundering and market abuse. In addition, other training courses are made available to individuals to. support
applicable development in their individual roles. In support of its responsible:growth strategy, a further suite-of
training is pro\iided to managers to drive consistent behaviours including being a diversity -and inclusion
champion, risk management, being a talent leader, managing process and data, being.a financial steward-and
being an advocate-and communicator. To accommodate varied working arrangements; the leaming offering has.
been delivered through a'virtual learning environment enabling employeés to participate regardiess of location.

Compensation and benefits - The Compensation -and Benefits' team -support the financial manageiment,
communication and administration of BAC Group-wide incentive plans. All-activities are underpinned by poficies
with training, monitoring and evaluation processes in place to ensure that employees are paid in an effective
and consistent manner and in compliance with all applicable regulatory-arid legal requirements. The comerstone
of BAC's remuneration philosophy across .all LOBs is to pay for performance - BAC Group (including of the
Company), line of business, and individual performance. Through BAC's performance management process,
employees undérstand performance expectations for their role through goal-setting, performance reviews and
on-going dialogue with their manager. Each employee's pefférmance is:assessed on quantitative and qualitative

objectives, and. is factored into: the decision process for each employee's incentive remuneration award. Asa

v
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¢ . result, an employee's remuneration can be influenced not only by what the emplpyge achieves, but how the
employee achieves it. The. Company compensation team, based in ,Dub[in, is responsible for the operation .of
remuneration within the Company in accordance with all applicable regulations.

* Employee Relations - The Employee Relations team provides consultative expertise and tools to manage and
*resolve employment risks. ' '

HR Shared Services (HR Service Centre, Life Events services, HR systems, HR Reporting and Payroll): Serve as a
‘primary point of contact for HR queries; life event employee support; produce standard form and regulatory

employment references; execute pay services delivery and ensure compliance. with all relevant tax filing obligations;
payroll accounting. '

Generalist: Support the business leaders on HR initiatives including (but not limited to) talent and workforce
planning, and provide strategic HR advice. :

Regular updates were provided to the Board throughout 2022 by HR-and the resulting discussions and decisions en
measures to provide support to employees in refation to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Comipany, as part of BAC's
global response, continued to focus on promoting health and safety and limiting the risk of exposure, including.
keeping emnployees informed and providing timely resources, tools and wide-ranging benefits. The Return to Office
programme is now complete. : , ,

Social matters
Respect for human rights:

. BAC is committed to. respecting human rights. and demionstrates leadership in responsibie workplace practices
across the BAG Group and in all regions where it conducts business. BAC's commitment to fair, ethical and
responsible business. practices, as it engages with employees, clients, suppliers and communities around the waorid,
is embodied in its values and Code of Conduct with which the Company is aligned. To leam more about BAC's
commitment t6 human rights, see about.bankofamerica.comlassetslpdf/human-"rights-statément.pdf. in .addition,

BAC has issued a Modemn Slavery Statement on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, including but not limited to the
Company, see www.bankofamerica.com/modernslaveryact.

Racial equality:

Through Responsible Growth, the: Comparniy delivers for teammates, clients and shareholders and helps address
society’s biggest challenges. One example is the Company's work to advance racial equality and economic
opportunity - internally, this is core to being a great place to work, hiring and recruiting diverse talent to ensure
strong representation in the Company's workforce, and aligned policies and accountabilities; externally, this is core
to the. Company's client-driven approach, delivering products and services that meet the needs of its diverse clients
and communities. Building on that long-standing work, and in order to ensure everyone has access to the tools and
resources needed to build wealth, the Company is focused on-connecting diverse peoplé and communities to good
jobs, ensuring adequate-access to health care, providing access-to capital to grow small businesses, and building a
solid base of affordable-housing. ‘ . ‘

This work is fundamental to how the Company runs the business, supports the teammates. and delivers for clients.
The BAC Group- has ‘a $15 billion-commitment to affordable homeownership and is engaged in ongoing work to
advance small businesses through $2 billion invested with Community. Development Financial Institutions and a
- $1.25 billion five-year commitment to advance racial equality and ecoriomic opportunity -through financing and.

philanthropy.
Community engagement:
In. EMEA, the BAC Foundation is focused on building pathways to economic mobility by supporting initiatives that .

help people transition from education into sustained employment. In 2022, the BAC. Foundation ‘supported 99
charities and sacial enterprises with financial grants across the EMEA region.

Page 11



- DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

In 2022, the BAC Group's total philanthropic investment within EMEA was $16 million, including employee-directed
giving and four new commitments:stipporting projects and Ppartners working to address racial inequality as' part of
the bank’s $1.25 billion commitment,

BAC offers its employees-an array of opportunities to share their skills and to volunteer with not-for-profit partn'e}s. in
2022, 2,021 employees in EMEA (23% volunteer participation) ‘shared their time and skills with community
organisations. Of these.volunteers, 479 were employees of the Company (24% volunteer participation)!. -

Supplier management:

BAC is dedicated to-doing business with suppliers that respect ethics, human rights, diversity and inclusion, and the:
environment. BAC sets expectations of suppliers through the Supplier Code of Conduct (the "Code"), which has
been:adopted by the Company. All suppliers are expécted to adhere to the Code while conducting business with or
on behalf of Bank of America: The Comparny's environmental, social ahd governance ("*ESG®) expectations of
suppliers are ‘reiterated in the contract templates as well. BAC monitors compliance with the Code using a
reasonable and risk-based approach and framework that is suitable for small and diverse owned businesses as well
as larger businesses with more mature compliance programs. Further information on how the Company, as part of
BAC, approaches supplier management can be obtained at hﬂps://about.bankofamerica.com/en/our-company/
‘supplier-management. . '

Global compliance and operational risk

The Company's overall approach to managingrisk, including compliance risk, is governed by the Risk Framework.
As part of this, the Global Compliance and Operational Risk and the Global Financial Crimes teams work in
partnership to offer continuous challenge and oversight in order to minimise the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions,
material financial loss -or reputational damage, including but not limited to, the risks. associated with bribery and
corruption, economiic sanctions, money laundering, temrorist.and criminal financing, and internal and external fraud.

The Company is committed to acting professionally, fairly, and with integrity in all of its business dealings. The
Company takes a zero tolerance approach to bribery -and corruption and seeks to comply with all relevant and
applicable Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption ("ABAC") laws, rules, and regulations. ABAC Policies and the Code of
Conduct. establish expected standards of behaviour for employees and uses a risk-based -approach to address
potential risks associated with bribery and corruption. The ABAC Compliance programme-: considers the' risks
associated with the Company's business and the markets in which it -operates, including but not limited to the.
provisions .of gifts ‘and entertainmient, third party advisorsfintermediaries, hiring: practices, political activities, and
sponsorships/contributions. In addition, the ABAC Compliance and Operational Risk Enterprise Area of Coverage
considers transactions posing heightened bribery and corruption risks, particularly in markets and economies that
are more susceptible to corruption and financial crime.

Outcomes and non-financial key performance indicators ("KPIs")

The BAC Group, of which the Company is a part, tracks- and reports on all applicable environmental laws and
regulations and operates towards overall BAC Group operational goals including maintaining carbon neutrality and
purchasing 100% renewable electricity (including ‘purchasing ‘carbon credits where renewable- energy is not
available). Further information on the Company's energy consumiption and greenhouse 'gas emissions is presented
below. , '

As the Company édopts BAC Group's global approach to ESG issues, additional related non-financial KPjs are’
typically measured on a global basis, Reporting of the ESG metrics aligried with external frameworks and-the ESG
Performance Data Summary can be found online at: www.bankofamerica.com/ESGdata2021.

Metrics specific to the Company are presented below.

! Data submitted has been self-reported by Bank of America eniployees and has riot been formally audited.
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Energy Consumption and ,Gréenhouse‘ ‘Gas. Emission’s (GHG)

" Global environmental objectives are set at BAC Group level and the Company contributes to these targéts. Being a
part of the BAC Group, the Company recognises its responsibilities -and has. decided to voluntarily disclose its
- operational energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in the tables below. .

Due to the nature of the Company’s operations, multiple: BAC entities: utilise the same office space and therefore,
-are mutually responsible for environmiental impacts. For reporting purposes, the. Company has estimated an entity-
specific energy -consumption and greenhouse gas emissions view based on the proportion of entity's employee
headcount within each office space. : ’ ‘

2022 energy consumption-and associated greenhouse gas emissions for the Company's branches outside of the UK
and Ireland were estimated-based on verified 2021 data due to the substantial delay in obtaining the information.

Energy Consumption

‘ 2022 2021

kWh kWh

Energy use impacting Scope 1 GHG emissions® . .
Gas, Gas Oil o . 4,199,504 4,623,129
Energy use impacting Scope'z,'GHG emissions**
Electricity*** - . . . . . 12,156,241 11,799,507
Total energy consumption . ' . 16,355,745 16,422,636

* Energy use impacting Scope 1 GHG emissions relates to sources (consumption) that are 'owned or contralled by
the Company’s activities-and which result in direct emission from those activities.

** Energy use impacting-Scope 2 GHG emissions relates to purchiased eiectricity consumed by the Company's
activities. Scopé 2 emissions physically occur at the facility: where-electricity is generated.

***Electricity refers to indirect GHG emissions .f,rom the generation of ;acquired and consumed electricity, steam,
heat, or cooling. o

Energy data is based »on"utilit-y invoices. Where actual data is not dvailable, estimates are made based on actual
data collected in the previous year.

Greéenhouse gas emissions* i :
2022 2022 2021 2021

Gross Gross Gross Gross
Location Market Location Market .
based*™ based** based based
Scope 1 direct emissions (tCO,e)
Gas, Gas Oil 4 , 821 . 821 800 800
Scope 2 indirect emissions ({COe) ‘
Electricity : 2,989 91 2,857 - 98
Total Scope 1 direct and Scope 2 indirect . e , e
emissions (1COse) 3,810 912" 3,757 998
Intensity ratio tonnes of CO,e per m? floor T o
area (tCOe/my)™* 0.119 0.029 0.113 0.030
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*'Gas relates to heating office buildings. Gas oil relates to fuel to run back-up generators Electricity relates to usage

to support operations, Intensity ratio represents how many tonnes of GHG emissions are produced per m? of

occupied space..
**Alocation-based method reflects the average emissions intensity of the energy grid.

*+ A market-based method reflects emissions from electricity that the Company has purposefully chosen and takes
into account the impact of green contracts or other renewable energy products

*+++ Prior periods were restated to conform-to current penod presentation.

The above has been produced in line with the World Resources Institute’s “Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard”. .
The Company cons;ders that the most appropnate intensity metric to reflect performance is gross emissions in
tonnes of CO,e per m? of fioor aréa as the Company's energy consumption and associated GHG emissions are
primarily driven by its real estate portfolio.

The total location-based greerhouse gas emissions remained in line with 2021.. : -

' Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse: gas emissions were independently. assured to a “reasonable” level. The thard-party
assurance was carried out by an mdependent consultant, Apex Companies.

Energy efficiency measures
The Company environmental objectives are aligned with BAC Group's operational goélé

In line with these objectives BAC Group actively pursues energy and GHG emission reductions, primarily through
energy efficiency initiatives and office consolidation projects. The main -activity completed in 2022 includes reduced
real estate footprint by decommissioning approx. 67k ‘sq. ft of office space in the London 2 King Edward Street
campus..

BAC Group continues to purchase renewable energy in the UK and Ireland through green contracts with utility
suppliers. These contracts are covered by relevant schémes - the EU Guarantees of Origin ("GO") in ‘Ireland and
Renewable Energy Guarantees of Origin ("REGOs") in the UK, administered by relevant local authorities. These
programmes provide transparency to consumers about the proportion of electricity that suppliers source from
renewable generation. GO and REGO certify that each MWh of electricity was generated from eligible generation
sources.

Otherwise,-for facilities not covered by the: green contract, BAC purchases unbundled GOs and REGOs. Carbon
_offséts are purchased’ for other unavoidable emissions.

Scope 3 financed GHG emissions

The emissions associated with the financing BAC provides cllents is the: largest portion of its emissions and requires
the most effort to measure, report and transform. Reducing emissions associated with BAC's ﬁnancmg activity to
Net Zero involves key steps, including:

* analysing data to develop decision-useful metrics to drive progress

* aligning BAC's strategy to scientlﬁc decarbonisation : ‘pathways by setting appropriate milestone targets to
reach Net Zero before 2050

» advocating for.consistent industry and global standards to dnve comparable commitments and disclosure

The Company has calculated its baseline (2019) and latest available (2020) emissions for its auto, manufacturing,
energy and power geneération portfolios. While the Company is disclosing financed emissions. for- auto
manufacturing, energy and power generation, it intends to disclose the financed emissions for other key sectors in
future years.
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The Company uses the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials ("PCAF") methodology to guide emissions
calculation methodology decisions. The. methodology aligns with that used in BAC's TCFD report and further details
can be fourid in that report. } -

2019 and 2020 Absolute Financed Emissions;

Energy - Oil :
s & Gas.- Power
Auto Producers Energy - Generation Grand

: Manufacturing and Refiners Other* Scope 1Only - Total
Loans covered )
2019 307 840 279 1,229 2,655

. Utilised (in millions) 2020 303 926 75 321 1623
Financed Emissions 4
Scope 1 + Scope 2 Financed - : ‘ .
Emissions (thousands 2019 7 241 ’ 254 328 830
{COe) 2020 - 6 237 41 63 347
Scope 3 Financed Emissions 2019 ' 341 2,427 569 N/A. 3,337
(thousands tCOze) 2020 265 - 2,492 375 NA 3,132
Total Financed Emissions 2019 348 2,668 823 . 328 4167
(thousands tCO.e) 2020 27 2,729 416 63 3479

* Other includes Scope 1 and 2 for midstream and downstream oif and gas com}:anie‘s and Scope 3 for thermial coal
miining companies. , : : : :

Financed emissions were. independently. assured to a “limited” level. The third-party assurance. was carried out by.
_ an independent consultant, Apex Companies. ' .

It should be noted that calculating-energy consumption and emiissions is ‘an evolving landscape and the Company
expects there to- be improvements to data availability, data capture, data sourcing, data quality and estimation
methodologies over time. As a result, there may be volatility in year-over-year numbers and potential restatements
of historical results. : . ‘ ' '

EU Taxonomy

Foi!owing the adoption of the Paris Agreement on climate. change, the' European Cominission took ‘steps towards.
achieving a climate-neutral EU by 2050. This included publishing its-action plan on financing sustainable growth. A
key objective of this action plan is to redirect capital flows towards sustainable economic activiies.

In order to achieve this.objective, Regulation (EU) 2020/852 adopted by the European Parliament along with the.
commission delegated regulation (EU) 2021/2178, (EU) 2021/2039 -and (EU) 2022/1214 (hereinafter together
referred to as the “EU Taxonomy”) requires companies subject to the Non-Finaricial Reporting Directive ("NFRD") to
" disclose how thieir operations align with the sustainable economic. activities identified by the EU Taxonomy. Financial

undertakings are required to mandatorily disclose the proportion. in their total assets of exposures to Taxonomy-
eligible economic activities for 2022.

In order to calculate mandatory EU Taxonomy. eligibility ratios, theé Company collected KPIs on the Taxonomy-
eligible activities and data’ attributes of its counterparties from publicly available sources. The'type of KPI| differed
depending on the type .of organisation. The proportion of Taxonomy-eligible exposures was then calculated by
applying the KPIs céllected to the exposures as of 31 December 2022. -

The eligibility ratio was-3.8% using cllents’ revenue KPIs and 4.8% using clients’ CapEx. KPIs. The ratios reftect that
a significant proportion of BofA Europe's clients are not required to report under NFRD, due fo their size or location,
and therefore are not considered eligible: :
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in addmon the Company voluntarily estimated the portion of its activities attributable to Nuclear & Gas ("N&G")
using internally available data to identify counterpartles ‘conducting N&G activities and their public disclosures. The:
Company’s- eligibility ratio would have been 4.3% using counterparty revenue. KPIs and 5.3% using counterparty
Capex KPIs.. The Company’'s non-eligibility ratio was 95.7% using counterparties’ revenue KPls, of which it
estimates 1.5% is attributable to N&G. The Company's non-eligibility ratxo was 94.7% usmg counterpartxes CapEx
KPIs, of which it estimates 1.1% is attnbutable to N&G

In.order to produce the EU taxonomy disclosure, reliance has been placed on the information provided by the
" counterparties themselves and consequently the. Company -experienced data llmutatnons where oounterparttes did
not disclose.

,~

2022
‘ . $B
Total assets ‘ . . 724 .
Less exposures not included in scope of EU Taxonomy denommator of which; ' 21,2
Trading assets* - E . 1.3
Assets with central governments , 1.0
Assets with central banks - I "18.9
Assets in scope o6f EU Taxonomy (Denominator) : 50.9
Less exposure not included in‘scope of EU Taxdnomy riumerator of which: 40.7
Property; plant and equipment, Tax assets and Other assets - 0.4
On Demand Interbank Loans . - . 1.8
Derivatives ' ' ' 2.7
Counterparties not subject to NFRD reporting ' I 35.8
Counterparties subject to NFRD** reporting : - 10.2
~ Capex KPI
EU Taxonomy eligible assets (Numerator) I 24
Eligible assets as a proportion of assets in scope - 48 %
Revenue KPI 4 _
EU Taxoriomy eligible-assets- (Numerator) ‘ ) . 2.0
Eligible assets as a proportion of assets in scope : . 3.8%
* Excludes traded assets. of $0.2B related to central govemments, which is included in the Assets wrth central
governments line.

** Large EEA public-interest entities (such as listed ent:tles credit institutions-and insurance undertaking) w:th more
than 500 employees..

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

The :measures taken by the directors to ensure compllance with the: reqmrements of sections 281 to 285 of the
Companies Act 2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting records are.the employment of appropriately qualified
accounting personnel and the maintenance of computerised accounting systems. The Company’s accounting
records are maintained at the Company's registered office. .

DIRECTORS' AND SECRETARY'S INTEREST IN SHARES '

The directors and the company. secretary had no beneficial interest in the shares of the Company that are required
by the Companies Act-2014 to be recorded in the register of interests or-disclosed in the directors’ report.
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The directors: have availed of the exem
interests of less than 1% in BAC.

ption available under section 260 of the Companies Act 2014 to not disclose’

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who were in office durin
where noted, were:

g the year and up to the date of approval of this report, except

Executive directors -
F. Vicario (Chief Executive Officer)
- J.H. Lee '

Group non-executive directors

A.M. Finucane (Chair) (resigned 31 December 2022)
C.P. Bessant (appointed 27 May 2022)-

P.M. Donofrio (appointed 1 Decemiber 2022)

B.A. Ménsah (appointed 27 May 2022)

Non-executive directors

- J.G. Murphy

Independent non-executive directors

O.T. Bussmann - ) -
S.A. James

N.M..Jordan

R. McHugh - :

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOﬁS

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this directors' report is approved has confirmed that:

so far as the. director 'is ‘aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's ln,de,pe'nd‘e_nt

Auditors are unaware; and )

the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the ‘Company's Independent Auditors are aware of that
information. . ' C '

DIRECTORS"COMPLIANGE STATEMENT

As required by section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014, the :directors.'rackn‘owlejdgéthat, they are responsible for
securing the Company’s compliance with its relevant obligations (as defined in section 225(1)). The directors:confirm

~ thaty

.obligations;

a compliance policy statement (as defined in section 225(3)(a)) has been drawn up setting out the Combanyfs
policies, -which, in the directors’ opinion, are appropriate to' ensure: compliance with the Company's relevant
appropriate arra’nggme'nts or structures that' are, in the. directors' opinion, designed to secure material
compliance with the relevant obligations have been put in place;.and ,

a review of those arrangements -or structures has been conducted .in the financial year to which this report
relates. ' o
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ELECTRONIC DISTRIBUTION

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company's financial statements are provided for inclusion on the
website of the Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, BAC. The work carried out by the Independent Auditors-does-
not involve consideration of these matters and accordingly, the Independent Auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes-that may have occurred to the financial statements’ since they were initially presented on the website.
Legislation in the Repubilic of Ireland goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.. : . . :

~ This report was approved by the Board on 24 March 2023 and signed on its behalif.

J.H. Lee o .
\ Director : :
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
: Bank of America Europe DAC

Report on thq audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Bank of America Europe DAC (‘the Company'), for the year ended 31
December 2022, which comprise the Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, that Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the Company financial statements, including
the summary of significant accounting policies set out in note 1. The financial reporting framework that has been

applied in its preparation is Irish law and the Financial Reporting Standard 100 (‘FRS 100') - Application of Financial
Reporting Requirements and Financial Reporting Standard 101 ('FRS 101') - Reduced Disclosure Framework.

* give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2022,
and of its profit for the year then ended; :

* have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 100 and FRS 101; and

* ' have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intenational Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs Ireland) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
. the, Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. ’

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard for Auditors (Ireland) issued by the Irish Auditing and
Accounting Supervisory Authority ("IAASA®), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. :

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Condusioﬁs relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the_directofs' use of the going concem basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. :

Our evaluation of the director's assessment of the Company'’s ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of
accounting included: : - ) '

* Understanding management's going concem assessment process, inplixding the preparation of financial plans
and forecasts; ‘

* Performing a risk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concem basis of accounting;

* Evaluation of the forecast financial performance, liquidity, capital position and the Bank’s strategic plan over the
going concern period; and ' , :

~* Consideration of the funding support available to the Company from its parent.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concem for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem are described in the
relevant sections of this report. :

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditor, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These
- matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the
principal audit procedures performed to address each matter and, where relevant, key observations arising from

those procedures. -

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed

impairment allowance for expected credit losses
(IFRS 9) :

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company recognises
expected credit losses (‘ECL) for instruments
classified at amortised cost and at FVOCI. These
include loans and advances to banks and customers,
including related guarantees and commitments.

The estimation of expected credit losses is a complex
g_hmcess requiring the use of judgement and estimates.
e key risks in the estimation process relate to the
methodology applied and the use of inapprofpriate
assumptions including the determination of the
Significant Increase in Credit Risk (‘SICR') or forward
looking information which could potentially lead to the
financial statements being materially misstated.

Additionally, the risk of using incomplete and
inaccurate input data as a basis for the computation is
another area of risk that could resuilt in mistaken
estimates.

Finally, adjustments to the model-driven ECL results
can be raised by management to address known
impairment model limitations, emerging trends or
potential future credit risks identified by management.
Such adjustments are inherently uncertain and
management judgement is involved in the estimation
process.

Any over or under estimations of the impairment
proviF:zsion could have a material impact on the reported
results.

Refer to Note 1.16 Accounting Policies — Impairment
of financial assets held at amortised cost and FVOCI,
Note 2 Cnitical accounting estimates and judgements,
Note 16 Provision for loan loss, Note 18 Loans and
Advances fto .

We have addressed the audit risk attached to the Key
Audit Matter by performing the following procedures:

* Updated our understanding of the overall
impairment process, including key -controls, the
impairment model used  and underying
assumptions;

* Agreed and reviewed the scope of group auditors
work as applicable to the Company, covering IT
controls testing and model validation testing;

* \Validated the compliance of the impairment
estimation process with IFRS 9 requirements,
including the review of the Company's IFRS 9
Framework Document and Policy;

* -Tested the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the key controls underpinning the
estimation and recognition of the impairment
provision in the accounting records, including
relevant IT application controls; ‘

* Reviewed the impairment model significant
assumptions and the methodology applied to
determine wWhether the overall impairment
adjustment is adequate. This included the
assessment of the definition of defauit adopted by
the Company, and the determination of PD, LGD
and EAD. It also covered the consideration of
economic variable inputs used in the estimation
process;
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banks, Note 19 Loans and advances to customers and .

Note 42 Risk Management.

Assessed the reasonableness of the staging

applied to the portfolio and considered the
allocation criteria;

Reviewed the model validation and parametérs

‘calibration validation performed by the Company,

as wall as the back testing performed to ensure
model viability;

For individually assessed provisions, assessed the
measurement of the provision including the
methodology and assumptions applied;

Assessed the reasonableness and adequacy of
post model adjustments and management
overlays, considering specific risks arising from the
actual economic environment; :

Assessed the completeness and awura};y of the
data used in the computation process; and

Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures
and accounting policies in the financial statements.

IFRS 9 specialists and Economist experts were
engaged to support the audit team with some aspects
of these procedures.

Based on the evidence obtained from the above listed
procedures, we consider the estimation of the
impairment of financial instruments under IFRS 9 to be
reasonable.
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Valuation of level 3 traded loans and loans and
advances to customers at Fair Value Through
Profit and Loss (‘FVTPL’)

1/

The Company’s financial position and operating results
depend on the valuation of level 3 traded loans and
-advances to customers measured at FVTPL, which
are based on management judgement and estimation.

The valuation of instruments with higher risk
characteristics involves significant judgement. The
judgement in estimating the fair value of these
instruments can involve complex valuation models and
significant fair value adjustments both which may be
reliant on data inputs where there is limited market
data observability. Any error in the valuation of a
financial instrument can have a significant impact on
the financial statements.

The Company’s financial instruments classified as.

Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy include distressed
-debt, traded loans, mortgage loans -and leveraged
finance loans.

Refer to Note 1.15 Accounting Policies — Financial
Assets, Note 2 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements, Note 19 Loans and Advances fo
customers, Note 21 Trading assets, Note 42 Risk
Management and Note 44 Fair value measurement.

We have addressed the audit risk attached to the Key
Audit Matter by performing the following procedures:

* Updated our understanding of the end-to-end
valuation process, including roles and
_ responsibilites of the three-line defence,
collaboration between departments and IT
systems involved in the Independent Price
Verification (IPV) and Fair value adjustment (FVA)

computation; :

* Tested the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the key controls underpinning the.
valuation of level 3 traded loans and advances to
customers at fair value through profit or loss in
the accounting records, including relevant T
application controls. This included the controls
around IPV and FVA computation, CVA/DVA,
appropriateness of extemal pricing sources,

" margin dispute resolution, and collateral IPV;

* Assessed the appropriateness of tolerance to
price differences (soft and hard variances,
_ tolerable threshold);

* Understood and assessed the model govemance
(intermal risk rating, frequency of review,
" identification and follow-up of model limitations);

* Assessed the sensitivity of valuation to key inputs
and assumptions and concluded on their
appropriateness;

* . Reviewed the valuation methodology and
underlying calculation for a sample of
instruments. Challenged key assumptions
underpinning the  valuaton made by
management, including  observability.  of
parameters, management overrides and levelling
applied; and .

* Reviewed compliance of fair value disclosures|
with IFRS 13 and IFRS 7, including assets and
liabilities levelling, transfers in and out of Level 3,
and sensitivities to main unobservable inputs.
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Based on the evidence obtained from the above listed
procedures, we consider the estimation of the
valuation of level 3 traded loans and loans and
advances to customers at FVTPL to be reasonable.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit and in evaluating the impact of
misstatements, if any. Materiality is an.expression of the relative significance or importance of a matter in the context
of the financial statements. Misstatements in the financial statements are material if they, individually or in
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on the financial
statements.

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and
in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. Based on our
professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall materiality $132.39 million

How we determined it 1% of net assets A

Rationale for benchmark We consider the net assets to be a key metric that the users of the financial
applied statements focus on.

Performance materiality $79.43 million

Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low level the
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements in the
financial statements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

We determine 60% (2021: 50%) of overall materiality to be appropriate which
_ | reflect a number of factors: the fact this is the second year of audit for Mazars, the
history of misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation risk and the
effectiveness of controls. .

Reporting threshold We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them
‘misstatements identified during our audit above $3.97 milion as well as
misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warmanted reporting for
qualitative reasons.

Overview of the s of the audi

As part of designing our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and then designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks. In particular, we
looked at where the directors made subjective judgements such as making assumptions on significant accounting
estimates. : '
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We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the
financial statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Company, its
environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative factors in order to ensure that we
obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items. Where the work was performed by other
auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in their audit work and issued and agreed audit
instructions to ensure that appropriate audit evidence was obtained as a basis for our opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. . .

The nature, timing and extent of the work impacting the audit opinion was determined and monitored by us. Where
work was performed by the other auditors, our involvement in that work included meetings between the other
auditors and senior members of the engagement teams, review of the results of their audit procedures including the
nature, timing and extent of the work impacting our audit opinion and frequent communications by the engagement
team to corroborate that our audit plan was appropriately executed. .

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in

the directors’ report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial:

statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
" materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or )
a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:

* the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
is consistent with the finaricial statements; . A

* the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements;

* the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and
properly audited; and .

* the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are
necessary for the purposes of our audit. : .

Matters on which we are required to report by exception -

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of thé
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the directors' report.

The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the requirements of any of Sections 305 to
312 of the Act, which relate to disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions are not complied with by the
Company. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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The Companies Act 2014 also requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not provided the
information required by Regulation 5(2) to 5(7) of the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity
Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017 (as amended) for the financial year ended
31 December 2022. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities
Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ nesponsubllm&e statement out on page 1, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework that give
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

\
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concem basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulat:ons We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of iregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Company and its industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-comphance
with laws and regulations related to the Companies Act 2014 and tax legislation, and we considered the extent to
which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered other applicable
laws and regulations including compliance with European Central Bank and Central Bank of Ireland regulatlons
which may be fundamental to the Company’s ability to operate,

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect to megulant:es including non-compliance with
laws and regulations, our procedures included but were not limited to:

* Obtaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Company and the industry
in which it operates; ,

* Discussing with the dqrectors and management as to whether the Company is in compliance with laws and

regulations, and discussing the policies and procedures in place regarding compliance with laws and

regulations;

Inspecting correspondence with the Central Bank of Ireland and the European Central Bank;

Reviewing minutes of Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings and Risk Committee meetings;

Assessing how the Company ensures compliance with externally imposed capital and liquidity requiremenits;

Discussing amongst the engagement team the identified laws and regulations, and consideration of any

indications of non-compliance; and
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" * Focusing on areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements such as tax legislation and Companies Act 2014. '

Our procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:

* Making enquiries of the directors and management on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud; . .

* Gaining an understanding of the intemal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;

Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud such as opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of

financial statements, and determined the principal risks;

Identifying any manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance;

Assessing any management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates;

Reviewing any significant one-off or unusual transactions; and :

Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing.

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with both those
charged with govemance and management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of
irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal controls. - .

As a result of our procedures, we did not identify any key audit matters relating to imegularities. The risks of material
misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including. fraud, -are discussed under “Key audit matters® .
within this report. '

A fuvrther description of our responsibilities for the.audit of the financial statements is located on the Irish Auditing

and Accounting Supervisory Authority's website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/bh2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
ipti f_audi i

for_audit.pdf. This description forms part of our auditor's

Other matters which we are required to addr'essA

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Company on 11 August 2021 to
audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial periods. The period
of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments is 2 years.

The non-audit services prohibited by IAASA's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Cdmpany and we remain
independent of the Company in conducting our audit.n

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in -
accordance with ISA (Ireland) 260. J .
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities.

Our report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies
Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we
-are required to state to them in an.auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

!

Tommy Doherty \

for and on behalf of Mazars

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm
Harcourt Centre, Block 3 :
Harcourt™ Road

Dublin 2 .

27 March.2023 ’
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INCOME STATEMENT -

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
Intérest income
interest expense -
NET INTEREST INCOME ' : 4
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense >
'NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME . 5.
Neét trading income
Net (expernse)/income from other financial instruments at FVPL : 6
Other operating income 7
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME
Administrative expenses' D ' ' ' 8
Depreciation and amortisation : 23,24,
Other operating expense ‘ 9
Impairment (charge)/release for credit losses . 16
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities - ' 14

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

2021

2022
-$M ™
1,095‘ 580
(524) (176)
571 404
| 589 522
(130) (64) -
459 458
- 169 265
@ 51
836 814
2,028 1,992
(717) (808)
(50) (76)
(441) {(511)
(106) 152
(1,314) (1,243)
714 749
(175) (138)
539

611

During the year there were no d|scontxnued .operations. In the prior year, profit post-fax of $2 million from
discontinued operatlons was lncluded in the results above. See note 3 for further details.

The notes on pages.v-34 to 128 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Profit for the financial year

Other comprehensive income:

:tems that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or
oss: .
Currency translation differences

Movement in fair value of debt instruments at Fvoci

Itgms that will not be reclassified to p;oﬁt or loss:
Actuarial gain on rétirement benefit obligations (note 35)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

The notes on pages‘.f34 to 128 form part of these financial statements.

2022

2021

M M

" 539 611
(28) (28)
(4) 1

. 56 31
24 4
563 615

!l
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
_AS AT:31 DECEMBER 2022

ASSETS

Cash held at central banks
Market and client receivables:
Loans and advances to banks.
Loans and‘advances to customers
Reverse repurchase agreements
Trading assets

Investment securities

Derivative financial instruments
Propetty, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other assets.

‘TOTAL ASSETS ~
LIABILITIES

Deposits by banks
- Déposits by customers
Market and client payables
Debt securities
Derivative financial instruments

2022

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

Other liabilities ,
Accruals

Subordinated ligbilities

Retirement benefit obligations

TOTAL LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Issued share capital -
Share premium account
Ottier reserves

Profit and loss account

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2021

Note $M M
15 18,813 15,490

17 810 1,025.

18 7,980 9:793

19 29,843 27,063

20 9,318 9,037

21 1,561 1,634

22 369 671

2,714 1,525

23 47 94

24 103. 417

25 574 - 604

72,132 67,353

27 27,031 20,645

" 28 21,010 24,428
29 984 536.

30 1,067 - 1,190

3,598 2,269

71 51

31 902 1,260

33 129 139
34 4,000 4,000

35 101 162
58,893 54,680

36 32 32

a7 9,061 . .- 9,061

37 28 60

Sy 4,118 ' 3,520
13,239 12,673,

72,132 67,353
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

The financial statements were-approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 24 March 2023.

J.H. Lee P.M. Dono
Director Director

‘The notes on pages 34 to 128 form part of these financial statements.

1

fri

S. McGuinness

for and on behalf of Merrill
Lynch Corporate Services
Limited -

Company Secretary
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Called up Share N Profitand
share premium Other foss
capital account reserves account Total equlty
$M $M SM $M M’
At 1.January 2022 ' 32 9,061 60 3,520 12,673
Comprehenswe Income for the. year )

_ Profit for the year .. = - —_ 539 539
Currency translation differences: - - (28) —_ " (28)
Movement in fair value of debt securities at ,
FVOCI | - = ) — @
Actuarial gains relating to retirement scheimes ‘ - — - . 56 - 56
Total comprehensive income for the year RN C— (32) 595 . 563
Group share based payment.costs recharged - —_ —_ (57) (57) ‘
Group:share based payment costs -_— —_— — 60 60
At-31 December 2022 ' . 32 9,061 28 4,118 13,239

The notes on pages 34 to 128 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

At 1 January 2021

Comprehensi&e income for the year
- Profit for the year :

Currency translation-differences
Movement in fair value of debt securities at
FVOCI

Actuarial 16sses relating to retirement
schemes

Total comprehensive income for the year
- Group share based payment costs recharged
‘Group share based payment costs '

At 31 December 2021

Called up Share Profit and

share premium - Other loss

capital account reserves account Total equity
$M $™ ™ M M
32 9,061 87 2,877 12,057
- — . - 611 611 .
- - (28) - (28)
— — 1 — 1
— — - 31 31
- - (27) 642 615
- — - (60) (60)
— — —_ 61 61
32 9,061 60

The notes on pages 34 to 128 form part of these financial statements.

3,520 12,673
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 S

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Thesé ﬁnancial‘ét.atements are the separate financial statements of the Company.

‘The principal accounting policies, which have been applied consistently fhroughfmt the current and prior
year, are set.out below. . '

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statemenits have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014, Financial
Reporting Standard 100 ("FRS 100°) - Application: of Financial Reparting Requiremerits and Financial
Reporting Standard 101 ("FRS 101") - Reduced Disclosure Framework.

FRS 100 and FRS 101 set out the disclosure exemptions: for the individual financial statements. of
entities that otherwise apply the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of ‘International
Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted in the EU (“EU-adopted IFRS"). References to.
accounting standards. in these. financial statements will accordingly relate to applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") and Intemnational Accounting Standards ("IAS").

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified to
include certain assets and liabilities at fair value. The Company does not maintain historical cost
information on items at fair value as this is not relevant to-the operation of the business.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates:. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the Company's.
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in-note 2. .

1.2 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE COMPANY

The Intemational Accounting Standards Board has issued a numbér of amendments to IFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period. None of these developments have significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements. The Company has hot applied any hew standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. ) .

1.3 FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 101 - REDUCED DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS

The.Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

* the requirements of paragraphs 45(b)-and 46-52 of I[FRS 2 - Share-based Payment; . v

* the requirements of IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows; .

* the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes: in Accounting
Estimates and Errors; . :

* the requirements in IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures. to.disclose related party transactions entered

- into between two or more: members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is.a party to the

transaction is wholly owned by such a member; and

* the requirements of IFRS 5 paragraph- 33(c) to disclose the net cash flows: attributable to the
operating, investing and financing activities of discontinued operations:

[
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.4 GOING CONCERN

The directors-have-a reasonable expectation, based on currerit and anticipated future performance, the.
capital ‘and liquidity position, that the Company will continue in- operational existerice for a period of .at’
least 12 months from the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. The directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company'’s ‘ability
to continue as a going concem for at least that 12 month period. The financial statements have;
therefore, been prepared -on a going concern basis. Disclosures in respect of liquidity risk-and capital
management are set out in note 42.. ' :

15 FOREIGN CURRENCIES

a. Functional and presentation currency

(Thé financial statements are presented in US dallars. which is also the. functional currency of the
Company. ' '

- b. Transactions anid balances

Foreign currency fransactions are translated irito' the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such fransactions, and from ttie translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign ‘currencies into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting
date are generally recognised in the income statement. .

Changes: in the fair value of monetary securities denomiinated in fareign currency classified as fair value'
through other comprehensive income (*FVOCI) are analysed between exchange gains and losses
- resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the camrying-amount of
the security. Exchange gains -and losses related to: changes in amortised cost are recognised. in the
income statement, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive:
income. .

Exchange gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities held at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
("FVPL") are recognised in the income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in a foreign curréncy that are not measured at fair value are not
subsequently re-translated for movements in prevailing exchange rates:

- ¢. Branches

“The.resuits :,and financial position of branches that have a functional currency different from US dollars
are.translated to US dollars as follows: ' -

* assets and liabilities for the statement of financial position are translated at the exchange rate
prevailing at the reporting date; . _

* income and expenses for the income statement.are translated at the exchange rate at the date
-of the transaction; and

* resulting translation - differences are recognised. in the statement of other comprehensive
income.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
1.6 SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Company does not fall ‘within the .scope of IFRS 8 — Operating segments, however certain
disaggregation of results in relation to its two operational activities, being Global Banking and Global
Markets and Support. Services businesses are provided in order to meet the requirements of IFRS 15
and the Companies. Act 2014. Performance is not analysed geographically as the Company operates.
primarily-within EMEA. , A ' _

1.7 INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

a. Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability Is the amount at which the financial asset or -
financial liability is. measured on initial recognition less the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amoiunt
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance:;

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly-discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments

through the expected life. of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a

- financial asset (that is to say; the amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised

cost of a financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit impaired assets, the
Company estimates cash flows corisidering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but does not
consider expected credit losses. For financial assets that are credit impaired at initial recognition, a
credit-adjusted effective. interest rate is calculated using estimated future-cash flows including expected
credit losses. N

The calculation of the- effective interest rate includes .all amounts received or paid by the Company that
are an integral part of the averall return, direct inciemental transaction costs related to the acquisition or
issue of a financial instrument, and all other premiums:-and discounts.

b. Calculation of interest income and expense

Intérest income -and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are
recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest method. '

The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the‘ﬁna.n’cial'assef or to the
amortised cost of the liability.

For finaricial assets that were- é:[edit' impaired on Initial recognition, the credit-adjusted effective initerest.
rate is applied to the amortised cost of the financial assét. The calctilation of interest income does' not
revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves..

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities, aﬁd other financial instruments
measured at FVPL, are recognised using the contractual interest rate in net trading income and net
income from other financial instruments at FVPL, respectively.

Negative interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI is recognised -through

interest expense, and negative interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is recognised
through interest in,comg. ’ . : .
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1.

1.8 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) . -

a) Investment banking income

Investment banking income includes underwriting, financial advisory services, and ‘syridication fees
income. The Company accounts for revenues from contracts with customers .under’ IFRS 15.
Syndication fees income represent fees eamed as the agent responsible for structuring, arranging and
adniinistering a loan syndication. Revenue is typically recognised ornice the transaction is completed and

-all services have been rendered and the. Company has retained no part of the loar package for its€lf or

has retained a part at the same effective interest rate-as the other participants.

Financial advisory services consist of fees eamed for assisting ‘customers with transactions related to
mergers- and acquisitions and financial restructuring. Révenue varies depending on the size of the.
transaction.and scope of services performed for each contract and is generally contingent on successful’
execution of the transaction. Revenue is typically recognised once. the transaction is completed and all
services have been rendered. Additionally, the Company may earn a fixed fee in merger and acquisition
transactions to provide a faimess opinion, with the fees recognised when:the opinion is delivered to the
customer. . : : '

b) Card income

Card income includes annual, late and over-limit fees as well as interchange, cash advances and other
miscellaneous items from credit and debit card transactions and from processing card transactions- for
merchants. Card income is presented net of direct costs. Interchange fees are recognised upon
settlement of the credit and debit card payment transactions and are generally determined on a |
percentage basis for credit cards and fixed rates for debit cards based on the corfésponding paymerit
network’s rates. Substantially all card fees are recognised at the.transaction date.

c) Service charges

‘ Service chaiges include deposit and lending-related fees. Deposit-related feescqns‘isi of fees -earned

on commercial deposit activities and are generally recognised when the transactions occur or as the
service is performed. Commercial deposit-related fees are from the Corporation's Global Transaction

-Services  business and consist of commercial deposit and treasury management services, including

account maintenance and other services, such as payroll, sweep account and other cash management
services. : : ' ‘

Lending-related fees gererally represent transactional fees eamed from certain loan commitments:and
financial guarantees. Fees earmied from loan commitments are generally deferred and recognised over
the life of the facility, where it is not considered probable that there will be a resultant loan by the
Company. Fees eamed from financial guarantees are generally deferred and recagnised over the fife of -
the guarantee period (see note 1.22).

" 1.9 NET TRADING INCOME

Net trading income Includes profits and losses. arising on both the purchase and ‘sale of trading

instruments and from their revaluation to fair value. Interest and dividend income eamed from these

instruments are also presented within net trading income. Net trading income includes gains and losses
on derivatives used in the trading businesses as well as derivatives held for the purpose of hedging
foreign currency exposure and any related exchange differences on the Company’s foreign: currency
instruments. : i
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.ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.10 NET INCOME FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FVPL

Net income from other financial instruments at FVPL relates to financial assets and financial liabilities
designated as at FVPL, non-trading -assets and liabilities measured mandatorily at FVPL and certain

derivative instruments used to manage credit risk relating to these assets and liabilities. The net incoine
includes fair value changes, interest and dividends. . :

1.11 SERVICE FEE INCOME

Service fee income consists of charges made to affiliates to remunerate the Company for services
provided or to reimburse the Company for expenditure:incurred. Service fee income is recognised on an
accruals basis when the transactions occurred or as the service is provided, and is ‘recorded within
other operating income. :

1.12 INCOME TAX

The income tax. expense or credit for the period is the tax. payable on the current period's taxabie
income, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, attributable to temporary differences
and fo uriused tax losses.

The current. income tax charge, including Irish corpordtion tax and foreign. taxes, is calculated. on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on-temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, Déferred tax is
determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting pefiod -and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised, or the
deferred tax liability is settled. '

Deferred tax assets are recognised only-if it is- probable that future taxable amounts will be available to-
utilise the temporary differences and losses, .

Deferred tax assets and liabilities can only be offset if the.Company has the legal right to settle: current
tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax-amgunts are levied by the same taxation authority.

Current tax.assets and tax liabilities can only be offset if the. Company has the legal right to offset and
the intention to settle on a net basis. :

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.
1.13 FINANCIAL;ASSIETS»AND LIABILITIES - leAL.RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the
Comparly becomes.a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and
sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Company - commits to
purchase or sell the assets. :

In general, funding financial instruments (e.g. loans and deposits) and traded loans are recognised and
derecognised on the statement of financial position on a settlement date basis, whereas trading
instruments (e.g. debt securities, derivatives) are recognised and derecognised on a frade date basis.

For initial recognition of financial assets classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, the
Company measure them at fair-value plus or minus transaction costs that are incremental and directly:
attributable. to the- acquisition .or issue of the finaricial asset or financial liability, such as_ fees and
commissions. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance ‘is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instrtuments measured at FVOCI,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

as described in note 1.16 below, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss
when an asset is newly ongmated ,

For initial recognition of financial assets or financial liabilities classified as measured at fair value
through profit or loss, the Company initially measure them at fair value with any transaction costs
‘expensed.in-profit or'loss.

1.14 RECOGNITION OF DAY ONE PROFIT OR LOSS

Evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e., the
fair value. of the consideration given or received), unless the fair value of that instrument is ev:denced by
comparison with other observable current. market transactions in the same instrument (i.e., without
modification or repackaging), or is based on-a valuation technxque whose variables inclide: only data
from observable markets. :

The Company has entered into transactions where fair value is determined using valuation models for
which not all inputs are market observable prices or rates. The difference betwéen the transaction price
and the model valuation, commonly. referred to as "day one profit or loss", is not recognised immediately
in the income statement, but rather deferred in other assets (liabilities) where an instrument has a day
one profit (loss).

The timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determmed individually and is either
deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs or realised
through disposal or settlement. Day one profit .or loss is deferred. on level 3 trades and a minimum
threshold is applied per trade which on an aggregate basis is immaterial to the Company. See note 44
for further detail on the-amount of the Company’s deferred dayone proﬁt or loss.

The ﬁnancia! instrument is subsequently measured at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised immediately in the income statement

1.15 FINANCIAL ASSETS - CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The Company classifies its financial assets as measured at: amortised cost FVOCI or FVPL.

Afinancial asset is classified as measured at amortlsed cost if it meets both of the following conditions -
and is not designated as at FVPL:

. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractial
cash flows; and

*  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash ﬂows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the pnnclpal amount outstanding (the "SPPI test").

A debt instrument is cIassnﬁed ‘as measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following ‘conditions
and is not designated as at FVPL:

* The asset Is held within a business model whose objective. .is achieved by both :collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
* The above SPPI test is met.

Business model

The business model reflects how'the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash flows.

That is, whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash-flows from the assets
or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither
of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes, are held to maximise cash
flows through sale, or are managed on a fair value basis), then the financial assets are classified as part
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-equity investments. -

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

of an ‘other’ business model and are measured at FVPL. Factors: considered by the Company in

de‘t,er‘minin_g the business:model f@r a group of assets include:

. Past experiénce on how the.cash flows for the assets were collected;

* How the asset's performance is evaluated and
* How risks are assessed and managed; and
* How'managers are compensated.

reported to key management personnel;

SPPI Test : - _

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the: financial instruments’ cash flows meét the
SPPI test. In making this assessment, the Company ‘considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement, that is to say. that interest includes only corisideration for
the time value of money, credit risks, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with
a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms intraduce expostre to risk or volatility that
are incansistent with a basic lending arrangement, the. related financial asset is classified and measired
at FVPL. . .

~ On initial recognition.of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably -

elect to present.subsequent changes in fair value through other comprehensive: income: ("OCI"). This
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. The Company has niot taken this election for its

,

All other financial assets, including trading assets and derivatives, are classified as measured at FVPL.

In. addition, on initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI to instead be
measured at FVPL if doing so. eliminates’ or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise. : .

Financial assets are. not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the
Company changes its business model for managing financial assets..
. ~~

1.16 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD AT AMORTISED COST AND FVOCI

instruments that are not measured at FVPL:
S A i

* Financial assets that are debt instruments;
* lLease receivables;

¢ Financlal guarantee contracts issued; and
¢ Loan commitments issued.

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss ("ECL") on the following financial

The Company provides loss allowances on these financiai instruments based ‘on internal assessment .of -
the extent of a financial instrumeiits’ credit risk:_

* Atan amount equal to ECLs that result from expected default events within thé 12 months after the.
reporting date for financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and which were not credit impaired on initial recognition ("Stage 1° or"12 month ECL").

* At an amount equal to ECLs that result from expected default events over the life of the financial
instrument: . :

~
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*  for financial instruments on which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
but not considered to be credit impaired ("Stage 2" or “Lifetimie ECLs Not credit impalred
loans").

> for financial instruments which are credit impaired meaning already in defeult, or non-
performing ("Stage 3" or "Lifétime ECLs Credit impaired loans").

12 month ECL is the portion of ECL that result from default events on .a financial instrument: that -are
possible. within the 12 months .after the reporting. date. Lifetime ECL is the expected credit loss. that
results from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Definition of-default_
' A Company's obligor is in default if:

* The Company determines that the obligor.is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to'the Company in
full, without recourse by the: Company to ‘actions such as realising collateral (if held); or

* The obligor is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation(s) to the Company.

An obligor in default remains in default until the Company has reasonable assurance of repayment and
performance for all contractual principal and interest payments on all exposures of the Company to the
aobligor (other than exposures that have been fully charged off)

Measurement of ECL

~

The key inputs in the measurement of ECL are the following variables:

* Probability of defauit (“PD"): the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation;-
* Loss given defalilt ("LGD"): the magnitude of the likely ioss if there is a default; and
« Exposure at default ("EAD"): the expected exposure in the event of a default.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD .and EAD for each future month and for each
individual exposure. The Company generally derives these parameters from internally developed
statistical models based on internally compiled data comprising quantitative and qualitative factors, as
well as other historical data such as:recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties..

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit Iosses measured as follows:

* For financial assets that are not credlt impaired (Stage 1 and 2) at the reporting date, the present

" value of all cash shortfalis (i.e., the difference bétween the cash flows due to the Company in
accordance with the contract and the cashi flows that the Company expects to receive);

* For financial assets. that are. credit impaired (Stage 3) at the reporting date, the difference between

~ thegross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

* For undrawn loan commitments, the present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Company if the commltment is drawn upon and the cash flows that the
Company expects to receive; and

* For financial guarantee contracts, the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts
that the Company expects to recover.
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Definition of credit impaired

The definition of credit impaired for ECL under IFRS 9 includes defaulted exposures as defined by .
Article 178 of the CRR and Non-Performing Exposures.

As a result, the Company considers a financial asset to be credit impaired and étage 3 when:,

* Material exposures are more than 90 days past-due and lor,
* The borrower is assessed as unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without realisation of
collateral, regardless of the existence of any past-due amouni or of the number of days past due.

In.assessing whether an: exposure is-credit impaired, the Company considers qualitative indicators such
as breaches of covenants, as well as quantitative indicators-such as overdue status and non-payment
on other-obligations.of the same issuer.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a déte_ﬁoratibn in the borrower’s. condition is usually
considered to be credit impaired unless there is-evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash
flows has reduced significantly and there-are no other indicators. of impairment.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

For financial assets measured at -amortised cost, the loss -allowance for ECL is presenfed as a
deduction from the gross camying amourit of the asséts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee.
contracts, the loss allowance is:presented as a provision within other liabilities.

For debt instrumenits measured at FVQCI, no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financiat
position as. the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, ‘the loss allowance is-
disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in the income statement at the amount of expected. credit
losses (or reversals) that is required to -adjust the loss allowance to the amount required at the balance:
sheet date.
\
/

Charge off

Loans and debt securities are charged off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the borrower does not have
assets or sources’ of income that could generate sufficient-cash flows to repay- the amounts subject to
the charge off. However, financial assets that are charged off could ‘still be subject to enforcement.
activities in order to comply with the. Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. Any charge off
and recoveries are recognised as a reduction (or iricrease) in the ECL allowance.

1.17 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - CLASSIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The Company classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost or FVPL. Financial
liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except.for:

* Derivative. liabilities held for trading or held for risk management purposes are measured at
FVPL; and :

- * Loan commiitments that the Company designates as. at FVPL are recorded on the statément of
financial position at fair value at inception of the agreemient. Subseguent movements in fair
va,lu'enare: recorded in the income statement within net income. from other financial instruments

“at FVPL.

For-‘fafr value measurement techniques for financial assets and liablilities, refer to note-44.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED).
~ 1.18 DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company derecognises a financial asset only'-when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire or it transfers- substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

‘party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company frecognises its retained interest in'the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the- Comipany retains ‘substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset; the Company continues to recognise the
financial asset.and also recognises a secured borrowing for the cash proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the

‘carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of the consideration

received and any cumulative gain that had been recognised in OCI is recognised:in profit or loss.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when ifs contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or-expire. '

Modifications to the terms of financial ‘assets and liabilities may result in derecognition i it is deemed
that the modification results in :an expiry of the contractual rights: and obligations of the original
instrument, see note 1.20 for further details. '

1.19 SECURITIES FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

The Company may enter into_secured financing transactions to accommodate customers and earn
interest rate spreads (also referred to as "matched-book transactions”), to obtain securities for
seltlement_ and to finance trading positions. Such transactions are primarily entered in connection with
securities purchased under agreements to resell (“resale agreements”) and securities sold under
agreement to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”). .

Resale and repurchase agreements are accounted for-as secured financing transactions. Resale.
agreements are recorded at amortised ‘cost, being their contractual amounts. plus accrued interest, or
mandatorily at FVPL, as a result of the business model assessment under IFRS 9. Repurchase
agreements are recorded at amortised cost or at. fair value under the fair value option election to
eliminate accounting mismatch. Resale and repurchase agreemerits recorded at fair value are generally

‘valued based on pricing models that use inputs with observable levels of price transparency.

Contractual interest coupon on resale and repurchase agreements at amortised cost are recorded as

‘interest income ‘or interest expense, as appropriate. Where resale and repurchase agreements are-

recorded at FVPL, interest is inciuded with changes in the fair value of resale and repurchase

_ agreements and presented in net income or expense from other financial instruments at FVPL.

The Company'’s policy is to obtain possession of collateral with a market value equal to or in excess of
the principal amount loaned under the agreements. To ensure that the market value of the underlying
collateral remains sufficient, collateral is generally valued daily and the Company may require
counterparties to deposit additional collateral.or may retum collateral pledged when appropriate.

Securities financing trénsaction_s give ri‘se' to negligible credit risk as a result of these collateral
provisions. These instruments therefore are managed based on market risk rather than credit risk.

‘Substantially all repurchase and.resale activities are trarisacted under master agreements that give the

Company the fight, in the event of default of the counterparty, to liquidate collateral held and to offset
receivables and payables with the same counterparty. The. Company offsets certain repurchase and
resale agreement balances with the same counterparty on the statement of financial position (see note

1.21 below for Offsetting).
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‘Securities received under resale agreements and securities delivered under repurchase agreements are

generally not recognised on or derecognised from the statement of financial position as the risks and
rewards of ownership are not obtained from or refinquished to the counterparty.

4.20 MODIFICATIONS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

If the terms of a financial asset or financial liability are modified, the Company evaluates. whether the
new terms of the modified instrument are sub‘st’antially different to the:original terms. If the new terms
are substantially-different, then the original instrument is derecognised and a new instrument, based on
the modified terms, is recognised at fair value. Differences in the carmying amount are recognised in
profit or loss ‘as-a gain or loss: on derecognition.

If the contractual terms of the modified asset or liability carried at amortised cost are not substantially
different, then the miodification does not result in derecogmtlon Instead the Company recalculates the.
gross carrying amount of the. financial instrument based on the revised cash flows of the finaricial
instrument and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the. original effective interest. rate (or credlt
adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets).

I such a modification of a financial asset is carried out because of financial difficulties of the. borrower,
then the. gain or loss js presented together with impairment losses. In other cases it is presented as
interest income.

Where modification does resuit in derecognition, the date of renegotlatlon is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for |mpa|rment calculation’ purposes, including for the purposes of determining
where a significant Increase in credit risk has occurred.

A restructure can be considered substantial on a.qualitative. or quantitétive basis.

1.21 OFFSETTING

Where the Company has the legal right to net settle and intends to do 'so (with any of its debtors or
creditors) on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the. liability simultaneously, the balance
included within the financial-statements is the net balance dus.to or from the counterparty.

Central clearing oounterpartaes ("CCP") are individually assessed to identify if net settlement cnteria are
met. Where this is achieved, assets and liabilities facing the CCP are offset.

1.22 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND LOAN COMMITMENTS.

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Issuer to make specified payments to.
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs. because a specified debtor fails to make. payments when due, in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are initially reeogmsed in the financial statements at fair value plus transaction
costs on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company's: liabilities.
under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the Initial measurement, less amoitisation
calculated to recognise in the income statement the fee income earned on a straight line basis over the
life of the guarantee, and the amount determined in- accordance with the ECL model as detailed in note-
1.16. Any loss allowance is recognised as:a provision within other liabilities.

Loan commitments that the Company desighates-as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised as disclosed in note 1.17. ‘

Other loan commitments. provided by the Company are measured as the amount of the loss allowance

(calculated in accordance with note 1.16) with any loss allowance: recogmsed asa prowsnon within other
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{

liabilities. The Company has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest
* rate, or that can be settled net in-cash or by delivering or-issuing another financial instrument.

1.23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash .and cash equivalents mcludes cash on hand, deposits field at call-with-financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid. investments with original maturities: of three moniths, or less that are readily

- convertible to known amounts of cash and which are.subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and bank overdrafis. Bank overdrafts are shown within deposits by banks in the balance sheet.

1.24 TRADING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

. Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities- that the Company acqutres or incurs
'pnnc|pally for the purpose of selling or repurchasirig in the near term or holds as part of a portfolio-that
is managed together for short:term profit or position takmg

Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair valué 'in the
statement of financial position, with transaction costs recognised In profit or loss. All changes in fair
value are recogmsed as part of net trading Income in profit: or loss.

1.25 INVESTMENT SECURITIES
Investment Securities-includes:

* Equity investment securities mandatorily measured at FVPL or designated as at FVPL. These are at
fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit.or loss; and

* Debt securiiess measured at FVOCI. These are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount are taken_through OCI, except for- the
recognition of impairment gains or losses .and interest income, which are recognised in profit or

- loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in Net interest income using the effective interest rate method.

1.26 INVESTMENTS:IN- SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Company has control.. The

Company controls an entity where the Company is exposed to, or has: rights to, variable returns from its

~ involvement with.the entity ‘and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
' achvmes of the entity.

1.27 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equnpment are stated at cost less depreciation and any impairment loss (see note
1.27 below). . } ‘

‘Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated
residual value, over their expected useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold improvements — 1 to 22 yéars
Office equipment —-1to15years
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted. if appropriate, at the end of
each reportinig period..

Gains:and losses on disposals are determined by comparing pi’oce‘e‘dﬁs with carrying amount. These are
included in the. income statement. :

1.28 LEASES " .

Lessorarrangements

The Company provides equipmeént financing.to its customers through a variety of lessor arrangements.
Finance leases are carried at the aggregate of lease payments receivable plus the estimated residual
value of the leased property less uneamed income, ‘and are reported within loans and -advances to

customers. Income .on finance leases is recorded in interest income using the. effective interest rate

methad.

~

‘Lessee arrangements

For lessee arrangements, the Company records right-of-use assefs. separately in the stétement of

financial position; and lease lidbilities in other liabilities, at lease commencement.

The Company made an accounting’policy election not to separate lease and non-lease components of.a
contract that is or contains a lease for its real estate and equipment leases. As such, lease payments

- represent payments on both lease and non-lease components. At lease commencement; lease liabilities:

are recagnised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments and discounted using the
Company's incremental borrowing rate. Right-of-use assets Iriitially equal the lease liability, adjusted for
any lease payments made. prior to lease commencement and for any lease incentives.

Right-of-use. assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease
term, on a straight-line basis. Lease paymients are allocated between principal and finance cost. The:
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant period rate. of.
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

1.29 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-finaricial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impalrment loss is recognised for the amount: by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the.
impairment at the end of each reporting period. -

1.30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short term employee benefit obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave that are. expected

. to be settled wholly within 12 months -after the ‘end of the period in which the employees render the

related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when ~the-.|iabil_ities are settled.

Post-employment obligations

The Company participates in defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes in the Republic
of Ireland and across Eurgpe.
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1.

1.31 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES ‘(C'ONTI‘NUED)‘ . - /v

Defined contribution pensions

The Company operates defined contribution plans to which it pays contributions calculated as.:a
percentage of each- employee's plan salary based on their length of service. The Company has ho
further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit éxpense when they are-due. X

Deﬁnejd‘bene_ﬁt pensions

For its defined benefit schemes, the Company recognises -a net asset or liability, being the difference
between the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period and-the fair
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting theé#t_imated future
cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds ‘and that have terms to maturity
approximatirig to the terms of the related pension obligation. - .

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included ih employee benefit -expense in the
statement of profit or loss.

Remeasurement gains arid losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.
They are included in‘ profit and loss in the statement of changes in equity and in the balance sheet:

.Cha,nges' in the. present value of the: defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service costs.

The i'ncor'ﬁe statement includes interest charged or credited on.ihe-deﬁned benefit assets and liabilities,
the impact of foreign cufrency revaluation and service costs. : :

BAC grants equity-based payment awards to employees of the Company under varicus incentive
schemes. ' : _ '

For most awards, ‘expense is generally recognised proportionately over the vesting period net of
estimated forfeitures, unless the employee meets certain retirement eligibility criteria. For awards to
employees that meet retirement eligibility criteria, the Company accrues the expense in the year prior to
grant. For employees that beécome retirement eligible during the vesting period, the .Company
recognises expense from the grant date to the date on which the employee becomes retirement eligible,
net of estimated-forfeitures. S . '

v

Asthisis a grodp share based payment arrangement, all awards are freated by the Corripany as equity. -

. settled share based payment plans and are measured based on the fair value of those.awards at grant

date.

The fair value determiined at the grant date is expensed over the vesting period, based on the
Company’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. The Company has entered into .a
chargeback agreement with. BAC under which it is committed to pay BAC the market value at-grant date
as well as' subsequent. movements ‘in fair value of those awards to BAC -at the time of delivery to its
employees. The share based payment transaction and chargeback a@greement creates a total charge to
the profit and loss based on the grant date fair value of the awards adjusted for subsequent movements
in the fair value. of those.awards prior to delivery.
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1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The fair value determined at theugraht‘ ‘dateAexpe‘n'séd over thé vesting period is. recognised under staff -
cost whereas the subseqiient movement in the fair value prior to delivery is ‘recorded in service fee
income or service fee expense. : .

1.32 PROVISION R | - v
Provisions are recognised when the Company has-a present legal or. constructive obligation as-a result

of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will-be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Proirision‘s are measured at the present value of man’a’gement’é best estimate of the éxpenditure;
required to settle the- present obligation at the end of the reporting period.

.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS ' ' '

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of accounting estimates:
and assumptions concerning the future: The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. It also requires management to -exercise judgement in the process of applying the.
Company's accounting' policies. The éstimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the camying amounts of assets and. liabilities within the next financial year are.
addressed below. . A :

)

Estimates
(a) Impairment of financial instruments

The Company's accounting policy for losses in relation to the impairment of financial instruments is described
in note 1.16. The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance: is an area that requires the use of
complex models and significant assumptions about future .economic conditions and client behaviour. An
explanation of the inputs, assumptions ‘and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is provided in note
16, which also sets out the key sensitivities of the ECL to changes in these elements.

In applying the accounting requirements for calculating impairment, the Company has made significant.
estimates such :as in relation to establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring
ECL and establishing the number and relative weightings for forward looking scenarios used in the calculation.

As part of the staging assessment required under IFRS 9, the Company applies estimates in establishing
criteria for determining whether the risk of default on a financial instruirient has increased significantly since
initial recognition, considering reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. Note 16 provides additional detail on the Company's approach to determining significant
increase in credit risk. :

{(b) Valuation of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in financial markets are determined by using
valuation techniques based on models such as discounted cash flow models, option pricing models and -
.other methods consistent.with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. These
models Incorporate observable, and in some cases unobservable inputs including security prices, interest
rate yield curves, option volatility, currency, commodity or equity rates and correlations between these
inputs. : C

‘Where models are used to determine. fair values, they are periodically reviewed by qualified personnel
independent of the area that: created them. All models are certified before they are used, and models are
calibrated to ensure that output reflects actual data and comparative ‘market prices. These estimation
techniques are. riecessarily subjective in nature and involve several assumptions. See note 44 for further
detail on the Company's @pproach to valuation of financial instruments. .

(c) Pensions

The Company has an obligation to pay pension benefits to. certain emiployees and former employees of the
BAC Group. The cost of these. benefits and the present value of the obligation depend on a number of
factors including: life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations and the discount rate on corporate
bonds. Management utilises the valuation provided by actuaries and estimates these factors in determining
the net pension obligation or surplus in the statement of financial position. The assumptions reflect historical

experience and current trends. See:note 35 Retirement benefit obligations for further information concerning
the Retirement benefit obligations. '
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND J!JDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Judgements
Classification of financial assets

The classification of financial assets is based on an assessment of the business model within which the
assets are held. The.Company follows the guidance of IFRS 9.in determining whether the contractual terms
of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on the.principal amount outstanding. In
some ‘cases this determination requires significant judgement, for example: when grouping ‘portfolios of
assets managed under the same business model or when assessing the.impact of contractual terms for
contractually linked instruments. ‘ . : :

In order to perform the business model assessment, the Compariy evaluates, among other factors, the
strategy of the business and types of management information used to measure performance of thie portfolio
as well as'information regarding sales from the portfolio. Contractual cash flow information is considered by
reviewing transaction and structure-documentation in conjunction with line of business experts to ensure that
relevant terms are analysed. See accounting policy note 1.15 for further details regarding classification of
financial assets. , .
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G

SEGMENTAL ANALYS!S'

The Company operates two principal activities compnsing the provision of financial services within the Global
Banking and Global Markets business and the provision of Support Services to affiliates. The results of these.

activities are. set out below.

¢

2022

Net interest' income
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income '

_Net expense from other financial instruments at FVPL

Other operating income

Total operating income before expenses and
impairment -
“Total operating expenses

Profit before taxation

2021

Net interest income

Net fee and commission income:

Net trading income ‘

Net income from other financial instruments at FVPL
Other operating income

Total operating income before expenses and
impairment

Total operating expenses

Profit before taxation

 -'Global
Banking and _
© ‘Global - Support
Markets Services o
Business Provision ‘Total
$M $M $M
571 —_ 51
459 — 459
169 — 169
@ — (7
658 178 836
(l
1,850 178 2,028
(1,143) (171) {1,314)
707 7 714
Global Banking
and Global Supporf
Markets Services
" Business Provision. Total
M. ™ ™M
404 — 404
458 - 458
265 — 265 -
51 — 51.
594 220 814
1,772 220 1,992
(1,040) (203) (1,243)
/
732 17 749

. Support Services activities do not represent a significant proportion of the Company’s assets and liabilities,

being primarily driven by support costs incurred and recharged to affiliates. As.such a breakdown of net-assets
between the principal activities i§ not considered necessary.
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3.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The below table shows a disaggregation of revenues within the scope. of IFRS 15 for each of the principal

activities. Further details are below.

2022

Investment banking fees (note 5)

Loan commitment fees (note 5)

Card fees and commissions income (note 5)
Foreign draft fees (note 5)

Other fee and commission income (note 5) °
Service fee income (note 7)

2021

Investment banking fees (note 5)

Loan commitment fees (note 5) ,
Card fees and commissions income (note 5)
Foreign draft feés (note 5) ~

Other fee and commission income (note 5)
Service fee income (note 7).

Global
Banking and
Global Support.
Markets Services
Business Provision Total
M M M
279 —_ 279
70 —_— 70
154 -_— 154
36 —_ 36
50 — 50
610 178 788
1,199 178 1,377
Global Banking :
and Global Support
Markets Services ,
Business Provision Total
$M $™M $M
237 — 237
84 - — 84
. 75 -—_— 75
34 — 34
92 — 92
508 220 728
4,030 220 1,250
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
Discontinued operations

Components of the Support Servuces busmess which had been transferred to the London branch of BANA
during 2021 were disclosed as discontinued operations, with the following amounts recognised. in the income

statement of 2021.

Income and expenses -are recognised in the income statement in prior year in relation to the transferred
components and are separately disclosed as discontinued operations here in-accordance with requirements of

IFRS 5:
. \ B 2021 -
™ -
Other operating ifncome ' : N : 39
Administrative expenses ' L , (36)
Profit before tax o ‘ g 3
. Taxon profit ' : | | | (1)
Profit on-discontinued operations ' N 2

There have been no discontinued operations during 2022.

‘
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NET INTEREST INCOME

Loans and advances {o customers and banks
Cash held at'central banks

Debt instruments at FVOCI

Interest income on liabilities

Reverse repurchase agreements

Cash collateral

Interest receivable and similar income
Deposits by banks and ciistome
‘Subordinated debt '

Interest expense an assets

Interest on lease liabilities

interest,_-p‘ayabl'e and similar expense

Net interest income

Amounts above include:

Net interest (expense)/ income due to affiliated companies

2022 2021
™ M.
842 432
57 —

7 1
78 142
102 3

9 2

1,095 580

(351) (26)

(116) (50)
(54) (92)
(3): (8)

(524) (176)
57; _ . 404

2022 2021
$M™ ™

(175) 13
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- NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Financial advisory services
Loan syndication fees

Invastment banking fees
" Card income"

Loan commitment fees

Foreign draft fees

Other

Total fee and commission income

Card expenses
~ Other

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

2022 2021
M ' ™
239 176

40 61
279 237
154 - 75
70 . 84
36 34
50 o 92
589 522

(116) - (60)
(14) (4)

(130) (64)

{ ‘

459 . = 458

The riet fee and commission income above includes income. of $549 million (2021: $461 million) and expense
of $130 million (2021: $64 million) relating to financial assets and liabilities not measured at FVPL. These
figures exclude amounts incorporated in determining the. effective interest rate on such financial assets and

financial liabilities.

NET (EXPENSE)INCOME FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FVPL.

The table below shows net (expense)fincome from financial instruments meésure‘d at FVPL, other than those

included in net trading income.

Derivatives

Equity instruments

Loans and advances

Reverse repurchase agreements

2022 2021
. $M M
(23 " (24)
-9 —
(9) 75
16 —
) 51
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Service fee income
Occupancy income
Other

ADMINISTRATIVE EXISENSES ‘

Staff costs (see 'note 11)

. Professional fees

Taxes :

Regulatory fees and levies

Occupancy related expenses )
Information processing and communications
Other

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

Service fee expense

2022 2021
$M $M
788 728
44 83

4 3
836 814

2022 2021
M $M
497 534
49 49
38 54 -
- 49 52

- 33 58
-20 28
31 33
717 808

2022 2021
M $M
441 511
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

10.

11.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company paid the. following amounts to its Independent Auditors in respect of the audit.of the financial.

statements and for other services provided to the Company:

’

2022 2021
$000 $000
Fees for the audit of the Comipany , ‘ : 1,334 1,422
Fees for audit related assurance services . 41 15
1,375 1,437

Audit related assurance service fees of $14,000 (2021: $15,000) | relate to Country by Country Reporting and -
$27,000 (2021: nil) relate to. fees in respect of reporting on Agreed-Upon procedures on contributions to-the

Smg_le Resolution Furid submissions

STAFF COSTS

, 2022 - 2021
$M M
Wages and .sélaries , ‘ _ ‘ © - 424 446
Saocial security costs’ . ’ 49 61

Defined benefit and defined contribution pensnon scheme. costs
(see note 35) ) . 24 27
497 534

Included within wages and salaries are charges relating to share based compensation plans as determined in

note 1.31, see note 13 for further details..

The average monthly riumber of employees, including the directors and contractors during the year was as

follows
2022 2021
No. No.
Support, operations and technology =~ ‘ 1,783 1,918
- Trading, sales and advisory - , Y 478 431
2,261 2,349
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

12.

13.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
Of the directors that served during the year and up to the date of approval of this report, 11 (2021 10) were

‘remunerated by the Company and:the amounts included below aré those relating to their services as directors

for the Company based on an estimated time allocation basis.

2022 2021

-$'000 $'000

- Non-executive directors fees 1,138 o 785
Emoluments ' _ 3,870 4,745
Pension contributions — 14
5,008 5,544

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

BAC administers a number of equity compensation plans, with awards bemg granted predominantly | from the
Bank of America Corporation Equity Plan ("BACEP") (previously known as-ttie Bank of America Corporation
Key Employee Equity Plan ("KEEP"). Under this plan, shares of BAC's common stock ‘are authorised to be
used for grants of awards to the Company’s employees.

Dunng the current and prior years, BAC granted restricted stock unit ("RSU") awards to certain employees of
the Company under the BACEP, which will settle predominantly in'shares.of common stock of BAC. The four-
year awards vest primarily in one-fourth increments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date
while the three-year awards vest primarily in one:third increments: 6n each of the first three anniversaries of
the grant date, prov:ded that the employee remains continuously employed with the Company during that
time. The expense recognised is net of estimated forfeitures for non-retirement eligible employees based on
the grant-date fair value of the shares. For RSUs granted to employees who are retirement eligible, ttiey are
deemed authorised as of the beginning of the year precedmg the grant date when the incentive award plans
are generally approved. As a.result, ‘the estimated value is.expensed ratably over the year preceding the grant
date. .

Certain awards contain claw back provisions which permit BAC to cancel all or a portion of the award under
specified circumstances.

Recipients of RSU awards may receive cash payments equivalent to dividends. For awards that are not
dividend-eligible, the fair value: measurement of the award is- decreased to reflect the expected value of the
dividends that similar’awards w0utd be eligible to receive.

The total pre-tax compensation cost recognised in profit and loss for share-based compensation plans for the.
year ended 31 December 2022 was $32im. (2021: $61m), inciuding the incremental effects of the chargeback
agreement with BAC. .
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14.

" FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE. TAX CHARGES

TAXATION

2022 2021
$M M

Current; tax
Foreigntax - _ ' 131 135
Total current tax | 131 135
Deferred tax -
Origination and reversal of timing differences (see note 26) 40 8
lmpact of tax rate changes (see note 26) 4 4 (5)
Total deferred tax 44 3 '
Total tax expense for the year - ‘ , N 175 138

The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the tax rate

applicable as follows: \

2022 2021
< M’ M
Profit before tax - 714 749
“Tax calculated at Irishi tax rate applicable of 12.50% | 89 94
Tax effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax | purposes (2) —_—
Impact of foreign taxes : , 46
Changes in deferred tax recognised on tax losses ‘ 3 3’
Impact of tax rate changes 4 (5)
“Total tax expense for the year ‘ 175 138

Factors that may affect futtire tax charges are disclosed in note 26 Deferred Tax.
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15.. CASH HELD AT CENTRAL BANKS

16.

" . operations.

2022 2024
, $M , - M
Balances with central banks other than mandatory reserve - -
‘deposits ‘ 18,207 14,937
Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks ' . 606 553"
18,813 15,490

Mandatory reserve depgosits’ with central ban

ks are not available for use in the Company's day-to-day

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS
Measurement of ECL

When assessing the probability of default ("PD") for loans classified as Stage 1 the projection IGoks forward
no more than 12 months. - A . : -

When assessing the PD for loans classified as Stage 2 and 3 the Company considers the risk of defauit

‘over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension options) over which the Company

is exposed to- credit risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the: Company considers a longer period.
The maximum contractual period extends to the -date at which the Company has the right to require
repayment of an advance or to terminate a loan commitment or guarantee: :

Incorporation of forward-looking information -

The Company incorporates forward looking information irito both its assessment of whether the.credit risk of
an instrument has increased significantly - since. its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. This
includes various éstimates and assumptions, some of which require judgement. One. use of judgement in
the process is weighting forward-looking macroeconomic.scenarios tised within statistical models. While the
Company generally relies on consensus estimates, any one economic outlook pdth is inherently uncertair,

and as such the Company uses muitiple macroeconomic scenarios in its ECL calculation.
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16.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 five scenarios were used. Thesé included:

* a baseline scenario in-line with consensus estimates;

* two downside ‘scenarios which assume a moderate recession and persistent inflation with interest rate
levels above what is factored into the baseline;

* a tail risk scenario; and

¢ an'upside scenario considered to account for the potential improvement in consensus outiooks.-

These scenarios include key macroeconomic variables that have historically been drivers of increases and
decreases In credit losses. These variables include, but are not limited to, unemployment rate, GDP Iévels
and corporate bond spreads, As at 31 December 2022, the weighted economic outiook assumes that the
UK unemployment rate and EU Developed Market High Yield at the end of 2023 would be around 5.3% and
9:3% respectively. The below table summarises the range of some of the macroeconomic inputs utilised
within the model across-the Company’s chosen scenarios:

_ Baseline scenario Range across scenario
Macroeconomic Variables 2023 2023 2024 2025
UK Unemployment % 44 42-73 4.1-7.8 3.8-6.6
UKReal GDP % (0.4) (3.8)-1.1 15-3.6 08-3.0
France Real GDP % : 0.7 (3.1)-18 07-28 0.8-27
Germany Real GDP % 05 (3.9)-20  1.1-4.1 (0.2)-25
EU Developed Market High Yield Spread % 75 65-186 6.1-134 59-7.9

Further sensitivity information is provided below fo illustrater how changes in the macroeconomic
assumptions could impact the modelled ECLs. However, it is not-Intended to forecast how the allowance for
credit losses is expected to change in a different macroecanomic outiook. As with any economic forecast,
the projectionis and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty -and
therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to- those projected. Considering the variety of

- factors contemplated when' developing and weighting. macroeconomic outlooks such as recent economic

events, leading economic. indicators, views of intemal and third-party economists and industry trends, in
addition to other qualitative factors, the company believes the allowance for credit losses .at 31 December
2022 reflects an unbiased and probability weighted amourit that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes, the time. value of money, and reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economiic conditions. .

Credit risk ratings

In addition to the above judgements and estimates around macroeconomic expectations, the allowance for
credit losses can also be impacted by changes in asset quality of the portfolio, such as increases. or
decreases in credit and / or internal risk ratings within the portfolio. '
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16.

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)

As part of its risk management process, the Company assigns numeric. risk ratings to its corporate loan
facilities based on quantitative and qualitative -assessments of the. obligor and facility. These risk ratings are
reviewed at least-annually or more often if material events have occurred related to the obligor or facility.

- Credit risk ratings are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. As.

well as by credit risk rating, the Company collects performance and default information about its credit risk
exposures analysed by jurisdiction. or region and by type of product and borrower. The Company. employs:
statistical models to -analyse the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of
exposures and. how these are-expected to change as a result of- the passage of time.

Determining a significant increase in credit risk

For a loan to qualify to be treated for lifetime losses (as Stage 2 or 3 under IFRS 9) it must be credit
impaired (Stage 3).or have experienced a significant increase in credit risk. When determining whether the
risk of default- on a financial instrument has increased significantly since |n|t|al fecagnition, the. Company
compares the remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date with the. remaining lifetime PD for this paint in
time as estimated at the time of initial recognition -of the exposure adjusted as relevant for ¢hanges in
prepayment expectations. The Company calculates the remammg lifetime PD using the same methodology,
obligor level data elements and forecasted macfoeconomic scenarios and scenario weights used ‘to
calculate ECL. The Company has established thresholds based on both absolute and relative change in PD,

levefagmg intemal credit risk officers" definition of significant. credit deterioration, In addition to quantxtatlve-
review of PD -and risk rating changes, qualitative factors alighed to intemal credit risk officers'-view of risk
management are considered, including the overall risk rating of the obligor in periods subsequerit to
origination. Further; the Company applies the presumption based on -delinquency, such that instruments
which are more than 30 days past due should be considered to have. a sngnrﬁcant increase in credit risk:

Financial instruments that have been determined to have a significant increase in credit risk are

,subsequently reviewed In line with rating timelines to identify whether there has been an improvement of
: credtt quality in the underlying instrument. - A e

Russia/Ukraine conflict.

TheRussia/Ukraine confiict hias contributed to the heightened volatility in financial and commodities markets,
with multiple jurisdictions implementing economic sanctions.

While the Company’s direct-exposure to Russia is limited, the duration and impact of the conflict are uncertain.

~ As a result, these nsks could have an impact on the Company's business, results of Operahons and ﬁnanc!al

position.
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16.

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)

The Company continues to closely monitor the risks of rising rates, inflation and macroeconomic
environment, including geopolitical risks as they evolve and places-a high level of focus on the selection of
scenarios and the amount of weighting given to each scenario, both of which are reviewed on a. quarteriy
basis. These selections depend on a variety of factors including recent economic events, leading economic
indicators.and views of internal and third-party economists and industry trends. The Company also includes
qualitative reserves to cover losses that are expected but, in the Company's assessment, may not be
adequately represented in the economic assumptions described above. For illustration, factors that the
Company considers include, but are not limited to: changes in business conditions, asset quality, the nature.

.and. size of the porifolio, and portfolio concentrations. Further, the Company considers the inherent

uncertainty in statistical models that are built on historical data.
Sensitivity

The calculation of the ECL allowance is dependent on a number of judgements and estimates as to the.
inputs and assumptions inherent in the model. Variables ‘around stage determination, scenario weighting,
and other macroeconomic forecast assumptions are considered to have the most material impact on the
ECL calculations. for the Company's. third party loan and lease population. Review -of the- assumptions' is
integrated into the Company's risk and govemance processes. As part of these govemance processes, the:
Company has adopted a framework to assess certain risks that may not be fully captured in the modelled
ECL computation. These factor into the ECL an estimated impact from higher-risk segments that includes.
leveraged loans, country-of risk and industries. In addition,-the Company considers the potential for further
losses from large single-name ‘fallen angel’ exposures. The. results of this assessment are then overlaid to
the modelled output to result in the overall ECL provision. Total judgemental overlays at 31 December 2022

- amounted to $136 million (2021: $123 million). Included in the judgemental overlays are post riodel
* adjustments which represent 14% and 15% of the total ECL for risk of failure of significant single name

exposures (“fallen angels”) and leveraged loans respectively.

Whilst overlays to the modelled output are intended to ensure that the Company has appropriately captured
the risks from which credit losses may be expected to arise, the ECL provision remains sensitive to changes
in the model assumptions. To provide an illustration .of the sensitivity' of the macroeconomic scenarios: and
other assumptions on the estimate of its allowance: for credit losses, the Company assessed modelled ECL.
changes driven by stage :and scenarios, shown below:

*In relation to stage determination, calculating ECL for. all loans on a 12 month basis (Stage 1) would

reduce the allowance by approximately $52 million (2021: $46 million), whereas moving all lodns to the
lifetime loss horizon (Stage 2 or 3) would increase the ECL.allowance by approximately $73 million
(2021: $87 million). :

* Running staging and ECL calculations using only the upside scenario would reduce the-ECL allowance
by approximately $47 million (2021: $64 million), wheréas using only the persistent inflation scenario
would increase the ECL allowance by approximately $108 million (2021: $113 million).

* The ECL allowance would increase by $237 million (2021: $221 million). if the most severe
‘macroeconomic scenario was weighted to 100% probability.

While the sensitivity analysis 'may beé useful to understand how ‘changes in macroeconomic assumptions

could impact the Company modelled ECLs, it is not meant to forecast how our allowance for credit losses is

- expected to change in a different macroeconomiic outiook. Importantly, the above sensitivities do not

incorporate a variety of factors, including qualitative reserves and the weighting of alternative scenarios,
which could have offsetting effects: on the. estimate. For example, qualitative reserves are determined based
on a number of risk factors not reflected in the modelled results and could increase or decrease depending
on methodological orscenario weighting inputs. ~
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)
Collective based and other loss allowance assessment

The primary credit exposures.of the Company falling within the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 relate to the
Company's portfolio of loans and advances to third party customers ‘and:banks, as well as its third party loan
commitments. Loss allowances for these financial instrumeits are modelled on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, determining the relevant PD, LGD and EAD using statistical data.as described above and thmughout

this note.

For other financial instruments the Company assesses the ECL on either a collective or an individual basis
using a reduced complexity calculation, whilst still incorporating, where relevant, _quantitative historical loss
expenence data and forward-looking information as well ‘as qualitative informatlon as to the nature of risks
inherent in the instruments. In the case of the Company’s reverse repurchase agreements, the majority of
credit exposure is over collateralised and the Company's .customer and other receivables are typically short

. dated. The Company's investment.securities at FVOCI are held in high investmernit grade assets. As a result

the PD, LGD, or both.are such that the resulting ECL is not significant to the Company. Actual amounts
charged off during the year on these other financial instruments are also not significant to the Company. In
light of this, separate disclosure of ECL allowance or amounts charged off on these instruments: is not
considered neciessary in the financial statements. .

Reconciliation of loss allowance

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by
class of financial Iristrument. An explanation of the terms: 12 month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit impalred is
included within the accounting policy note 1.16.

Loans and advances fq ,banks

Lifetime ECL

Not - credit
= 12month - impaired )
ECL loans . Total
] $M $M $M-
As at 1 January 2022 3 3 6
Transfers to lifetime ECLs - not credit |mpaired loans (5) 5 —_
New financial assets originated or purchased ) 6 4 10
Net changes in credit risk — (5) (5)
Financial assets derecognised during the year (not chargéd off) . (1) 3) {4)
As at.31 December 2022 3 4 7
| Lifetime ECL
' Not - credit
12 month impaired
ECL loans Total
™ $M " $M
As at 1 January 2021 , . 2 : 3 5
New financial assets originated or purchased ' ' 2 1 3
Financial assets derecognised during the year (not charged off) (1) O (2)
Net changes in credit risk ) — — - —
As-at 31 December 2021 \ . 3 3 6
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16.

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)

) . )
Loans and advanops to customers

12month  Lifetime ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
* ECL Not ¢redit Credit
‘ impaired loans impaired
- . loans
$M $M $M $M
As at 1 January 2022 32 4 40 116
Transfers to 12 month ECLs 10 (10) — —
Transfers to llfehme ECLs - not credit impaired B ’
loans (18) 19 1) -_—
Transfers to lifetime ECLs - credit Impaired
- loans — (52) 52 —_
New financial assets. originated or purchased 20 5 5 30
Net changes'in credit risk : - (1) 105 39 133
Changes to mode! assumptions and
methodologies 1 — 5 "6
Amounts charged off — -_ (35) (35)
Financial assets derecognised during the year B L : '
(not charged off) : (8) (47) (37) (92)
Foreign exchange and discounting . -
adjustments 1 5 8 14
As at 31 December 2022 27 69 76 172
_ Lifetime ECLs  Lifetime ECLs
12 month Not credit Credit
ECL impaired loans impaired loans Total
™ ™ ™M $M
As at 1 January 2021 . 42 122 65 229
Transfers to 12 month ECLs 13 (13) —_ -
Transfers to lifetime ECLs not credit
impaired loans . 4) 4 (3) —_
Transfersto lifetime ECLs — credit impaired '
loans —_ (23) 23 —
New-financial assets originated or purchased 14 12 13 39
Net changes in credit risk (19) 13 8) (14) -
Changes to model assumptions and ‘ . :
' methodologies 2 3) (2) @)
Amounts charged off — — (9) (9)
Financial assets derecognised during the year ) - :
(not charged off) (13) (72) (41) (126)
Foreign exchange and-discounting . .
adjustments 1 1 2 4
As at 31 December 2021 32 44 40 116
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16. PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED)

Guarantees and commitments

Lifetime ECLs

Lifetime ECLs Credit
12 month Not credit impaired
ECL. impaired loans loans Total
; SM : $M $M $M
A
As at 1 January 2022 1 44 54 12 110
Transfers to. 12 month ECLs - 14 (14) — -
Transfers to lifetime ECLs - not credit impaired , .
loans {(13) 13 —_ -
Transfers to lifetime ECLs credit impaired . .
loans : —_ 2 2 —_
.New guarantees./ commrtments ariginated or )
purchased 37 16 1. 54
Net changes in credit risk (20) 26 (5) -1
Changes to model assumptions and. '
methodologies 4 1 3 1 5
Financial assets derecognised during the year - '
(not charged off) "(24) (25) —_ (49).
Foreign exchange and disooUntmg
adjustments 1. 3 — 4
" As at 31 December 2022 40 74 11 125
. - Lifetime ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 month Not credit . Credit
.ECL"  impaired loans impaired loans Total
M M ™M ™M
As at1-January 2021 . . 63 95 9 167
Transfers to 12 month ECLs _ 37 (37) —_ —_
Transfers to lifetime ECLs - not credit impaired , o
loans (12) 14 2) —
Transfers to lifetime ECLs - credit impaired :
loans (1 (6) 7 —
New guarantees / commitments origiriated or o ) ) o
purchased 46 32 6 84
Net changes in credit risk: (41) @) (2) (45) -
‘Changes to model assumptions and A _
methodolagies 2) ®) (1) (8
Guarantees/commitments. derecogmsed _ :
during the year (not charged off) ~ (46) (38) (5) (89)
Foreign exchange and discounting
adjustments . — 1 — K
As at 31 December2021. 44 54 12 110.

i
A

Lifetime ECL on Credlt Impaired Loans includes- any ECL on Purchased or Ongmated Credlt Impaired
("POCI") loans. As at 31 December 2022, total exposure amount.on POCI loans is $378 million (2021: $431
million) of which the loss:allowance - provided is $7 million (2021: $17 million).

4

Page 66



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16.

17.

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSS (CONTINUED) .

The contractual amolint outstanding on financial assets that were charged off during the year ended 31
December 2022 and that are still subject to enforcement activity is $38 million (2021: $8 million). -

Impact to the Ioss allowance.of significant changes in the total exposure amount

During the year the exposure on 3rd party loans and advances impacting the loss allowance increased by $5
billion reflecting customer net issuance on loan facilities. Loans identified as -Stage 2 increased by
-approximately $7 billion and loans identified as Stage. 1 loans decreased by $2 billion reflecting chianges in
asset quality. However, loan volumes in Stage 3 remained largely consistent during the year.

ECL on the.total exposure amount increased by-$81 million on Stage 2 and Stage-3 positions, thié increase
was largely ‘driven by the impact of Russia-Ukraine .events, as well as the: deteriorating macroeconomic

environment. ECL on Stage- 1 positions decreased by $9 miilion.

The overall allowance (including ECL. on off-balance sheet guarantees and commitments) increased from an
amount of $232 million as at.31 December 2021 to $304 million as at 31 December 2022. ’

Moadified financial assets

’

- The contractual terms- of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing rnarket

conditions, customer retention and other factors. not related to-a current or potential credit deterioration of the -
customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan
recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set aut in note 1.20. Where
the medification does not resuit in derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying value of the asseét is
recalculated and the difference is recognised as -a modification gain: or loss. The total impact of loan ,
modifications for the year'was $nil in the camying amount of the loans modified (2021: $1 million). The total

amortised cost of loans pre-modification, gross of loan loss provisions, totalled $nil (2021: $43 million).

For further information on thé Company's exposure to and management of credit risk, see note 42,

MARKET AND CLIENT RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

M Y
On demand o - ’ ' 810 1,025
Amounts above include: | a - /
Due from affiliated companies , | 532 948

Market and client receivables relate to cash collateral and trades pending settlement and are considered by
the Company to. be repayable on demand. Due to the $hort-term contractual nature of the receivable
balances, credit losses are not probable/expected due to minimal.credit involved. )
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18.

 Total loans and advances to banks

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

~ 2022 2021
$M ™
Gross carrying amount of loans and advances to banks at
amortised cost 7,565 9,408
Allowance for lmpanrment (see. note 16) . . (7) (6)
7,558 9,402
Loans and advances to banks at FVPL 422 391
Total loans and advances to banks , 7,980 9,793
2022 2021
. M $M
Analysed by maturity '
Ondemand | 1,823 ©1,3M
Within three months - , 3,580 7,212
Between three. months.and one year 612 432
‘Between one year and five years ) ’ 1,740 844
After more than five years ‘ 232 —
7,987 9,799
Allowance for impairment - ' _ (4] 6

Amouhts abové include: .

Due from affiliated companies - , 5,067

' 7,980 9,793 -

7,471

)]

Included within loans 'and advances to banks at FVPL is an amount of $422 million (2021: $391 million)
relatmg to deposuts held as part of certain derivative sinking fund transsctions and are not available for use

in the Company's day-to—day operations.
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19.

)FOR' THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS,

2022 2021
M .M
Gross carrying amount of Ioans and advances to customers at _ . ,
amortised cost A 26,446 23,922
Allowance for imipairment (see note 16) {(172) (116) -
26,274 ' 23,806
Loans and advances to customers at FVPL . 3,569 . 3,257
Total loans and advances to customers 4 29,843 27,063
2022 2021
. $M ™
Analysed by maturity .
On demand ' 200 256
Within three. months . 3,036 1,608
Between three months and one year ! -4,544 3,891
Between one year and five years ‘ ) 16,497 14,422
More than five years » . . 5,738 7,002
30,015 27,179
Allowanca for impairmient L (172) (116).
Total loans and advances to custcmere ' 29,843 27,063

note 24 forfurther details regarding these finance leases.

" Loans and advances to customers includes $13 million (2021: $27 million) of ﬁnance lease receivables: See
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20.

1.

REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

Reverse repurchase agreements at amortised cost

Reverse repurchase agreements at FVPL

Analysed by maturify '

On demand.

Within three months

Between'three months and one year
Between one year-and five years

Amounfs above include:

Due from affiliated companies:

TRADING ASSETS - aa

Government debt securities.
Traded loans
Other debt securities

Analysed by maturity-

\ .
‘Within three months
‘Between three months and one year
Between one year and five years
More than five years !

2022 2021
$M $M
7,501 8,250
1,817 787
9,318 9,037
7,001 8,250
634 113
852 674
831 §—
9,318 _ 9,037
7,251 8,250
. 2022 2021
$M $i
210 289
1,330 1,275
21 70
1,561 1,634
2022 2021
$M $m
118 97
218 79
781 ( 728
444 . 730
1,561 1,634

Distressed debt assets included in the above are presented according to their contractual maturity. Where the
contractual maturity date has passed, or the restilting claim is otherwise to be settled at an uncertain date in
the future, the balance has béen presented as due within three months amounting to $98 million (2021:-$69

million).
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22. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

~ 2021

M ™

Debt instruments held at FVOCI 322 623
Equity instruments held at FVPL 47 48

. 369 671

2022 2021

-$M M

* Analysed by maturity’
More than five yéar‘s: ' 47 48
Debt instruments :

Within three months - 187 459

Between three months and one year 135 164

369 671

Page 71



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT .

COST OR VALUATION

-At1 Janua'ry 2022
Additions
Reclassification
Disposals
Exchange differences
Transfers intra group

" At 31 December'2022
DEPRECGIATION

At 1 January 2022
Charge for the.year
Additions
Reclassification
Disposals

Exchange drﬁ’erences
Transfers intra group

At 31 December 2022

NET BOOK VALUE .

- At.31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

.Lease'hold‘

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Office »
improvements equipment. Total
$M_ ™ M
184 42 226
6 1 7
6 (6) —
— L) (1)
@) 1 2
T (114) (U] (121)
79 | 30 109
11 21 132 |
14 4 18
@ 1 -
—_ "1 1
2 3 (1)
(84) (4) (88)
42 20 62
/ 37 _ 10 a7
’ 94

73

21

- Transfers-intra group during 2022 includes. the sale of leasehold |mprovements of $30 million and office
equipment of $3 million at net book value to. BANA London as part of the transfer of the lease referred to in
note 24. Accordingly, the deferred tax assets associated with those fixed assets were also transferved to
BANA London (see note 26 Deferred Tax).
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23.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

‘COST OR VALUATION

At 1 January 2021
Additions

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2021
DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals-

Exchange differences

At 31. December 2021

" NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

Leasehold Office

improvements equipment Total .
™M ‘ ™M $M

176 36 212

13 9 22

(2) (1) (3

(3) ) . &)

" 184 42 226
85 18 113

20 4 24

(3) — (3)

() (1 - (2).

111 21 132.‘

73 21 94

81 18. - 99

Page 73



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

24,

LEASES

Lessor arrangements.’

The Compa_ny’é lessor’ arrangemients consist of finance leases ‘for equipment and ‘machinery. Lease
agreements may include options to renew or for the leséee to purchase the leased item at the erid of the lease
term. 3 '

For the year ended 31 December 2022 total lease income is $1 million (2021: $1 million), which relates to
finance income on the nét investment in- finance leases. This is refiected in interest income on loans and
advances.to customers ?‘nd banks in note 4. : '

Tt_xe following table sets out the maturity analysis of the Company's ﬁﬁanoe. lease receivables:

2022 2021

™ $M
Less than one year 8 10
One fo two years' 2) 10
Two to three years: 2 4
Three to four years S, N 1 2
Four to five years ' —_ 1
'More than five years — —
8 . : ' 13 27

Discounted unguaranteed residual value ‘ ' - —_—
Unearned finance income - —_ —
Net investment in lease . 13 27

The Company's finance leases include agreements where the finance income is.based on floating rates of
interest. For these agreements, the amounts included above represent the fixed. principal repayments only.

Lessee arrangements

The Company’s lessee arrangements consist of leases for premises. Lease terms may contain renewal and
extension options and ‘early termination features. Generally, these options do not impact the lease term
because the Company is not reasonably certain that it will exercise the options. The weighted-average lease
term was 7 years at 31 December 2022 (2021: 7.5 years). ‘ !

' 2022 ‘ 2021

M S M

Carrying amount as at 1 January- ' ' . : ‘417 465
Carrying amount at 31 December : o 103 417

Additions to the right-of-use assefs during the year totalled $6 million (2021: $4 niillionj).

During the year right-of-use assets tota'lling~ $283 million has been transferred fro’m BofA Europe Loendon -
branch to BANA London. v .
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LEASES (CONTINUED)

Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash fl\ows

Less thah one year
One to five years
More than five years

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position

Less than one year
More than one year

Total lease liability (see note 31)

Amounts recognised in prof"nt or loss
. ,

Interest on lease liabilities (see note 4)

Amortisation charge for the year

Variab‘le lease payments not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities .

2022 2021
M $M
22 35
72 210
24 216,
118 461

2022 2021
$M $M
21 31
92 399
113 430

2022 2021
$M ™M

3 8
32 52
9 15

' Variable lease costs primarily relate to business rates payable as part of the Company’s leasing

arrangements..

During the year, lease liability of $267 million has been transferred from BofA Europe London.branch to BANA.

London.

‘The total cash outflow for leases during the year was $30 miillion (2021: $65 million).
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25.

26.

OTHER ASSETS

- 2022 2021

$m $M

Fee and commission receivable : } ' 84 57
Amounts owed by group undertakings " 257 146
Deferred tax (see note 26) o ' - : 15 g5
Taxaton - : - 138 147
Other ‘ Co ' B . 80 159
574 604

Amounts owed by group undertakings are repayable on demand. The other category pnmanly relates to

internal nostro balances.

DEFERRED TAXATION
2022 2021
$M $M
At 1 January | | * 95 o8
Charged to profit or loss (see note 14) (40) (8)
Impact.of tax rate changes (see note 14) 4) 5
Transfer deferred tax assets to an affiliated company _ (39) —
At 31 December ' ‘ ' ‘ 12 95
The deferred tax asset is méd‘e ‘up as follows: ,
: ‘ : 2022 2021
- M $M
Capital allowances - London branch - A - 43
Timin d91 differences in relation to share based payments London
. bran } 17 28
Tax losses carried forward - Ireland —_ - 32
Goodwill - Frankfurt branch 15 18
Timing differences in relation to. capital gains - London branch ' 2 2)
Timing differences in relation to the provision for loans impairment ‘
~London branch o . (18) (24)
12 95
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

27.

The deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that future taxable profits over the Company's planning
horizon will be available to utilise the temporary differences. The deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Having considered the expected performance. of the business, the directors are

* of the opinion that these projections support the recognition of the deferred tax asset at 31 December:2022 of

$15 million which pertains to the Frankfurt branch and the deferred tax fiability of $3 million which pertains to
the London branch (2021: deferred tax asset $95 miillion including Frankfurt branch $18 million, London
branch $45 million and Ireland head office $32 million).

During the year, total fixed assets of $33 million were transferred from BofA Europe London Branch to-BANA
London. The total value.of deferred tax assets of ‘$39 million recognised on the unclaimed capital allowances
for those fixed assets were also. transferred to BANA London as part of the sale. As a result, the deferred tax:
assets in relation to the capital allowances are $nil at 31 December 2022,

The Company has fully utilised the lrish tax losses brought forward against 2022 taxable profits.

The Company has unrecognised deferred tax assets as. at 31 December 2022 totalling $259 million (2021:
$294 million), primarily in relation-to the restricted tax losses pertaining to the London branch.

DEPOSITS BY BANKS

2022 2021
$M M

- Analysed by maturity’
On demand : . - 812 - 972
Within three. months : 60 464
Between three mionths and one year -2 . 226
‘Between one year and five-years. 26,157 18,983
27,031 20,645

* Amounts above include: : : ' :

" Due to affiliated companies 26,634 20,485
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28.

30.

DEPOSITS BY CUSTOMERS
- 2022 2021
$M M
Analysed by maturity’
On demand ~ 19,672 23910
Within three months - 854 —_
Bétween three months and one year 65 66
Between one year and five years 419 452
' 21,010 24,428
Amounts above include:
Due to affiliated companies _ 1,372 1;228
o /
MARKET AND CLIENT PAYABLES - -
2022 2021
) $M $M
Analysed by maturity:
On demand 984 536
Amounts above incl.ude:
" Due to affiliated companies 265 15
Market and client payables relate to cash collateral and trades pending settiement.
DEBT SECURITIES
Debt secirrities consist entirely of certificates of deposit and'are-analysed by maturity below:
| 2022 2021
$M ™
Within three months 961 701
Betweéen thrée months and one year 106 489
. 1,067 1,190
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3.

32.

OTHER LIABILITIES
2022 2021
$M $M
' Amounts owed to affiliated companies : 170 169
Tax liabilities ' 54 45
Provisions (see note 32) 4 125 ©128
Deferred tax (see note.26) . . 3 -
'Lease liabilities-(see note 24) 113 430
Trading liabilities 1 7
Merchant clearing - o ' _ 142 1
Other : e 284 369
902 ____"1,260.

-Amounts owed to affiliated companies are payable on demand. The other category bﬁmqﬁl’y' relates to

amourits payable in the process of settlement.

Trading liabilities- of $1 million (2021: $7 million) consist of\fair value of unfunded loans managed on a trading
basis. ' ' . .

PROVISIONS |
2022 2021
$M M
Provision for loan loss - “crediil.extension commitments (see note ] '
16) ' ’ 125 ' 110
Other provisions ' — .19

125 129

During the year the Company.released $19 million in provisions it had held at the beginning of the year under
IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Confingent Assets, reflected in other liabilities:

* A $14 million provision to reflect a legal obligation to restore facilities to their original specification in
advance of the planned exit from one.of the Coinpany's premises has been transferred to an affiliate along
with the transfer:of the building lease: For lease transfer details refer to ncte 24. ' '

* A$5 million provision to reflect the expected payment to the UK tax authority; in respect of value added tax
("VAT) on head office expense allocations, has been released after the. payment-was made in the current
year.
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ACCRUALS
2022 2021
$M $M
Employee benefits and defined benefits. obligations - _ 73 - 66
Payroll taxes « : - : " 30 . 35
Accrued expenses and deferred income 26 -38
129 139
!
SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES
2022 2021
$M $M
. US Dollar denominated loan note. maturing.in 2033 and bearing 4
interest at overnight SOFR Rate with quarterly reset plus 217 ,
basis points A , 2,000 -
US Dollar denominated loan note maturing in 2027 and bearing ,
interest at overnight- SOFR Rate with daily reset plus 202 basis _ :
points — 1,000
US Dollar denominated loan note maturing in 2028 and bearing
‘interest at overnight SOFR Rate with daily reset plus 159 basis g o
points . ) — 1,000
US Dollar denominated internal MREL loan maturing iri 2026 &nd
bearing interest at SOFR Rate with daily reset plus 77 basis
points: , , - : 2,000 2,000
4,000 4,000

The 2033 loan qualifies as a Tier 2 instrument for regulatory capital purposes and may only be repaid, in full
or in part, before the maturity date in the event of a change to the laws and regulations that govemn these
instruments that would .exclude. the. loan from being a Tier 2 instrument or the. tax treatment of the
instrument. Early repayment can only accur after giving notice and obtaining permission-from the CBI and
the ECB. In relation to the subordination rights.of this-loan in the event of a winding up of the company, this
loan ranks behind senior debt, ranks pari passu with other Tier 2 subordinated loans but ranks ahead of any
equity issued by the company. . L ~ )

The Minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilittes ("MREL") loan does not qualify as a tier 2
instrument for regulatory capital purposes. The loan may be repaid. before the ‘maturity date subject to
certain conditions being met and provided the CBI and SRB have been notified and if necessary, have. given
their approval for such a .repayment. The MREL is subject to automatic bail-in requirements. This-loan is -

subordinate to-senior debt but is senior to Tier 2 subordinated loans and equity.

All subordinated liabilities due in the current arid prior year are owed to affiliated companies. ‘
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Company participates in a humber of defined benefit-and defined contribution pension schemes in the
Republic of Ireland and Europe.

a. Defined contribution schemeés

e

The main schemes are: ¢

* The Bank of America UK Retirement Plan (formerly the Bank of-America Merill Lynch UK Pension Plan)

(‘the UK Plan") which is generally available to the employees of the London branch of the Company: The
principal employer of the UK Plan is Merrill Lynch International ("MLI"). : -

" The Bank of America lIreland Pension Scheme (formerly the Bank of America Merrill Lynch Ireland

Pension Scheme) ("the Ireland Plan") which is generally available to the employees of the Company
based in Ireland.

The costs of defined contribution pension schemes are a percentagé of each employee's plan salary for the
UK Plan based on the length of service. The employer pays betweén 8% and 12% of plan salary. The ‘costs
are a percentage of each employee's salary for the Ireland Plan and are based on member contributions and -
length of service. The employer contribution rates are between 6% &nd 15% of pensionable salary. The costs

are charged to the income statement:in the period in which they:fall due:

The Comipany’s perision cost for the year in respect of defined contribution schemes was $19 million (2021:
$27 million). .-

b. Defined benefit schemes

s ; . .
The Company participates in defined benefit plans relating to former BAC Group branches and:legal entities.
The plans consist of both funded and unfunded arrangements.

The main defined benefit obligations .of the Company are in respect of German and Swiss employees: There
are also defined benefit obligations relatirig to French, Dutch and Italian employees. ‘

b.i. Defined benefit scheme - Switzerland

The Zurich Plan is a-stand-alone pension: foundation (the “Foundation”) providing cash balance benefits in
accordance with mandatory Bundesgesetz iiber die berufliche Alters-, Hinterlassenen- und Invalidenvorsorge /
Loi Fédérale stir la Prévoyance Professionnelle Vieillesse;. Survivants et Invalidité ("LPP/BVG") requirements.
The. retirement benefits -are- provided either as a lump sum at retirement, or as an annuity, and there are
associated benefits on death or disability. The Foundation is governed by a Board, which is legally responsible
for all aspects of the operation of the Foundation including overseeing the investments and the distribution of
the benefits. ' :

There is equal representation of Board members with half appointed by the employer and half elected by the -
membership. The participating employers in the Foundation consists: of the Company and other Swiss'
subsidiaries of the Bank of America Group and the Company is the principal employer in Switzerland..

The employer contributions are ‘generally made in accordance with the benefit formula (i.e., contribution
credits) plus an allowance for death and disability benefit costs and administration costs but under the plan
rules and affiliation agreement the employer is contractually obliged to pay. additional deficit contributions. in
the case of underfunding. Total defined benefit employer contributions made in 2022 were $2 million (2021: $1
million). . ‘ ‘

[§
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35..

~

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
In respect of future funding:

Al employers — Employer share of the. retirement credits: equal to the total credlts less the member
contnbutlons -as specified in the Zurich Plan rules.

All employers — 3.4% of total risk insured salaries for risk, adminisiration and other costs: 1.6% of total
insuréd salaries for risk benefits in respect of the Foundation's risk insurance- premium and an addltxonal
allowance for the admlmstratlon and other costs of mnnlng the Zurich Plan.

Plan valuations under IAS19 are undertaken annually

b.ii. Deﬁned benefit schemes - Germany

‘The plans are as follows:

ML International Bank Defined Pension Plan is sponsored by the London branch of the: Company The plan
‘relates to former German Global Weaith and Investment Management ("GWIM") employees.

ML Capital Markets Bank Defined Benefit:Plan and the ML Capital Markets Bank Deferred Compénsation
Plan ("MLCMB DCP") are sponsored by the Dublin head office of the Company (for non-actwe ‘members)
\and the Frankfurt branch of the Company (for active employees).

AML Management GmbH DB Plan is sponsored by the Frankfurt branch of the Company and consists of
liabilities in respect of German employees following the dissolution of ML Management GmbH during 2016.

ML IM Defined Benefit Plan and ML IM DCP are sponsored by the Frankfurt branch of the Company These
plans relate to German former GWIM employees. -

BofA Europe Pension Plan 1992 and BoA Europe DAC Pension Plan 1992 DCP are sponsored by the

. Frankfurt branch of the.Company. Theseplans are both unfunded and relate to active members in Germany.

The Company applies a Book-Reserve fundmg approach to all these Defined Benefit Plans, with the
exception of the MLCMB DCP which is partially funded by insurance contracts. The Company is also legally
obliged to contribute to the Pension Protection Association (Penmons—chherungs—Vereln aG — PS8VaG),
which protects the members benefit promises from employer insolvency. These promises are: the direct
responsibility of the Company, There.are no Trustees or other such plan board members.

The Company is consequently exposed to interest, inflation, dlsablllty and mortahty risks, and must have the
available cashflow to meet the benefits when they fall due in future.

- Total defined beenefit employer contributions made in 2022 were $3 million (2021: $3 million).

. Plan valuations under 1AS19 are undertaken annually.
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." RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
b.iii. Defined benefit schemes - Other

The Other plans consist of a funded defined benefit perision arrangement in the Netherlands-administered . |
via an insurance contract held by the Company, an unfunded Termination Indemnity ("TFR") benefits
arrangement in [taly as well as an unfunded defined benefit pension arrangement and a sabbatical program
in France. e

Employer contiibutions: in the Netherlands plan are equal to the ongoing insurance premitms and in. the
unfunded plans, are equal to the benefits due, which the employer pays: directly. Total defined benefit
employer contributions in respect of the othér plans made in 2022 were nil (2021: $1 million).

The below table shows the net pension liability on the statement of financial position arid associated éxpense
in the income statemient. For some of the plans (ML International Bank Plan, MLIB Dublin- Capital Markets
Bank and MLIB Dublin Capital Markets Bank DCP), the currency of the underlying plan benefits does not-
match the Company’s branches reporting currency. For these plans, results were first -converted into the -
- branch reporting curfency, with currency gains or losses being recognised through profit and loss.

2022 - - 2021

. $M A $M

Fair Valué of scheme assets 4 . 105 - 123
Present value of defined benefit obligations (206) (285)
Net pension liabllity on statement of financial position {101) ~ (162)

- Current service cost e ‘ 4 " 5
Interést expense - 1 1
Branch currency (gains)/iosses ' . ) (14)

- Net defined benefit pension expense on income statement . ‘ 2 . (8)
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

At 1 January 2022
Transferred in

Amounts recognised in P&L:
Current service cost
Intérest expense

Amounts recognised in OCI:

Return on plan.assets (excluding interest
“income)

(Loss) from change in experience
assumptions -

Galn from change in demographic
assumptions-

Galin from change In financial assumption_é

" Present .

- Present Present  Fairvalue Fair value Fair value Present Falir value Net
valueof valueof valueof of plan of plan ofplan  value of of plan pension
obligation obligation obligation assefs assets- - assets obligation assets liability

Switzerland Germany Other Switzerland . Germany Other Total Total
$M $M $M $M $M M $M $M $M

|

(126) (150) () 113 4 6 (285) 123 (162)
(126) (150) (9) 113 4 6 (285) 123 (162).
() (1) (W) — - .- (C)] - 4)
— @ - 1 - - @. ° 1. 1)
@ @ ) 1 - — (6) 1 ®
— - - 1) — @ — (13) (13)
(15) 4] - - - - (17) = “n
38 42 3 — - — 83 — 83
23 40 3 (1) — @ 66 (13) 53
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35.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) .

Present. Present Present Fairvalie Fairvalue. Fair value

Present Fair value

valueof valueof value of of plan  of plan ofplan value of of plan Net
obligation obligation obligation assets assets assets obligation assets pension’
Switzerland Germany Other Switzerland Germany Other Total Total Tliability
M $M $M $M $M $M M $M $M
Foreign exchange differences ’ 2 10 : 1 (2) — (4)] 13 (3) 10,
Profit and Loss — 7 — — - - 7 — 7
[o]o}} 2 3 . .1 - (2) —_ (1) 6 [£)] 3
Other change in defined benefit . v _
obligations - — (m - - — ) — Q)]
Contributicis i
Employer . — - — 2 T3 — —_ 5 5
Plan participants ) —_ . — 1 — - 1) 1 -
1 10 — 1 . 3 — 11 3 14
Payments from plan ) .
Benefit- payments : 6 3 — (6) (3) - 9 (9) ~
At 31 December 2022 (98) (100) m_ . o1 4“3 (206) 105 (101)
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35.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

’

Present Present Present Fairvalue Falrvalue Fairvalue Present Fairvalue
value of value of  value of ofplan  -of plan ofplan  value of of plan Net
_obligation obligation obligation _assets _ assets assets -obligation assets pension
Switzerland Germany Other Switzerland Germany Other Total Total liability
L1 - $M $M : M $M C$M $m $M C M
- At 1January 2021 : (136) (172) 10y 102 4 6 (318) 112 {206)
Transferred in ) = — - — - — — - — —
’ (136) (172) (10) 102 4 6 (318) 112 (206)
Amounts recognised in P&L: .
Current servics cost . (3) (1 ()" — - - ®) — 5)
Interest expense — (1), —_ —_ s —_ (1) — (1)
: : 3) 2 ay - — L= ) - (6)
~ Amounts recognised in OCI:
Return on plan assets (excluding interest
income) I - - — 16 — —_ — 16 16
‘Gain/(loss) from change in experierice
assumptions @) - 3 - — — — 1 — 1
Gain from change in demographic
assumptions 4 —_ —_ — — — 4 — 4
Gain from changes in financial assumptions -4 6 — et - — 10 — 10
. : 8 9 — 16 — — 15 - 16 3
Foreign exchange differences 4 12 1 (3) — — 17 ) 14
Contributions
‘Employer } - — — 1 3 1 —_— 5 5
Plan participants » (1) — e 1 .= — 1) 1 -
: 2 1 16 -3 19




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

:35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Present Present Present Fairvalue - Fairvalue - Present Fairvalue
value.of value of value of Fair value of of plan of plan value of of plan Net
obligation obligation obligation plan assets assets assets obligation assets  pension
Switzerland Germany Other Switzerfland Germany Other Total . Total liability
M M $M $M M M $M $M $™
Payments from plan )
Benefit payments 4 3 1 (4) (3) (1) 8 (8) —
At 31 December 2021 (1286) (150) ©) 113 4 6 (285) 123 (162)

<)
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35.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

. The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows and are weighted by the size of the pension liability:

2022 2021

Discount rate 2.93% 0.66%
Pension growth rate- 0.99% 1.05%
CPI inflation 1.76% 1.55%
v - 2022 2021
Life expectancy for males aged 65 21 21
Life expectancy for females aged 65 24 24
Life expectancy at 65 for male currently aged 50 , 23 23.
d 25 25

Life expectancy at 65 for females currently aged 50

The_mortality assumptions are based on actuarial .advice in accordance with published statistics. and past

experience and allow for expected future improvements in mortality rates.

The overall plan-assets (all.of which are at quoted market price) are invested in the following asset classes:

2022 .2021
. $M ™
[
Equities - 31 51
Debt 17 24
Real Estate ~ 24 20
Other 33 28
D
105 123
The average durations of the year-end obligations were as follows:
2022 2021
- Years Years
Switzerland 14 18
Germany 13 16
Other pians 15 18

i
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the-weighted principal assumptions.is: '

Defined benefit Defined beriefit

obligation - obligation

2022 2021

™ $M

{ : . ’ .

Current value as at 31 December ' 206 , 285
Following a 1.0% increase. in the discount rate ‘ A | — —_
Change o ’ (26) . - _ (46)
New valye - - _ 180 : 239
Following a 1.0% increase in the inflation assumption ‘ ' —_ —_
Change : 0 18
New value . . ' , . ‘216 - 303
Following an increase in life exéectancy of one year — —_
Change : 5 10
New value . _ _ 211 205

The plan exposes the C,Ompany to a number of ﬁsk:s, the most significant of which are:

Changes in bond yields '

~ Corporate bond yields of a term and currency similar to the liabilities are used as a basis for setting the:
discount rate for each plan. An increase in Eurozone and / or-Swiss corporate bond yields will decrease the’
value placed on the plans'liabilities for accounting purposes. .

' Inflation risk '

A proportion of the plans' benefit obligations are linked to inﬂétion,, and higher inflation will lead to higher
liabilities: ’

Life expectancy

The majority of the plans’ liabilities are to provide benefits for the fifs of the member, so increases in life
expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities. ‘ : .

Expected contribution for year 2023

Employer contribution to the Defined Benefit schemes for the next.annual réporting period is expected to-be
$2 million. ‘
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36. SHARE CAPITAL . -
2022 2021
/ $M . $M
Authorised .
55,061,000 (2021: 55,051,000) Ordinary shares of $1.00 each  _ 55 55
Called up, issued-and fully paid ) .
- 32,067,011 (2021: 32,067,011) Ordinary shares of $1.00 each 32 32
37. RESERVES )

- Share premium account :

Under the terms of the 2018 merger with Bank of America Merrill Lynch International Limited ("BAMLI Ltd"), a
share of nominal value $1 was issued by the Company to the immediate parent BANA as consideration for
the net assets of BAMLI Ltd. Group reconstruction relief was applied to limit the increase in the Company's
share premium to $9,061 million. . ~ :

Retained earnings : . ) )
The difference between equity-settled share scheme awards costs as calculated in accordance with IERS 2
Share Based Payments and the amounts recharged for such awards by the intermediate parent undertaking
during the year was $3 million credit (2021: $1 million debit) and is included within profit and loss reserves.

Other reserves: '
Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve

The fair value through other comprehensive income reserve represents the changes in fair value of fair value
through other comprehensive income investments since initial recognition.

Foreign exchange reserve

- The foreign exchange reserve consists of translation differences arising on the profit and loss for the current

year and on opening reserves on branches whose functional éurrency is not US dollars.

Capital contribution réserve .
Merrill Lynch Europe. Limited released the Company of intra-group pension ‘obligation recharges of $59 milliori
in 2015. This was treated as.a capital contribution.

Fairvalue
through other  Foreign Capital
comprehensive exchange contribution
income reserve reserve reserve Total
M M M } $M -
-Otherreserves . :
As at 1. January 2022 —_ 1 ‘59 60
Current year movement (4) (28) — (32)

As at 31 December 2022 A ‘ (4) (27) 59 28 -
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38.

OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2022 2021

$M $M

Undrawn loan commitments o ) 41,450 42,342
Purchase commitments _ 216 365
Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees ‘ 474 . 478
_ 42,140 43,185

The table above inciudes' the notional amount of unfunded legally binding lending and purchasing
commitments. : :

The Company enters into commitrrients to extend credit such as loan commitments, standby ietters of .credit
and guarantees o meet the financing needs of its customiers.

Legally binding commitments to extend credit generally have specified rates and maturities. Certain of these

commitments have. adverse change clauses. that help to protect the Company against deterioration in the
borrower’s ability to pay. o A '

Purchase commitments are represented.by open buy commitments to purchase loans, which h_ave not yet
been settled. :
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39.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The following table ,analyses"‘the- carryirig ‘amount.of the Company’s financlal asséts and liabilities by category and by statement of financial posltidn heading:

31 Deceﬁber-2022f

Cash at central banks

Market and client receivables

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to customers
- Reverse repurchase agreements

Trading assets
Investment securities

Derivative financial instruments

Other-assets

Financial assets
Deposits by banks
Deposits by customers
Market and client payables
Debt securities

‘Derivative financial instruments
Financial liabilities designated FVPL

Other liabilitles
Accruals. .
Subordinated liabllities

Financlal liabilities.

Amortlsed Mandatorily at Designated af
cost FVPL FVP

FVOCI - debt FVPL - equity

Total

instruments ' instruments
$M $M M $M M $M
18,813 , — — - S — 18813
810 - —_ - - 810
7,568 - 422 = — - 7,980
26,274 3,569 - - — 29,843
7,501 - 1,817 - — — 9,318
- 1,561 - - - 1,561
— — - 322 a7 369.
- 2,14 - - - 2,714
421~ - - —_ - 421
61,377 10,083 —_ 322 47 71,829
27,031 - - - — 27,03
21,010 —_ —_ — — 21,010
1,067 —_ — —_— — 1,067
- 3,508 — - —_ 3,598
- = il -_ — 71
720 —_ 1 - - 721
129 : —_— — —_ -— 129
4,000 — — — — 4,000
54,941 3,598 72 - — 58,611
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39,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) )

- 31 December 2021

~

Cash at central banks

Market and client receivables
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Reverse repurchase agreements
Trading assets

Investment securities

Derivative financial instruments
Other assets.

Financial assets

Deposits by banks

Deposits by customers

Market and cfient payables
Debt securities .
Derivative financial insfruments

Financial liabllities designated FVPL .

Other liabilities
Accruals ¢
Subordinated liabllitles

Financial liabilities

FVOCI - debt

Amortised  Mandatorilyat Designated at FVPL - equity’
cost FVPL .FVP] instruments instruments Total
™M M M M M M
15,490 — — — — 15490
1,025 — — —_ — 1,025
9,402 391 — — — 9,793
23,806 3,257 - = - 27,063
8,250 787 f— —_ — 9,037
— 1,634 —_ —_ —_ 1,634
- - - 623 48 671
— 1,525 — — — 1,525
146 — — — — 146
58,119 7,594 — 623 48 66,384
20,645 - — - — 20,645
24,428 — —_ —_ — 24428
536 — — - — 536
1,180 — — — — 1,190
- 2,269 — - - 2,269.
— —_ 51 — — 51,
-599 7 — — — 606
139 - - - P 139
4,000 — — — — 4,000
51,537 2,276 51 — — 53,864
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TRANSFERRED ASSETS AND UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
Nature, purpose and extent of the Coh1pany's éxposure to structured entities

The Company enters into transactions in the normal course of business:with various structured entities. which
have been designed to achieve a specific business objective..A structured entity (sometimes called a Special
Purpose Entity ("SPE™)) is one that-has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant
factor in deciding who controls the entity.

The Company's exposure to structured entities relates to-its provisioning of financing in the form of loans or’
similar advances to clients, backed by specific pools of assets. Structured entities' legal forms may vary, but
generally include limited liability corporations, trusts, funds and ;iartne‘rship.

Sponsored entities

The Company considers itself the sponsor of a structured entity where it is primarily involved in the design and
establishment of the structyred entity; and where the Compariy transfers assets to the structured eéntity;
markets products associated with the structured entity in its own name; providés operational support to ensure
the continued operation of the structured.entity and/or provides guarantees regarding the structured entity's
performance.

Consolidated structured entities ' .

The Company does riot have. any consolidated structured entities, because: its ‘involvement with structured
entities does not result in the Company having contral over their investment making decisions.
’ ' \

A

Unconsolidated structured entities

- \
The Company's interest in an unconsolidated structured entity is considered as the contractual and non-
contractual involvement that exposes the Company to. variability of returns from the. performance of the
structured entity. An interest in another entity can be evidericed by, but is not limited to, the holding of equity or
«debt instruments as well as- other forms of involvement such as the provision of funding, liquidity support,
credit enhancement and guarantees. - -

The Company may provide financing to structured entities in the normal course of business. The Company
assesses the risk and exposure .of this activity consistently with other finarcing activities by reviewing the
creditworthiness of the. counterparties involved, the amount and quality of collateral in the vehicle, and the
contractual arrangements in place including for example any guarantees received from other parties. The
Company typically does not consider itself to be the sponsor of the arrangements because it doés not have a
significant level of involvement in the design or operation of the structured entity. In such cases:the Company
* reports this activity within loans and advances to customers consistent with other financing activities.

Commercial real estate securitisation

The Company uses structured entities-to securitise commercial real estate loans and advances as a source. of
finance and a means of risk transfer. The loans and advances are transferred by the Company to the
structured entities for cash, and the structured entities issue debt securities to investors. The transferred
assets are typically derecognised from the Company's balance shieet, bécause the Company transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. Refer to note 1.15 and 1.18 for the
accounting policy that governs recognition and derecognition of financial assets.
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40.

TRANSFERRED ASSETS AND UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

The Company also has exposure to sponsored commercial real estate securitisation vehicles within its loans:
and advances portfolio where the assets were transferred to the structured entity by an affiliated company in
the BAC Group. A \ :

The Company typically -either retains a portion of the original loan, provides a separate issuer loan to the
structured entity, or provides liquidity facilities to the structured entity. These are considered to represent the
Company’s continuing involvement in transferred financial alssets that have been derecognised in full.

The following table show the carrying amount of the Company’s recorded interest in its statement of financial

* position as well-as the maximum exposure to risk (as defined in the paragraph below) due to these exposures’

in the unconsolidated structured entities.

The-Company’s maximum loss exposure.is based on the unlikely event that all of the assets in the.structured
entities become worthless and incorporates not only potential.losses associated with assets recorded on the.
balance sheet but also potential losses associated with off-balance sheet commitments, such as unfunded
liquidity commitmerits and other contractual arrangements. The Company’s maximum loss exposure does not.
include losses previously reécognised through write-downs of assets:

2022 7 2021
Maximum Maximum
Carrying exposure. Carmying exposure
amount toloss . amount to loss
M $M $™M $M
eco interest in the statement. of financial positio ‘
.Loans and advance to.customers o 7 11 10 21

The total size of meée structured entities is $344 million. (2021: $754 million). During the current and prior
years the Company has not provided any: non-contractual financial or other support to these unconsolidated
structured entities.

‘Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety but where the Company has

continuing involvement

The following table summarises the effect on the Company’s. statement of financial position and maximum
exposure to loss as a result of its continuous involvement in transferred assets with structured entities.:
€ :

’

2022 2021
: Maximum - Maximum
Carrying exposure Camying exposure
amount to loss amount to loss
$M ™ M $M
Undrawn loan' commitments 173 184 198 212

The amounts in the table above relate primarily to retained interests in SPEs.

The total size of these structured entities is $4,035 million (2021: $4,684 million). During the current and prior
years the Company has not provided any non-contractual financial or other support to these SPEs.

There was no material income received by the Company during 2022 and prior years in relation 1o these
transactions. . :
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a.

OFFSETTING

Financial-assets and liabilities may be offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position

only where the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there
is an intention to seftle 6n a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

. The following table presents financial instruments that are subject to enforceable master netting arangements

and other similar agreements but not offset. The column ‘net amount' shows the impact on the Company's

statement of financial position if all set-off rights were exercised.

31 December 2022

Effects of offsetting on balance ~ Related amounts not
’ sheet - - offset ’
" Gross Net ‘
amounts amounts
Gross offsetin presented

amounts the inthe  Financial  Cash Net
recognised SOFP SOFP. instruments collateral amount
$m $™M $M - . $M $M
Assets
Derivative financial instruments 3,714 . (1,000) 2,714 (1,683) (544) 487
Reverse repurchase agreements 9,569 (251) 9,318 - - 9,318
Liabilities
Derivative-financial instruments 4,407 (809) ‘3,598 (1,683) (690) 1,225
Repurchase agreements 251 (251) - — — —
31.December 2021 _
Gross’ Net.

) amounts amounts
Gross offsetin presented

amounts ‘the in'the Financial Cash Net
recognised -SOFP SOFP instruments collateral amount
$M $™ - ™M $M $M

- Assets

e e ——— e S

Derivative financial instruments ' 2,097 (572) 1,525 . (587) (435) 503

 Liabilities

e e —— ]

Derivative financial instruments 2,826 (557) 2269 _ ~ (587) (983) 699
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41. 'OFFSETTING (CONTINUED)

4

Flnanciai instruments

The. Company can undertake a number of financial instrument transactions with a single counterparty and.
may enter into an International Swaps and Derivatives Association; Inc ("ISDA”) master hetting agreement or
equivalent ("master netting agreements”) with that counterparty, Such an agreement provides. for a single net
settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreement in:the event 6f default on, or termination of,
any one contract. These. agreements are commonly used to provide protection against loss in the event of
bankruptcy or other circumstances that result in'a counterparty being unable to meet its obligations. A master-
netting arrangement commonly creates a right of set-off that becomes enforceable and affects the realisation
or settiement of individual financial assets and financial liabilities only following a specified event of default or
in other circumistances not expected to arise in the normal course of business.

The Company enters into master netting agreements with the Company’s ‘major derivative counterparties,
‘Where there is not an intention to settle on a net basis in the riormal course of business, the balances have
not been offset in the statement-of financial position and have been presented separately in the table above.

Cash collateral

Cash collateral relates to collateral received and pledged against derivatives and which have not beenoffset
in the statement of financial position. .
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Legal entity risk governance

BAC Group has established a risk framework (the "Risk Framework"), which- serves as the foundation for. *
consistent and effective management of the risks facing BAC Group. (including the Comipany). :

The Risk Framework applies to all employees of the BAC Group. It provides an understanding of the
Company’s approach to risk management and each emiployee's responsibilities for managing risk. All
employees must take ownership for managing risk well and are accountable for identifying, escalating :and
debating risks facing the Company. The Risk' Framework sets forth roles and responsibilites for the
management of risk by Front Line Units ("FLUS"), independent risk management, other control functions and
Corporate Audit. The following are the five components of the Company’s risk management approach:

'* Culture of managing risk well;

* Risk appetite and risk limits;

* 'Risk managenient processes;

* Risk data management,-aggregation and reporting; and
* Risk governance.

The risk managemient processes outlined above allow- businesses within the BAC. Group (including the
Company) to manage risks across the seven key risk types: market, credit, operational, liquidity, reputational,
strategic and compliance risks. .

Set out below is'a-summary ‘6f the Company’s approach to each of the risk types.

a. Market risk |

Market risk is the risk that changes' in market conditions may adversely impact the value of assets and oE
liabilities or otherwise hegatively impact eamings. Market risk-is composed of price risk and interest rate risk:

Price risk

Price risk is the risk to current or projected financial condition arising from changes in the value of trading
portfolios, investment securities or treasury-related funding activities. These portfolios typically are subject to
daily price movements  and are accounted for primarily on a mark-to-market basis. This risk occurs most
significantly from market making, dealing and capital markets activity in interest rate, foreign exchange and

" credit markets.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk to current or projected financial condition arising from movements in interest rates.
Interest rate risk results from differences between the timing :of rate changes and. the timing of cash flows
(repricing risk), from changing rate relationships among different yield curves ‘affecting bank activities ‘(basis
risk), from changing rate relationships across the spectrum of maturities (yield curve risk), and from interest-
related options erbedded in bank products or investment securities (options risk).

Intelest'léte risk in the banking book

Interest rate risk in mé banking book is the. risk to the Company’s current or anﬁcfpated earnings or-capital

~ arising from adverse movements in interest rates. Changes ‘in interest rates affect the Company’s eamings

and capital by impacting its projection of eamings at risk and the underlying economic value of its assets,

liabilities and off-balance sheet items (economic value of eqiity).
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Gap risk results from the term structure of interest rate sensitive instruments that arises from differences in the
timing of their rate changes, covering changes fo the term structure. of interest rates occurring consistently
across the yield curve (paralle! risk) or differentially by period (non-parallel). Basis risk arises from, the impact
of relative changes in interest rates on interest rate sensitive instruments that have similar tenors but are
priced using differenit interest rate indices. Interest rate risk arises in the Company’s banking book: from
differences in repricing, rate and maturity characteristics between its assets and liabilities. )

Market risk measurement

At the asset and liability level, market risk is assessed Aby. evaluating the impact of individual risk factors on
individual exposures. At the aggregate level, price risk is assessed primarily through risk models, including.
Value at Risk ("VaR") models. The. Company's aggregate potential economic expos_ui"e, as.-well as earnings

and capital sensitivity, to interest rate risk in the banking book is also assessed. ,
Value at Risk

VaR is a statistical measure of potential portfolio market value loss resulting from changes in market variables,
during a given holding period, measured at a specified confidence level. A single model is used -cansistently
across the trading portfolios, and it uses a historical simulation approach based on a three - year window of
historical data: The primary VaR statistic is equivalent to-a 99% confidence level. This means that for a VaR.
with a‘'one day holding period, there should not be losses in éxcess of VaR, on average, 99 out of 100 trading

days,
\

The table that follows presents the Company’s average and year-end VaR for 2022 and 2021. Additionally,
high-and low VaR is presented independently for each risk category and-overall. ‘

Year end High Average © Low
- 2022 2022 2022 2022
. $000 $000 $000 $000
99% Daily VaR ) :
‘Credit risk : 21,268 35,889 25,773 19,414
Currency risk 2,312 2,333 969 . 268
Interest rate risk T 2,891 3,998 2047 1,141
Total . 21,495 35,648 25,719 19,769
Year end High Average Low
2021 2021 2021 . 2021
$000. $000 $000 $000
99% Daily VaR ' : -
Credit risk 19,707 19,940 16,604 11,685
Currency risk ~ o 1,109 - 3,107 1,581 539
Interest rate risk 1,056 2,867 1,950 912

Total ' 19,930 = 20,063 " 16,340 11,950

In addition to VaR measures, the market risk department utilises a range of other risk measures including
sensitivity analysis and stress testing to monitor exposures, and manages them using a robust set of limits.
) . . .
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
b. Credit risk

.Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the inability or failure of a borrower or counterparty to meet its

obligations. Credit risk is created when the Company commits to, or enters into, an agreement with a borrower
or counterparty. The Company defines credit exposure to a borrower or counterparty as the loss poteritial
arising from loans, leases, derivatives, and other extensions of credit. '

Credit risk management

The Company manages credit risk to a borrower or counterparty based on its risk profile, which includes
assessing repayment sources, underlying collateral if any and the expected effects of the current and forward-
looking economic environment on the borrower or counterparty. Credit exposure is proactively reassessed as
a borrower's or counterparty’s risk profile changes: _ .

In its commercial FLUS, the Company uses a num'ber' of actions ‘to mitigate losses, including increased
frequency and intensity of portfolio monitoring for moderate to weak risk profiles, hedging, and transferring
management of deteriorated commercial exposures to special asset officers. _

Credit risk management includes the following processes:

¢ Credit origination;

* Portfolio management; ‘

* Loss mitigation activities; : :

* Establishing the allowance for credit losses, which is a reserve-for expected credit losses over the life of
the Company’s lending commitments; and

- o Climate risk management.

These processes create.a comprehensive and consolidated view of the Company’s credit risks, thus providing

.Senior management with the information required to guide or redirect FLUs and certain legal entity strategic

plans; if necessary.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The primary credit risks. of the Company relate to its commercial lending activities. The Company also has.
more limited credit.risk from derivatives exposure.

Commercial lending

The Company's »i:o‘mme‘rcia,l. lending activities consist primarily of corpo'rate'and institutional lending, -in
addition to certain asset backed and secured lending. Depending on market conditions, the Company may -
seek to mitigate or reduce loan exposure through third party syndications, securitisations, secondary loan

sales or the purchase of single name and basket credit default swaps.

The Company typically proviides drawn and committed but undrawn corporate and institutional lending
facilities to clients for general corporate purposes, backup liquidity lines, bridge financings, and acquisition
related activities. While these facilities may be supported by credit enhancing arrangements such as property.

liens or claims on operating assets, the Company generally expects repayment through other scources

including cash flow and/or recapitalisatiori. Asset backed and other secured finance facilities are typically
secured by assets such as commercial mortgages, residential mortgages, auto loans;, leases, consumer loans
and other receivables. Credit assessment for these facilities relies primarily on the amount, asset type, quality,
and liquidity of the supporting collateral, as the performance of the'collateral and/or associated cash flows are
the expected source of repayment.

Impaired loans are measured based on the present value of payments expected to be received, observable
market prices of, where applicable, the value of any collateral that the. Company would expect to realise.

Derivatives trading

The Company enters into ISDA master agreements or their equivalent ("master netting: agreements”) with
derivative. .counterparties. Master nelting agreements provide risk mitigation in bankruptcy in certain
circumstances and can, in some cases, enable receivables' and payables with the same counterparty to be
offset when closing out the trades upon event of default. Master Netting Agreements are standardised in the
industry but are negotiated bilaterally with some terms, credit terms in particular negotiated by the parties. The,
enforceability of master netting agreements under bankruptcy laws in certain countries is not free from doubt,
and receivables and ‘payables with counterparties in these countries are accordingly recorded -on a gross

basis for risk assessment purposes.

In addition, to reduce the risk of loss in the event of counterparty default, the Company usually requires
collateral documented in the credit support annex to an ISDA. From an econiomic: standpoint, the Company.
evaluates risk exposures net of related collateral that meets specified standards. The Company also attempts:
to mitigate its default risk on derivatives whenever possible by entering into transactions with provisions that
enable it to terminate or reset the terms of the derivative contracts under certain defined conditions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

_ Credit quality analysis

The following t‘éble analyses the carrying amounit and credit exposure of the Company's financial assets by
external credit rating or internal equivalent thereof. Where there is no rating, the balances are classified as not

rated. Although the table reflects the. Com

on a net basis.

pany’s gross exposure, the-Company manages its credit exposures.

AAA Ato BB and Not Total Imipairment  Overall
to AA BBB lower rated gross Allowance exposure
‘ . amount
31 December 2022 - M $M M $M : $M $M
Cash held at central banks 13,431 5,381 1 — 18,813 — 18,813
Market and client 10 761 - 36 810 - - 810
receivables .
It.’ca)aas and advances:to 340 6,955 692 — 7,987 @) 7,980
nks -
Loans.and advances to 3,393 16,531 10,053 38 30,015 (172) 29,843
customers o
Reverse repurchase . 1,236 8,082 —_— — 9,318 — 9,318
agreements - - '

. Trading assets _ 15 197 781 568 1,561 ‘ —_ 1,561
Investment securities - debt’ 322 - - — 322 — T 322
Derivative financial — 2,464 250 —. 2,714 —_ 2,714
instruments ) ‘

18,747 40,371 11,780 642 71,540 (179) . 71,361

Guaranitees and . 910 32,275 8734 221 42,140 (125) 42,015
commitments ~ ' ‘ '

' 19,657 72,646 20,514 863 113,680 (304) 113,376

B e —

For financial instruments within thie scope of the impairment provisions. of IFRS 9 (i.e., financial instruments
that are not measured at FVPL), the below table further analyses the credit quality of the instrument by its

staging within the impairment process, between Sta

impaired) and Stage 3 (lifetime ECL credit impaired).

ge 1 (12 month- ECL), Stage 2 (lifetime ECL not credit
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AAA Ato BBand Not  Total Impairment Overall -

to AA BBB fower rated gross Allowance exposure
o : amount
31 December 2022 o $™ $M M $M $M - $M $M
Stage 1 ’ V-
Cash held at central banks 13,431 5381 T — 18,813 - 18,813
Market and client 10 761 3 36 810 - 810
receivables ~ R
Igoa:(is and advances to 340 6,207 - 449 — 6,996 (3) 6,993
anks .
Loans and advancesto - . 3,383 12,067 5,437 37 20,934 (27) - 20,907
custorriers . o
Reverse repurchase - 7,501 —_ C— 7,501 — 7,501
agreements '
Investment securities - debt . . 322 —_ — — 322 b = 322
Guarantées and 910 27,982 4,378 1 33271 (40) 33,231
commitments ) .
18,406 59,899 10,268 74 88,647 {70) 88,577
AAA Ato BB ard Not Total Impairment  Overall
to AA.- BBB lower . rated .gross . Allowance exposure
amount
31 December 2022, M ™ M '. M $M . $M . SM
Stage 2 , s \
Loans-and advances to . — . 326 243 —_ 569 4) - 565
_ banks . ‘
Loans and advances to -— 2,219 2,422 —_— 4,641 . (69) 4,572
customers . . .
-Guarantees and — ' 3,963 3,031 . — 6,994 (74) 6,920
commitments ) : . )
— 6,508 5,696 — 12,204 (147) 12,057
AAA Ato BB and Not Total Impairment . Overall
to AA BBB lower rated gross Allowance - exposure
amount .
. 31 December 2022 R M M $M M M M
Stage 3 X ' ,
Loans and advances to —_ 6 865 . — 871 (76) 795
customers
Guarantees and - ;o — 110 — 110 (11) 99
commitments . . . ‘ :
— 6 975 T (87) 894
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31 Decernber 2021
Cash held at central banks

Market and client
receivables

Loans and advances to
banks _

Loans and advances to

- customers

Reverse repurchase
‘agreaments

Trading assets

Inve;tment securities - debt
Derivative financial
instruments

Guarantess and

. commitments S

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

BB and

AAA Ato - Not  Total Impairment Overall

~ toAA BBB lower  rated gross Allowance -exposure
‘ amount

M $M $M ™ $M $M M

10,635 4,782 10 63 154390 — 15,490

— -1,025 _ — 1,025 — 1,025

— 9724 512 23 9799 6) 9,793

2,654 14,864 9,607 54 27,179 (116) 27,063

787 8,250 — — 9,037 — 9,037

4 29 703 808 1,634 — 1,634

= 623 — — 623 — 623

28 1,067 430 — 1525 — 1,525

14,108 39,904 11,262 1,038 66,312 (122)  66,190.

1,218 30,938 10,266 763 43,185 (110) 43,075

.. 15,326, 70,842 21528 1,801 109,497 (232) _ 109,265

e R, e T s
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

AAA Ato BBand" Not - Total Impairment

Overall
. toAA BBB  lower rated gross Allowance exposure
amount o
31 December 2021 S M M $M™ $M $M ™ - $M™
Stage 1 ' -
‘Cash held at central banks 10,635 4,782 10 . 63 15490 — 15,480
Market and client — 1,025 — — 1,025 — 1,025
receivables ' : : o
Loans and advances to C - 8,872 ‘202 23 9,097 <)) 9,094
banks : : . ' ‘
Loans and advances to 2,654 12,528 5,906 54 21,142 (32) 21,110
‘customers . e
Reverse repurchase — 8,250 —_ _ 8,250 — 8,250
agreements A : : .
Investment securities - debt — 623 = — — 623 - 623
Guarantees and. : 1,218 29,483 5,142 113 35,956 (44) 35,912
commitments : ‘ . . :
14,507 65,563 11,260 253 91,583 (79) 91,504
AAA ‘Ato BBand Not  Total Iimpairment Overall
to AA BBB  lower rated gross Allowance exposure.
‘ amount
31 December-2021 ~ $M - $M $M $M M $M $M
Stage 2 ' ) :
Loans and.advances to. — —_ 311 — 311 (3) 308
banks. . :
Loans and advances to — .86 1,838 — 1,924 (44) 1,880
‘customers B ’ ‘
Guarantees and — 875 1,885 — 2,760 (54) . 2,706
commitments .
— 961 4,034 — 4,995 101 4,894
fe———— ] e e — R ———— ——— ] )
AAA  Ato BBand  Not Total Impairment Overall.
. to AA BBB lower rated gross Allowance exposure
i amount
'31 December 2021 M $M $M $M $M M -SM
Stage 3 o .
Loans.and advances to —_— — 856 - 856 (40) 816
customers . ' : ' . '
Guarantees and —_ — 135 3 138 (12) 126.
‘commitments ‘ . - ' :
- _— s __ 3 o4 G2) o4z
/
N
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Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Company holds collatéral or other credit enhancements against its credit risk associated with certain.of its
financial assets.and commitments. The: following table reflects by asset class of financial instrument the
amount that best represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk and a quantification of the
extent to which collateral and other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk as viewed by managemenit.

2022 2022 2021 2021

Maximum ldentifiable. Maximum  Identifiable
exposureto  mitigation -exposure to mitigation

credit risk credit risk
M $M M $M
Cash held at central banks . 18,813 = 15,480 -
Market and client receivables -~ - 810 ‘742 1,025 993
Loans and advances to banks ' 7,980 423 9,793 391
Loans and advances to customers 29,843 5,840 27,063 6,963
Reverse repurchase agreements - 9,318 9,146 9,037 8,978
Tradirig assets . .1,561 217 . 1,634 317
Investment securities . 322 —_ 671 -—
Derivative financial instruments. _ 2,714 1921 1525 938
Other assets 421 - ' - 358 —
) . ) e : 71,782 18,289 - 66,596 18,580
Guarantees and commitments 42,015 1,213 43,185 112
113,797 19,502 109,781 18,692

For loans and advances, the Company may request that corporate borrowers provide collateral in the form of

‘a first charge over real estate, floating charges over all corporate. assets and other liens and guarantees. In . -

general the Company does. not routinely update the valuation of the collateral held against all loans fo
corporate customers as its focus is on the overall creditworthiness of the customer. Valuation of collateral for
these loans is updated when a loan is put on a watch list for closer monitoring. For credit impaired loans, the
Company obtains appraisals of collateral as it provides input into determining the management -credit risk

~

actions. N

Market and client receivables primarily represent receivables to collateral posted by the Company to cover

* derivative liabilities or other short-term: receivables as a result of pending trade settlements. Credit risk on

these positions.is mitigated to the extent of the offsetting short trading position.or the value of the underlying

unsettled bond transaction.

Where the Company does nct routinely update the valuation of the collateral held, or where specific values

" are not generally available for the value of collateral,-no offset has been inciuded in the Aidenti'ﬁ'ed mitigation -

column in the above table.

Trading assets represent primarily traded positions oorporaté loans -and other bonds.-and securities. Certain
traded loan positions are secured against real estate or other assets, and the Company monitors the value of
the underlying collateral in determining the fair value of the position.

 The Company mitigates the credit risk of derivatives and reverse sale and repurchase agreements by entering

into master netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.
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The Cbmpany mitigates the- credit risk eXpovsure for certain: loans and loan commitments managed on a fair
value basis by purchasing credit risk protection in the form of credit derivatives. As at 31 December 2022,
these derivative contracts: provided notional principal protection of $2,035 million (2021: $456 miillion).

The following table sets out the gamying amount of credit impaired financial assets :and the value. of
identifiable collateral and other credit mitigants. . :

Amount of
credit
impaired .
financial Identifiable Other credit
assets collateral mitigants
. $M ™ ' $M
31 December 2022
Loans and advances to customers 871 669 —_
.31 December 2021 ‘
Loans and advances to customers 856 689 —

The amount of identifiable collateral included above is limited to the total loan exposure to illustrate the
Company's credit risk mitigation on these positions at the year end. Actual identifiable collateral values may
exceed the total loan exposure that the Company holds.

As-at 31 December 2022, the Compahy has not recognised a loss allowance in relation to its reverse sale and
repurchase agreements as a result of the collateral held on these-positions.

The Company did noi obtain any financial or non-financial assets through taking possession of collateral held
as security against loans and advances. ’

~

Concentrations. of credit risk

The Company monitofs concentration of credit risk by sector and by geographic iocation. An analysis of
concentrations of credit risk from loans.and advances, loari commitments and guarantees-are shown below:

\
. .
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Loans and

i e ——— - ¥ —————

Loans and Reverse Debtfinancial Guarantees
advances advancesto repurchase instruments at and
tobanks customers agreements FVOCI commitments
$M $M ™ M $M
As at 31 December 2022 )
Gross amount : 7,987 30,015 9,318 322 —_
Amount committed / - — — — 42,140
guaranteed , )
7,987 30,015 9,318 322 42,140
Portfolio conceritration by '
geography :
Austria | — 54 — — ‘380
Belgium 22 824 — —\ 1,376
Denmark . —_ 152 — — 1,210
France ‘ 455 3,662 - 104 7,523
Germany 2 1,748 —_ — 4,880
Ireland 98 2,662 1,236 — 813
italy 180 2,194 — - ) 1,839
Jersey — 173 — — 194
Luxembourg 402 3,902 -, — 1,486
Netherlands — 1,880 — 26 3,235
Norway — 82. — — 634
" -Saudi Arabia 250 830 —_ .- 1,315
Spain . 2 813 831 _—— 1,480
Sweden ‘ 17 337 — — 1,357
Switzerland — 353 —_ — 1,864
- Turkey 410 428. —_ — -
UAE 125 173, — —_ 213
UK 3,519 8,259 - 192 - 8,934
USA . 2,097 287 7,251 - 147
Other 408 1,202 j— — 2,250
, 7,987 30,015 9,318 322 42,140
Portfolio concentration b .
sector . , .
Central banks 1 — — — —
Central govemments . = — 469 — 322 : —
Non-financial corporations - 17,151 — —_— 30,117
Credit institutions .. - 7986 . — 7,501 — 534
Other financial corporations — 12,395 ° 1,817 - 11,489
7,987 30,015 9,318 322 42,140
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As at 31 December 2021
Gross amount

Amount committed /
guaranteed

Portfolio concentration by
geography '

Austria

{

_ Belgium

Denmark

~ France

Germany
Ireland
taly
Jersey

‘Luxembourg

Netherlands
Norway A
Saudi Arabia
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Turkey
UAE
UK
USA
Other
IS

Portfolio concentration by
sector

Central banks.

Central governments
Noneﬁnanpial corporations
Credit institutions.

Other financlal corporations.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Loansand Loansand 'Reverse Debt financial Guarantees '
advances advances to repurchase instruments at “and
tobanks customers agreements FVOC! commitments
T COSM $M $M. $M
9,799 27,179 9,037 623 —_—
T — — — 43,185
9,799 27,179 9,037 623 43,185
— 43 — —_ 404
22 783 —_ — - 1,411
- 23 - — . 949
. 402 2,336 — 171 7,976
2 - 4,068 —_ —_ 5,749
65 1,827 787 — 532
83 1,575 — —_— 1,156
— 378 — — 418
- 2,944 —_ - 2,840
- 1,738 — —_ 3,460
149 1,234 — —_ 950
2 1,113 - — — 1,395 .
— 259 —_ — 1,517
— 654 - — 2,289
464 ' 429. — — —
524 - 183 — — 214
6,290 8,336 — 452 9,395
1,150 258 8,250 — 263
646 1,590 — — 1,735
8,799 27179 9,037 623 43,18_5_
— 4 —_ — —
— 459 — 623 —
— 15,549 _— — 29,491
9,799 —_ 8,250 — . 542
. — 11,170 787 — 13,152
9,799 9,037 623. 43,185

27,179
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Past due status.of customer receivables

[y

For customer receivables, the Company calculates loss allowance based on a provision matrix, as the short-

term nature of the positions are. such that the past due status is the primary driver in the loss-calculation

(adjusted as relevant for available. forward-looking information). At 31 December 2022 there were no customer
receivables past due (2021: $nil). ’ :

Securily and collateral

At 31 December 2022, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Company is permitted
to use, sell or repledge in the absence of default was $10,089 million (2021: $10,135 million). The actual fair

value of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been used, sold or repledged was $938 million

(2021: $510 million). The collateral obtained is composed of cash and government and agency securities. The
Company is obliged to.retumn cash or equivalent securities as appropriate.

Security has been given by the Company by way of specific and general charges in respect of certain
contractual commitments. The collateral pledged is in the form of cash and security. At 31 December 2022,
the Company had delivered cash and security collateral of $786 million (2021: $1,033 million) against
contractual commitments under derivative liability positions.

c. Operational risk and Compliance risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, people or

external events. The Company- strives for operational excellence in everything it does. The Company has.
designed an operational risk management program that seeks to anticipate and assess-operational risks and

- respond to these risks effectively should they materialise.

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sarictions, material financial loss or damage to thé reputation
of the Company arising from the failure of the Company to comply with the requirements of applicable laws,
rules and regulations or its internal policies and procedures. The Company is committed to the highest level of

" compliance and has no appetite for violations of legislative- or regulatory requirements. The Company

established a compliance risk management program that seeks to anticipate and assess compliance risks and
respond to these risks effectively should they materialise. '

Operational risk ‘and compliance risk maniagement process

The Company is committed to maintaining strong operational risk and compliance risk management practices
across all FLUs and control functions. The Company manage operational risk-and compliance risk in an ever
changing and complex regulatory environment, and with the evolving products, services and, strategies offered
by its FLUs, The company have an integrated set of processes and controls to' manage extemal and internal
risks, including metrics and extensive monitoring, testing and risk assessment processes.

FLUs and control functions are first and foremost responsible for managing all aspects of their businesses,
including their operational risks and compliance risks. FLUs and coritrol functions are requiired to understand
their business processes-and related. risks and controls, including third party dependencies, related regulatory
requirements and monitor and report on the effectiveness. of the control environment. In order to actively
monitor and assess the performance of their processes and controls, they must conduct comprehensive
quality assurance activities and identify issues and risks to remediate. control gaps and weaknesses. FLUs
and control functions must also adhere to Operational.Risk Appetite and Compliance Risk Appetite limits to
meet strategic, capital and financial planning objectives. Finally, FLUs and control functions are responsible
for the proactive identification, management, and escalation of operational risks and compliance risks across
the Company. ‘ d
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d. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the inability to m,éet expected or unexpected cash flow and collateral needs while continuing to
support the businesses and customers, under a range of economic conditions..

Liquidity risk management ‘

‘The Company's Liquidity Risk Policy ("LRP") defines the ‘approach to managing the Company's liquidity,

aligned to group processes and tailored to meet its business mix, strategy, activity profile, risk appetite .and
regulatory requirements and is approved by the Board. The MRC. reviews and recommends Risk Appetite
limits to the. BRC, which in turn reviews and recommends to the Board for.approval.

Each of the FLUs are accountable for managing liquidity risk within the Company’s Liquidity Risk Appetite.
Global Risk. Management ("GRM"), a second line of defence, provides independent oversight and supervision
of FLU activities, an independent view of the liquidity risk of FLU activities. and assesses the effectiveness of
the Company's liquidity risk management processes.

GRM works with Treasury-and the LOBs to monitor actual and forecast liquidity and funding requ?rements'with :
a focus on limit utilisation and trends, and any change in business:/ market behaviour may require a change:in

liquidity risk management.

The LRP further describes the liquidity risk roles and responsibilities including requirements for liquidity. risk

limits, stress testing, analytics and reporting, and recovery and resolution planning.

Liquidity risk. governance

- The Board provides oversight of the Company's liquidity risk profile .and at least annually; approves. the

Company’s Risk Appetite Statement, which sets forth the level of liquidity risk that the Company may assume
in connection with'the-Strategic.and Capitai Plan through the Company Intemal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process ("ICAAP") and Intemal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (“ILAAP"). The Board periodically
reviews the liquidity risk management strategies, policies, and procedures described in the Risk Appetite
Statement and the LRP.

The BRC is responsible for overseeing thé Company's overall Risk Framework, performance against the risk
appetite and the Company CEQ, the CRO and senior management's identification of, measurement of,.
monitoring of'and control of key risks. At least quarterly senior mariagement reports on the.Company's liquidity
risk profile and liquidity risk appetite to the BRC. .

The MRC provides management oversight of liquidity risk of the Company's activities. The MRC is responsible
for holistic risk. management, ‘including an integrated. evaluation of risk, earnings, capital and liquidity. The
monitoring of performance against the Comipany's Risk Appetite Statement is carried out on an ongoing basis
and reported to. the MRC and BRC on a regular basis. Performance is also. communicated regularly to the
Board.
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¢

GRM is responsible for maintaining a liquidity risk limits framework fo ensure that the entity is managed within
its liquidity risk appetite. Liquidity risk limits are-classified as:

*» Board-owned fisk appetite

* MRC-owned management. level risk appetite
* Non-risk appetite

¢ Risk indicators

Limits are monitored and reported dally and a clear escalationi path to Senior Management ALCO, MRC,
BRC, and the Board by limit category:and breach type exists.

- Liquidity risk reporting

Daily liquidity reporting enables liquidity risk ‘monitoring and appropriate. risk escalation, which includes
defined protocols for limit breaches and emerging risks and issues. Regular liquidity risk reports are sent to

the Board, the BRC, and. Senior Management.

The tables below represent the undiscounted cash flows of the. Company’s financial liabilities as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021, with the exception of those held for trading and.financial liabilities
designated at fair value, for which the fair value has been disclosed as this is consistent with the values used

- in the liquidity risk management of these instruments:

. Due
between Due
3 between
: Less - months_ 1 years Due

On than3 and 1 and5 after5 ,
demand months years years years ‘“Total

31 December 2022 Non-Trading : . . '
Financial Liabilities A $M M ™ $M $M $m
Deposits by banks 812 60' 2. 26,157 — 27,031
. Deposits by customers o 19,672 854 65 419 —. 21,010
Debt securities —_— 961 106 — — 1,067
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 71 — — — —_ 71
Market and client payables o84 — — — —_ 984
Lease liabilities » o — - 22 72 24 - 118
Subordinated liabilities — — — 2,000 2000 4,000
21,539 1,875 195 28,648 7 2,024 54,281
Guarantees and commitments 42140 —_ -_— — — 42,140
63,679 _ 1,875 195 28,648 2,024 _ 96,421

Trading liabitities A

Derivative financial instruments 3,598 _— — —_ — 3,598
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! » , Due
between Due
g 3 between
Less months 1years Due
On than3 and1 = and after5 ‘
demand months years 5Syears years Total
31 December 2021 Non-Trading , ‘ ,
Financial Liabilities ‘ $M M ™ $M $M M
Deposits by banks : : 972 464 226 18,983 — 20,645
Deposits by customers: ‘23,910 — . 66 452 — 24,428
Debt securities . — 701 489. - — — 1,190
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 51 — L— — —_ 51
Market.and client payables’ . 536 - —_ — — 536
Lease liabilities : — — 35 210 216 461
-Subordinated liabilities ) ' — —_ 66 2,104 1,745 _3,915
25,469 1,165 882 21,749 1,961 51,226
Guarantees and commitments 43,185 — —_ — — - 43,185
. 68,654 1,165. 882 21,749 1,961 94,411
"= — s ——————— ¥

Trading liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 2,269 — — — — 2,269

The Company has recorded all derivative financial instrument liabilities in the "on demarid” category to reflect
the cornmon market practice of terminating such liabilities at fair value upon.a client's request, although the
Company is generally not contractually obliged to do se. The Company considers it unlikely that, in any given:
period, all of the liabilities will unwind in the short-term. The Company manages liquidity for these instruments
by actively unwinding asset positions to ensure appropriately balanced cash flows. Guarantees. and

-commitments and financial liabilities designated at fair value are showri on the basis. of the earliest date they

can be called. All other ﬁgyres show contractual maturities.
For maturity analysis on financial assets, please refer to notes from note 17 to note 22.
e. Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the potential risk that negative perception of BAC or the Company may adversely impact
profitability or operations. .

The Company manages reputational risk through established policies and -controls in the business and risk
management processes to mitigate reputational risks in a timely manner and through proactive monitoring and
identification of potential reputational risk events.. .

Ultimately, to ensure that reputational risk is mitigated through fegular business activity; moriitoring -and
.oversight of reputational risk is integrated into the overall governance. process, as well as incorporated into the
roles and responsibilities for employees. :

Given the nature of reputational risk, the Company aligned With BAC does not set quantitative limits for the
level of acceptable risk. Through proactive risk management, the Company seeks to minimise. both the
frequency and impact of reputational events. E :
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At the BAC level, reputational risk is r'eviewed" by the Enterprise Risk Committee: and the MRC, which provide
primaryoversight of reputational risk. Additionally, top reputational risks are reviewed by the GRM Leadership

team and the BAC.Board of directors.

For the EMEA region there is a specialist committee, the EMEA Reputational Risk Commiittee ("Reputational
Risk Committee"), whose mandate includes consideration of reputational risk issues (including matters related.
to ESG factors) and to provide guidance and approvals for activities that represent specific reputational risks
which have been referred for discussion by other current control frameworks or LOBs. ’

The reporting of the Company reputational risk issues is captured as part of management routines for the
Reputational Risk Committee. Tracking of items presented to this Committee is maintained through a
reporting protocol, which provides detail such as the description of the reputational risk issue, the
geographical jurisdiction, the reason for escalation and the decision reached by the Committee. In addition,

- the Reputational Risk Committee provides updates to the Company's Board Risk Committee on regular basis.

f. Strategic risk

+

Sﬁa{egfc risk is the risk to current or projected financial condition arising from incorrect assumptions about
external or internal factors, inappropriate business plans (e.g. too aggressive, wrong focus, ambiguous), .

-ineffective business strategy execution, or failure to respond ina timely manner to changes in the regulatory,
- macroeconomic. of competitive- environments, in the geographic locations in which the Company operates

(such as competitor actions, changing customer preferences, product obsolescence, and technology’
developments). . ' ,

Strategic risk is managed by proactively considering risk throughout the strategic planning process, setting the

A strategies within the context of the overall risk appetite fracking and analysing the performance of the strategic

plan throughout the year: Strategic risk is. monitored continuously by the executive management team-through
a number of existing processes ranging from monitoring of firiancial and operating performance, through the
evaluation of progress in achieving strategic objectives and also with the regular assessment of earnings and

-risk profile throughout the year. The executive management team provides the Board with reports on progress

in meeting the strategic plan, as well as whether timelines and objectives are being met and if additional or
aftemative actions need to be implemented. '

The Company strategy execution and risk -managerﬁent involves a formal planning-and approval process. The
Company strategic plans are -set within the ¢ontext of overall risk-appetite-and the strategic planning process

includes an evaluation of the internal and extemal environment and the Group's strengths, weaknesses;
- opportunities and threats. .

. The Company strategic plan is: reviewed and appro#et_:l annually by the Board in consideration of the capital

plan,. financial operating plan, liquidity requirements and risk appetite. ‘Strategic decisions relating to the
Company are presented and discussed at the BRC and the Board. .

Routines are in place to discuss the strategic risk implications of new, expanded, or medified businesses,
products or services and other strategic initiatives, and to provide formal review and approval where
appropriate. Material risks are considered for capital and liquidity planning. Independent risk management,

put, challenge and. oversight to FLUs and’ strategic.

decisions and initiatives relating to the Company.

3
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Regular updates to the Board on business performance :and management of strategic risk take. into account
analyses: of performance relative to the strategic plan, risk appetite, the strength of capital and liquidity
positions and stress tests (which address potential macroeconomic events, changing regulatory requirements
and various market growth rate assumptions). This also includes an assessment of the level of inherent risk,
control-effectiveness, as well as the residual risk cutlook. -

g. Capital management

The Company's objective when ranaging capital is to ensure sufficlent level and composition of capital to
support the Company's business activities and associated risk during both normal economic environment and

under stress conditions.

A strong capital position is essential to the- Company's' business strategy and competitive position, this is
supported through its capital management framework designed to ensure that the Company is adequately
capitalised at all times in relation to: '

* Minimum risk-based regulatory capital requirements (Pillar 1 capital set out in I\Regulation (EU) No
575/2013), Pillar 2 additional own funds requirements set by the: ECB; as well as buffer requirements set
out in Directive 2013/36/EU and O-Sli buffer set by the ECB and the CBI. In addition, an internalcapital
buffer above those prescribed in regulation is also maintained.. ’ . .

* Therisks faced by the Companiy through regular review of the current and future business' activities.

* Upcoming-and future regulations impacting the Company.

The framework. used to manage capital within the Company is. supported by regular point in time capital -
calculations and reporting, supplemented by forward looking projection  and stress testing. Each step of the
process is supported by-established contrals. This includes weekly, monthly and quarterly reporting to ensure
there Is' sufficient oversight to enable effective .management of its capital ‘adequacy position within. the
Company's risk appetite limits. Escalation of issues are-driven by specific triggers. ’ :

1

The composition of the Company's regulatory capital is as follows. \
: . 2022 2021
' ' $M .$M
Common Equity Tier 1 (equity share capital and reserves) 12,221 1 1,846
Tier 2 (qualifying long-term:subordinated liabilities) S 2,000 2,000 -
° {
Total capital resources ' - 14,221 13,846

-

As at the end of the current and prior years the Cdmpany .exceeded external capital requirements. Capital

resources for current and prior years are not inclusive of audited current (prior) year profits.

Company information is included as part of the Pillar.3. disclosures of the Company made ‘available on the:
firm's website in accordance with part eight of the .capital requirements regulations, this can be obtained via

http://investor.bankofamerica.com.

The Company makes country by country reporting disclosures as required under capital requirements, this. -
can be obtained.via hitp://investor.bankofamerica.com. ’
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h. Climate risk

Risks may.span across multiple key risk types. One example of this. is climate risk. Climate risk is the risk that

climate change or actions taken to mitigate climate change expose the Company to adverse impacts on its
reputation, profitability or operations. : ‘ _

Climate-related risks-are divided into two major categories:.

B Physical Risks: Risks related to the physical impacts of climate change, driven by extreme weather |
e\_/en'ts such as hurricanes and floods, as well as chronic longer-term' shifts such ‘as rising average
- global témperatures-and sea lavels; and - ‘

. Transition Risks: Risks rel'ated'io the transition to a low-carbon economy, which may entail extensive
policy, legal, technology and market changes. ‘

Physical risks .of climate change, such as more frequent and severe extreme weather events, can increase

credit risk by diminishing borrowers' repayment capacity or collateral values, .or ¢an increase operational risk:

through the impact on the Company’s facilities, employees,. customers or vendors. Transition risks of climate
change may amplify credit risks through the financial impacts of changes in policy, technology or the market
on the.Company or its counterparties. Unanticipated market changes can lead to sudden price adjustments
and give rise to-heightened market risk. Reputational risk can arise if the Company-do not meet its climate-
related commitments. ‘ ) ‘
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INTEREST RATE BENCHMARK REFORM » ' ,

After 31 December 2021, ICE Benchimark Administration ("IBA") ceased publishing GBP, EUR, CHF and JPY
LIBOR settings and one-week and two-month USD LIBOR settings, However, certain LIBOR seftings that
became no longer representative are being published using a modified calculation (i.e., on a “synthetic®
basis). The remaining USD LIBOR settings (i.e., overnight, one month, three month, six month and twelve
month) will cease or become non-representative immediately after June 30, 2023.

The following table summarises the significant exposures impacted by interest rate benchmark reform as at
31 Deceinber2022: . .

USD LiBOR Other LIBOR

M “$M

Non derivative financial assets 4,944 : —_
Non derivative ﬁnancial’liabilitieg, : T —— ’ 46
Derivatives : % 4,218 5
Guarantees and comimitments 10,566 —
, 19,728 51

Exp@sures'dls,cl.osed represent management's assessment of positions with contractual maturities after.31
December 2022, which have yet to transition. Balances are reported using the notional contract amount for all

instruments.
For-non-derivative instruments such as loan contracts that may be drawn in muitiple currencies, the exposure-
amounts reflect the currency -and therefore index the funded amount, if drawn. If undrawn, exposure is.
categorised to the currency and index which refiects the. primary currency for the facility.

For derivative instruments, where contracts have both pay and receive legs with eéxposure to benchmark
reform such as cross currency swaps, the notional contract amount is disclosed for both legs.

!

The following table relates to comparatives as at 31 Deceniber 2021:

uspD GBP CHF EUR Other

LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR EONIA LIBOR

N $M ™ ™ $M ™

Non derivative financial assets 9,909 756 — — 5
Derivatives . 6,459 1410 - —_ 224 —_
Guarantees and commitments 8,436 3,146 214 — 27
24,804 5,311 214 224 32
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

a) Valuation models

‘In accordance with IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, financiat Iristruments-carried at fair value have been

categorised into a three-level fair value hierarchy based on' the pnonty 'of the inputs fo the valuation technigue.
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. or
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Financial instruments are considered Level 1 when valuations are-based on quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 financial instruments are valued using quoted prices for similar assets or

‘liabilities; quoted prices in markets that d@re not active; or models: using inputs that are observable or can be

corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the .assets or liabilities. Financial
instruimients are considered Level 3 when their values are determined using pricing models; discounted cash
flow methodologies or similar techniques and at least one significant model @ssumption or input is
unobservable.

i) Trading assets and liabilitiés

The fair values of trading-assets-and liabilities are primarily based on actively traded markets where prices are
based on either direct market quotes .or observed transactions. Liquidity is a significant factor in the
determination of the fair values of trading account assets and liabilities. In l_‘e‘ss liquid markets, market price.
quotes may not be readily available. Some of these instruments are valued using a net asset value approach,
which considers the value. of the underlying assets. In these instances, fair value is determined based on’
limited available market information and other factors, principally from reviewing the issuer's financial
statements and changes in credit ratings made by one or more ratmg.agencies

ii) Derivative assets and liabilities

The fair values of derivative assets and liabilities traded in the OTC market are determined using quantitative.
models that require the use of muitiple market inputs including interest rates, prices, and indices to generate:

-continuous yield or pricing curves and volatility factors, which are used to value the position. The majority of

market inputs dre actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market
transactions and third-party pricing services. When third party pricing services are used, the methods' and
assumptions are reviewed by the Company. Estimation risk is greater for derivative asset and liability positions.
that are either option-based or have longer matirity dates where observable market inputs are less readily
available, or are unobsewable, in which case, quantitative-based extrapolations of rate, price or index
scenarios are used in- determining fair values. The fair values of derivative assets and liabilities include
adjustments for market liquidity, counterparty credit quality and other deal spécific factors, where appropriate.
Derivative assets and liabilities considered Level 3 relate to interest rate swaps and credit default swaps.

. In addition, the Company incorporates within its fair valus measurements of OTC derivatives a valuation

adjustment to reflect the credit risk associated with the net position. Positions are netted by counterparty, and

‘the fair value for net long exposures is-adjusted for couhterparty credit risk whilst the fair value for net short

exposures is adjusted for the Company’s own credit risk. The. Company also incorporates a funding valuation
adjustment within its fair value measurements to include funding costs on uncollateralised derivatives and
derivatives. where the Company is not permitted to use the collateral it receives. An estimate of severity of loss

is also used in the determination of fair value, primarily based on market data.

iij) Resale agreements

“The fair value for certain resale agreements is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which

incorporates inputs such as interest rate yield curves. Resale agreements which are measured at fair value,
are generally classrﬁed as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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iv) Other investments

The fair value of other investments is determined by using quantitative models that require the use of valuation
techniques. As these securities are riot actively traded or where quoted prices are unavailable, the Company:
utifises comparable trading multiples in arriving at the valuation for these positions. Management determines
comparable public companies and calculates a trading multiple for each comparable company identified using
other observable inputs. The trading. multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and
differences between the comparable companies based on company specific. facts and circumstances. Where
possible, management corroborates fair value with observations of market transactions of the same underlying
instrumerits between knowledgeable and willing parties in arm’s length transactions.

- - \ .

v) Debt securities at FVOCI

The fair value ‘of debt securities at FVOCI are based on both actively traded markets where prices are based
on direct market quotes or observed transactions, and markets that are not considered to be active biit are
valued based on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing Sources supported by
observable inputs. e .

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and are therefore classified

within Level 1, including US" government treasury bills and certain non-US sovereign ‘obligations. The
Company does not adjust the quoted price for these instruments. .

b) Financial instruments measured at fair value — Fair value hierarchy

The table below presents the carrying value of financial instruments held at fair value across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy at-31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.
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Fair value meastirément as at 31 December

2022
' Level 1 Level2  _ Level3 Total
$M M M $M
Loans and advances to banks A 422 - — 422
Loans and advances to customers - — 3,217 352 ° 3,569
Reverse repurchase agreements — 1817 — 1,817
Trading assets. . — 752 809 1,561
Derivative financial instruments - 2,493 221 2,714
Investment securities : 131 191 .47 369
Total-assets - : 553 8,470 1,429 10,452
Trading liabilities ‘ T I — ]
Derivative financial instruments : — 3,39 202 13,598
Financial liabilities designated at fair' value- —_ 64 v 7 71
Total liabilities T 3,461 208 3,670
Fair value. measurement as at 31 December
2021
Level1  Level2 Level 3 Total
M $M L $M
Loans and advances te baﬁks '391 —_ . = '391
Loans and advances to customers C —_ 3,201 56 3,257
Reverse repurchase agreements - —_— 787 - 787
Trading assets 5 29 1,054 . 851 - 1,634
Derivative financial instruments — . 1,498 27 1,525
Investment securities 57 566 48 T4
Total assets ’ 477 7,106 682 ' 8,265
Trading liabilities — 7 — 7
Derivative financial instruments , _— 2,256 13 2;2'59
Financial liabilities designated at fair value : — 35 - 16 51
Total liabilities . — 2,298 29 .2,327

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are -assessed on a quarterly basis and the policy for
determining a transfer amount is consistent. for transfers in and-transfers out. During 2022, there were
transfers of financial instruments. of $nil (2021: $116 million) between Level 1 and Level 2 of-the fair_ value
hierarchy for certain government securities ‘within investment securities due to a change in dlrect price
' observability of these assets. For transfers into and from Level 3, see note (c) below.
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c) Level 3 fair value measurement

Level 3 derivative contracts primarily relate to interest rate: and’ inflation-linked derivatives that have
unobservable model valuation inputs (e.g. unobservable correlation).

Level 3 trading assets and loans primarily relate to loans that have unobservable rﬁodel valuation inputs.

Level 3 inputs relate to mark to model financial instruments having- unobservable model inputs that have an
+ overall significant impact on'the financial instrument fair value. This is true whether the financial instrument is
considered a cash security, securitised product or structured derivative.

N

Classification on Level 3 is a result of failure to be classified on -either Levels 1 or 2. It is important to note

some key points regarding the use of Level 3 inputs for the purposes of estimating fair value: -

* Unobservable inputs can only be used in the absence of reliable observable market data.
* I unobservable inputs are used, they must. reflect the assumptions market participants would use when
_ pricing the asset or liability, -including assumptions about risk: if the Company’s own data is used to
develop unobservable inputs; this should be adjusted if reasonably available information suggests other
market participants would use different data. ’ ‘
* Assumptions :about risk include the risk or uncertainty inherent in a particular valuation model used to
estimate fair value, as well as the inputs used by the valuation model. A fair valiie estimate produced from
a valuation model must be adjusted for these risks if a market-participant would do so in their pricing of an
asset or liability. Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques
that require.inputs. that are both unobservable and are significant to the overall fair value measurement are
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. : ‘ ,

i)-Reconciliation

The table below presents a reconciliation of alf Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value. Level 3
assets were $1,429 million as of 31 December2022 (2021: $682 million).and represented 14% (2021: 8%) of
assets measured at fair value. Level 3 liabilities were $209 million as of 31 December 2022 and represented
6% (2021: $29 million 1%) of liabilities measured at fair value. ‘
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Balance at 1
January 2022

Total gains/(losses
-recognised within the
income statement
Purchases

Sales

Issuances
Settlements
Transfer into Level 3
Transfer out Level 3
Transfers between
businesses

Balance at 31
December 2022

Unrealised gains/
(losses)

Loans and ] Financial
advances Derivative ) liabilities
to Trading assets Investment Derivative designated
customers assets 4 securities liabilities atfair value Total
$M $M $M $M ™ ™ $M
56 - 551 27 48 (13 (16) 653
-(5) 21 218 1) (212) 9 30
33 789 .= —_ - — 822
(11) (20} — - — - @
45 — —_ — —_— - 45 -
(12) (504) 9 — 8 — (517)
246 37 3 —_ 3) —_— 283
— (18) - 18 - —_ -
— (65) ~ — — - — (65
352 809 221 47 (202) - (7)) 1,220
(5) 13 218 ) 212) 9 22

Unrealised gains/(losses) relate to profit or loss from positions stilt held .at year end and are included within net
trading revenues. Total gains/(losses) recognised throughout the year are included within net trading revenues.

The transfers into Level 3 from Level 2 auring the year were due to lack of observable market pricing data
subsequent to purchase. The transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2 during the year were due to increased
availability of observable pricing data on underlying positions. '
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Loans and : : : Financial

.advances o . liabilities:
to Trading Derivative Investment Derivative designated
customers  assets assets securities liabilites atfairvalue Total
$m ™ .M M $™M : M- M
Balance at 1 January , A o _ .
2021 1,016 637 39 . 48 -(14) — 1,726
Total gains/(losses) '
recognised within the- , . . . L
.- income. statement (4) (22) 8) — (3) (16) 53)
Purchases ' — 277 — — —_ -— 277
Sales : " (76d)  (178) - —_ — —  (942)
_Issudnces ' 6 @ — —_ — - - 6
Settlements (202) . (175) (4) — 4 — @)
Transfer into level 3 4 19 — — —_ —_ 23
Transfer out of level ‘ .
3 | — (7 — - = — . M
Balance at:31 ' : A
December 2021 56 551 27 48 (13) __(16) 653
Unréalised gains/ o . ' A L
(osses) = - (19  (85) (8) — (4) (16) _ (132)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ii) Unobservable inputs used.in measuring fair value

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

31 December 2022 '
. : . Significant b + Input Fair  Fair
.Product \1’-:2:3:‘;"3‘& Unobservable Unit ::'o‘::,‘;t :_""p'i"t Weighted Value Value ,
. echniq inputs 9N Average Assets Liabilities
- $M M ‘
Loans and Discounted | Yield % —_ 25 10 262 (2
:g\éagcles and |cash flow
ded loans — P .8 — j
backed by Pnce~ 3 100 | 75
commercial
real estate .
Lgans and 4 Dis‘%ofttmt'ed Yield % 5§ 143 15 899 (5)
advances and |cash flow, ; 0 10 ‘ ' '
traded loans ~ {Market str:gzyment % ' 20 15
commercial comparable
loans Default rate % 3 4 4
Loss severity % 35. 40, 38
Price. s —_ 157 | 75
Long-dated % — —_ n/a
equity
| volatilities .
Equities Dis%o#nted Yield % 5 43 15 47
cash flow, 9 10
Market sP;ggzyment % 20 15
Comparable |- ) :
Default rate % 3 4 4
Loss severity % 35 |40 |38
Price $. |— |157 |75
Long-dated % - — n/a
equi .
volatilities
gtte;estti Rate lt:'gugtqa " Correlation (IR/IR) | % (35) | 89 67 206 (202)
erivatives standar . : in.
derivative Corlfelaﬁon (FXMR) | % 11 58 43 :
pricing Long-dated % - 39 1
inflation rates
| Long-dated % — |5 2
inflation volatilities
Interest rate % — 2 1
. volatilities:
Credit Discounted | Creditspreads - | Points | 3 63 |22 15
derivatives gatghhﬂovt'ih Upfront points Points [— 100 |83
- chastic- | Prepayment % 15 |15 |na
recovery. ; :
correlation | speed )
mode! Default rate % 2 2 n\a
Credit correlation | % 18 53 44
Price $ — 151 | 63
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

31 December 2021

Product Valuation Significant Unit input Input 4Input' Fair Fair
. Technique  Unobservable Low High Weighted Value Value _
~ Inputs Average Assets Liabilities
: M $M

loansand = [Discounted | Yield % —_ 25. 4 394 (16)

advances and |cash flow -

traded loaris -

backed by .

commercial .

real estate Price $ —_ 100 |57

Loans and. Discounted . Yigl,d % —_ 19 10 213 —_

advances and ﬁ:&é’t"w Prepaymentspeed| % |10 |20 |16 ,

comimercial comparables |

loans P Default rate % . 3. 4 4

Loss severity % 35 40 37
Price $ — 189 | 73
Long-dated equity | % - 45 —_
volatilities '

Equities Discounted | Yield % — 20 10 48 —_
cashflow, | prepayment speed | % 10 |20 |16 :
comparables '

nparabl Defauit rates % 3. 4 4
Loss severities % 35 40 |37
Long-dated equiity { % — 186 |73
volatilities : _
» Price. $ — |46 | — '

Interest Rate Ingiu(sj‘tr;& ‘ Correlation (IRIR) | % (1) [9%0 |34 17 (13)

Dervalves  Semvatve | Comelation GXIR)| % | (1) |58 |8
pricing Long-dated % (10) .11 14

’ inflation rates: ‘ '
Long-dated % — 2 1
inflation volatilities
"~ Credit_ Discounted | Creditspreads | Paints | 7 | 155 | 62 1
derivatives |cashflow, | Upfrontpoints | Points | 16 | 100 | 68
. recove , . -,
correlation Prepayment speed | % 15 15 —_
model- .
Default rate % 2 2 —
Credit comrelation | % 20 |60 55
Price $ — 122 |66
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

The tables :above. provide Information on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs arid their '
ranges for each major category of assets and liabilittes measured at fair value on a recurming basis. with a
significant Level 3 balarice. '

The level of aggregation and breadth of products cause the range of inputs to be wide and not evenly.
distributed across the inventory. Further, the range .of ungbservable inputs may differ across firms in the
financial services industry because of diversity in the types of products included in each firm's inventory. The
ranges:calculated are at a BAC Group level. The Company is within or at those ranges.

The Company uses multiple market approaches in valuing certain of its Level 3 financial instruments. For
example, market comparables and discounted cash flows are used together. For a given product, such as
corporate debt securities, market comparables may be used to estimate some of the unobservable inputs-and
then these inputs are incorporated into a discounted cash flow model. Therefore, the balances disclosed’
encompass both of these. techniques.

Loans and securities ' {

For instruments backed by residential real estate assets, commercial real estdte assets and commercial loans,
debt securities and other, a significant increase in market yields, default rates, loss severities or. duration wotild
result in a significantly lower fair value for long positions. Short positions would be impacted in a directionally
opposite way. The impact of changes in prepayment speeds. would have differing impacts depending on the
seniority of the instrument .and, in the case of collateralised loan obligations, whether prepayments can be
reinvested. ‘ . :

For instruments backed by commercial real estate assets, a significant increase in real estate asset price
would result in a significantly higher fair value for long positions, and. short positions would be impacted in a
directionally opposite way. - ‘ .

Derivative assets and liabilities

'For credit derivatives, a significant increase in market yield, upfront points (i.e.. a single upfront payment made
by a protection buyer at inception), credit spreads, default rates or loss severities would result in a significantly
lower fair value for protection sellers and higher fair value for protection buyers. The impact of changes in

prepayment speeds would have differing impacts depending on the seniority of the instrument.

For interest rate derivatives a significant change in long-dated rates and volatilities and correlation inputs (e.g.,
the degree of correlation between an equity security and an index, between two different commodities,
between two different interest rates, or between interest rates and foreign exchange rates) would. result in a
significant impact to the fair value; however, the magnitude and direction of the impact depends on whether
the Company is long or short the exposure.

iii) Sensitivity analysis of unobservable 'inp.ufs

Where the value of financial instruments is dependent on unobservable inputs, the precise level for these
parameters :at the reporting date might be drawn from 'a spectrum of reasonably possible alternatives.
Appropriate levels for these inputs are chosen so that they are consistent with prevailing market evidence and
in line with the Company’s valuation control palicies. Were the Company to have valued the financial
instruments concemed using input values drawn from the extremes of the ranges of reasonable possible
altemnatives-then -as at the year end, it could have increased fair value by as much as $204 million (2021: $90
million) or -decreased fair value by as much as $255 million (2021: $114 million) with the potential effect
impacting the income statement rather than reserves.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

/ . :
44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

This disclosure is intended to illustrate the potential impact of the relative uncertainty in the fair value of
financial instruments for which valuation is dependent on unobservable ‘inputs and is not predictive or
indicative of future movements in fair value. Furthiermore, it is unlikely in practice. that all unobservable
parameters would be simultaneously at the extremes-of their ranges of reasonable possible alternatives.

d) Day one profit.l (loss) .
Below is the amiount that has yet to be recognised in the income statemenit relating to the difference. between.
the fair value at recognition’ (being the transaction price)-and the amount that would have arisen had valuation
techniques used for subsequent measurement been applied at initial recognition, less any subsequent
releases. The breakdownis as follows: ' N

2022 2021
$M - M
At 1 January o ' 6 15 .
Day one profit on new trades not recognised in income statement ‘ — _ —
Settlemerits/disposals , : _ ) M (9)
At 31 December 5 6
N N e ———

e) Financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost

The below summarises the fair value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities which .are carried ét
amortised cost. :

Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are classified as level 2 and” the carrying
amount is deemed a reasonable ‘approximation of fair value, given the short-term nature -of the majority of

these instruments.

Loans and-advances to banks and customers held at amortised cost are classified as level 2 atid have a fair
value of $33,524 million (2021: $33,282 million).

The fair value of subordinated liabilities and other long-term funding is determined by reference to quoted
market prices where available or by reference. to quoted market prices of similar instruments. Subordinated
liabilities and other long-term funding are classified as level 2: and have a fair value of $4,021 million (2021:.
$3,915 million). All other debtors and creditors in the staternent of financial ‘position are classified as level 2.
Thecarrying amounts are a reasonable.approximation-of their fair value, due to the short-term nature of these
instruments. . '

f
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

46. -

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ‘
As detailed in note .1-.'3;,'the Company has elected to take advantage of the éxemption available under FRS

101 for the requirements in IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered
into between'two or more -wholly owned members of a group. :

Management: consider key‘ management personnel to be represented by the Board of directors of the:
Conmipany. Details of the-remiuneration of the directors are included in note 12.

CONTROLLING PARTY - o
The Cb_mpany'_s immediate parent company is BANA, a company incorporated in Delaware. The: Company's

ultimate parent company and controlling party is BAC, a company organised and existing under the.laws of
the State of Delaware in the United States of America. ‘ .

The parent company of the largest and smallest group irito which the Company's financial statements are

prepared is BAC. Copies of BAC's consolidated financial statements can be obtained from either of the
following website locations: http:/finvestor.bankofamerica.com.or www.sec.gov/. .
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